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Five Year Financial Summary

IFEMBHE

For the year ended 31 Decemb
BEF-H=+—HIL&EE

er

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
CE-NE CEUE DECTE T R e
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TEIT T 3%t T30 e F*5
OPERATING RESULTS FEE-
Revenue A 6,470 7,153 3,876 5,723 8,551
Gross profit EF 2,455 2,774 602 1,508 2,462
Finance costs BT A (4,102) (5,482) (5,625) (5,134) (2,402)
Profit (loss) before tax W B i s A (s 18 22,751 (31,750) (133,192) (37,971) (29,510)
Income tax expense Jir 45 B ¢ = (117) = = (17)
Profit (loss) for the year AR (R 22,751 (31,867) (133,192) (37,971) (29,527)
(Restated)
(HE4)
Earnings (loss) per share WA (EiR)
(in US cents) (34b) 18.75 (17.36) (52.75) (10.38) 2.3)
O
O
As at 31 December
R+=H=+—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
TR -NE ZE-NE ZFEFTHE FCF et
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
T%RIT T %7t T%£I0 50 F*5%
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ i il 1 %
Non-current assets I i Bh 332,690 306,760 180,090 128,400 104,908
Current assets g E 13,042 9,303 5,519 7,476 9,913
Total assets F A 345,732 316,063 185,609 135,876 114,821
Convertible notes A 4 R B R (51,668) (47,773) (53,373) (35,593) (13,684)
Other liabilities HAth & & (8,231) (17,723) (8,611) (6,605) (4,123)
Total liabilities =gk (59,899) (65,496) (61,984) (42,198) (17,807)
Net assets 32903 285,833 250,567 123,625 93,678 97,014
Equity attributable to owners E/NEIE! 2SN
of the Company JE 5 HE £ 259,356 227,553 106,103 78,690 83,581
Non-controlling interests I FE 1 HE i 26,477 23,014 17,522 14,988 13,433
Total equity HE 25 B4 285,833 250,567 123,625 93,678 97,014
O
Note: The annual results for the four years ended 31 December 2021, and the fisr: LE_F_-_—F+_A=+—HI1MHN

fHAF B SEA DL R =R — > &
—NF R CEFERE T A
=T HWEE K& BT A AR
5 5 11 4F ik

assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 have
been extracted from the Company’s respective years’ annual reports.

4 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Dear Shareholders:

I present, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Silkwave Inc (the “Company”), the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

Although much of the Year 2022 was shrouded in the challenging Covid
pandemic environment, the Company has steadily been improving its
financial results. We have improved our result from existing operations,
and brought new revenues from new Artificial Intelligence business.
Our multiple business development activities across multimedia and
satellite venture continues to take shape and continue to reduce our
asset impairment. Overall, the Company has narrowed our loss from
approximately USD38.0 million in 2021 Financial Year to approximately
USD29.5 million in 2022. The continuing improving trending highlights
the steadfastness of the Company in continuing to re-vitalize the
company.

The Company will continue its strife in all areas and is confident it
will be able to improve all its key metrics and render the Company in a
healthy and better situation with much more exciting business prospect in

the coming year.

The Company would like to express its appreciation to our staff for our
achievements to date. The board of the Company wishes to extend its
gratitude to the continuous support from its shareholders, customers, and
business partners. We will continue to charge ahead in 2023 to create

greater value for our shareholders and stakeholders.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
TEREE

The Company would like to express its appreciation to our staff for our %z 4 HUAg st » A8 A "l B &M K & TR R
achievements to date. The board of the Company wishes to extend its H LB iffe KA T EF GE BRI - FEF
gratitude to the continuous support from its shareholders, customers, and 5 M 3£ T £ 1) 55 48 =2 150 26 7 S Al o R A1) 5f% 72
business partners. We will continue to charge ahead in 2023 to create  — 2% — — 4 48 [n) Fir 78 36 > 2 FRAM 0 B R &

greater value for our shareholders and stakeholders. T 5 Al B K AR (E -
WONG Chau Chi FIEAHATEF

Chairman and Executive Director WA

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023 Hl —EF _=4=HA=+H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst its
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of Convergent Mobile
Multimedia Broadcasting (“CMMB”), satellite infotainment multimedia
technology and services (the “Infotainment™) for vehicles and maritime
applications, and trading of printed circuit board (“PCB”) and Artificial
Intelligence (“AI”) related products.

CMMB Business

The Group’s LPTV portfolio offer a variety of programming, including
local news, sports, and community events, as well as syndicated content
from larger networks. The goal of providing valuable programming to
viewers and serving local communities in the US. The LPTV market has
been undergoing significant changes in recent years due to various factors
such as the digital switchover, the emergence of new technologies, and
changes in regulatory policies. The Group had been working closely with
local content providers and other broadcasters. As there were switch
between how viewers view content from traditional TV-set to smartphone,
it require digital TV programmer to include more interactive content for
viewers to enhance to overall viewing experience. The Group believes
high quality digital content will able to attracts and retain viewer for the
TV market. Overall, the Group will remain optimistic of its presence in
the US TV market and to seek to work with other broadcasters, partners
to remain competitive in the ever-changing TV entertainment market.

Infotainment

The Company has been developing satellite based in-vehicle infotainment
business with its associate company Silkwave Holdings, which is the
main service operator with a full-fledged satellite and technology
platform. While the Company only owns 20% in Silkwave, it is the
major strategic and value-added service provider to Silkwave. The
Silkwave infotainment business is an extension of the Company’s CMMB
technology extended to the sky leveraged on the ubiquitous delivery
power of the mobile broadcasting satellite. The business has completed
its infrastructure development and is in the stage of various trials to
satisfy regulatory requirements so as to qualify for government approvals
for commercial service launch. The pandemic outbreak has created
disruption on the process, especially on liaising and coordinating with
different government and regulatory agencies. Nevertheless, the prospect
of the business remains to be very robust. The Chinese government in its
14th Five-Year Plan has made a big push to develop autonomous driving
and new energy cars and mandated them to reach 50% penetration of
the auto market by 2035. Data connectivity is the life-blood for smart-
driving, and satellite Internet has been incorporated as part of China’s
New Infrastructure to drive the development of connected-car services.
The Company’s Silkwave setup is seen as the main pillar supporting
a nationwide connected-car. With the new market momentum and
government initiatives the Company is confident it will eventually attain
its regulatory credentials for service operation in the near future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T

B EE R

To further explore opportunity, the Company has also undertaken efforts
to deploy the service in ASEAN, targeting a combination of vehicles,
ships, and remote mobile access. ASEAN has about 700 million in
population and significant portion has no fast and reliable Internet access
and satellite is seen as the most effective solution to leapfrog digital
transformation. It projects 100 million middle-high income population by
2030, and development of a smart-driving economy is a top government
priority. The Company is currently putting in place joint ventures in
Malaysia, Indonesia to spearhead regional infotainment development. It

is planning pilot service in Malaysia within coming year.

Trading Business

The Trading business has grown steadily in 2022, with diversifying our
PCB trading business with more sophisticated technology component
used in Al application. We have seen positive impact in our trading
operation. As technology continuously evolving, and market are
welcome to incorporate Al related hardware and technology to enhance
the operation flow. It also allow us to position and has presence in the
Al component while the government and commercial sector starting to
deploy Al application such as video analytics, AIoT which allow the user
to get the benefit of collecting big-data and translate it into meaningful
operation statistic and eventually improve operation result.

Fully Exempt Connected Transaction in relation to the Acquisition of
Asiastar

On 29 March 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Chi
Capital Holdings Ltd (“CCH” or the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the
Company agreed to acquire and the Vendor agreed to sell a complete
geostationary satellite system operating over Asia for the consideration of
HK$1.00 (the “Acquisition of Asiastar”).

As at the date of the agreement in relation to the Acquisition of Asiastar,
the Vendor is wholly owned by Mr. WONG Chau Chi (“Mr. Wong”) (an
executive director of the Company), and owns approximately 74.64%
of the issued shares of the Company. Hence, the Vendor is a connected
person of the Company pursuant to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Acquisition of Asiastar shall

therefore constitute connected transactions for the Company.

As all of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing
Rules) in respect of the Acquisition of Asiastar in aggregate are less than
5% and the total consideration is less than HK$3,000,000, the Acquisition
of Asiastar is fully exempted from the reporting, announcement, circular
and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapters 14 and 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2022
for details of the Acquisition of Asiastar.

Discloseable Transaction and Exempted Connected Transaction -
Acquisition of 51% interest in the Target Company

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement
(the “Acquisition Agreement”) with the Vendor, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to acquire and the Vendor agreed to sell 51% interest in
International IT Hub Limited (the “Target Company” or “IITH”) for the
consideration of HK$1.00 (the “Acquisition of IITTH”).

The Target Company is a Hong Kong based Al and big-data Internet-of-
Things (“IoT”) hardware and software solutions provider with operations
in Hong Kong and China. It has advanced competence in areas such as
Al-based video analytics, facial recognition and license plate recognition

as well as IoT solutions.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the Acquisition
of IITH is more than 5% but is less than 25%, the Acquisition of IITH
constitutes a discloseable transaction of the Company under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules and is subject to the notification and announcement

requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of the Acquisition Agreement, CCH is the controlling
shareholder of the Company and hence a connected person of the
Company. Therefore, the Acquisition of IITH also constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
the transactions contemplated under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios for the Acquisition of IITH
are less than 25% and the total consideration is less than HK$10,000,000,
the Acquisition of IITH is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the circular, independent financial
advice and Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 27 May 2022
and 4 July 2022 for details of the Acquisition of IITH.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EBEH B LD

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded loss for the
year of approximately US$29.5 million (2021: approximately US$38.0
million). Loss per share of the Company (the “Share”) was approximately
US2.3 cents (2021:
share of the Group was approximately US$0.06 (2021:

US$0.20).

approximately US10.38 cents) and net assets per
approximately

Revenue

For the Year, the Group is engaged in the provision of transmitting and
broadcasting television programs, trading of PCB materials and Al
related products with a revenue of approximately US$8.6 million (2021:
approximately US$5.7 million). The increase in revenue of approximately
US$2.9 million was mainly due to the increase in trading of PCB and Al
materials by approximately US$2.8 million.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales mainly includes costs of goods sold, staff costs and
operating lease payments. The increase in cost of sales of approximately
US$1.9 million was due to an increase in direct costs and costs of sales

for the Year.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased from approximately US$1.5 million in 2021 to
approximately US$2.5 million in 2022, which arose primarily from
higher broadcasting service income.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased from approximately US$1.8 million
in 2021 to approximately US$3.5 million for the Year, mainly due to
increased in share-based payment compared to previous year.

Market development and promotion expenses

Market development and promotion expenses has increased as
compared to 2021, which include consultancy services fees for business
development, travelling expenses for attending business conferences
and meetings as well as research and development costs. The increase is
driven by operation gradually resume normal in 2022 after the pandemic
hit hard in 2021 across the globe.

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
US$2.4 million (2021: approximately US$5.1 million) which mainly
represented effective interest expense on convertible notes. The Group
did not bear any bank and other borrowings during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss

Management evaluated the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) by way of objective evidence, including
but not limited to business forecasts and project timelines, etc. Changes
in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL has been recorded through

the consolidated profit or loss statement for the Year.

Share of results of an associate

The Company shared a loss of approximately US$20.3 million (2021:
approximately US$44.3 million) for its 20% interest in Silkwave
Holdings Limited (“Silkwave”) which is primarily due to the delay of
regulatory approval for Silkwave group to deploy commercial services in
China and prolonged fund-raising for constructing new satellite for mass-

market commercial rollout due to COVID-19.

Silkwave has been developing satellite connected-car multimedia
business in China which will be supported by its AsiaStar satellite assets
such as frequency spectrum and orbital slot. Over the years Silkwave
has completed its network infrastructure, technology, and ecosystem
platform and has been conducting trial services throughout China. It has
been awaiting regulatory approvals from various government agencies to
launch its commercial services, which in turn will allow the Company
to start generating revenues. Due to numerous government delays,
and amidst the prolonged COVID-19 impact, the expected regulatory
approvals have not yet arrived, and Silkwave cannot commence

commercial services.

As there are increasing recognition of satellite service and application
in the market, With the Covid situation finally came under control and
China reopen the border in the early 2023 after three years of lockdown,
the Company will continue to work on regulatory approval and

commercial service roll-out for the PRC as well as other ASEAN market.

Accordingly, the management has assessed and revised its commercial
operations and the expected cashflow and revenue streams associated
with the business due to the delay in the regulatory and high-power
satellite procurement, hence reduction in the valuation of the Silkwave

assets is resulted.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T

BT

The impairment loss of intangible assets

The impairment loss recognised on intangible assets for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately US$3.6 million (2021:
approximately US$5.1 million) as management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of the cash
generating units arising from intangible assets by reference to a value-in-
use (“VIU”) calculation, which has been consistently applied in previous

year.

Due to increasing challenge in the LPTV market as technology advances,
LPTV operators face competition from a range of other media, including
traditional broadcasters, streaming services, and social media platforms.
The Group had managed to keep pace with the changes in broadcasting
and distribution methods, but had to account for potential change in
the broadcasting landscape for the LPTV market in the US. A more
conservative approach was carried out on the future market expansion
and revenue streams associated with the business, therefore reduction in
valuation lead to make the necessary impairment of its LPTV assets.

Despite increasing challenge in the LPTV market, the Group remain
positive to continue its presence and will focus on content diversification
and collaborate with new content providers to navigate through the

challenge and position ourselves for long-term success.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total equity attributable to the owners of the Company increased to
approximately US$83.6 million as at 31 December 2022 as compared
with approximately US$78.7 million in 2021 which was mainly derived
from reducing the convertible notes liability into equities by the note
holder during the Year. During the Year, net proceeds of approximately
US$4.2 million was raised by issue of new Shares pursuant of the
exercise of share options and approximately US$4.5 million was raised
by the Subscription of new Shares which was completed on 8 August
2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Current assets amounted to approximately US$9.9 million (2021:
approximately US$7.5 million) comprising bank balances and cash of
approximately US$1.7 million (2021: approximately US$1.0 million),
trade and other receivables of approximately US$2.3 million (2021:
approximately US$1.6 million), amount due from a related company of
approximately US$4.5 million (2021: approximately US$3.9 million),
and amount due from an associate of approximately US$1.3 million
(2021: approximately US$1.0 million).

Current liabilities amounted to approximately US$3.8 million (2021:
approximately US$6.6 million) representing trade and other payables of
approximately US$3.2 million (2021: approximately US$6.0 million),
amounts due to shareholders was nil (2021: approximately US$0.2
million), lease liabilities of approximately US$0.3 million (2021:
approximately US$26,000) and tax payable of approximately US$0.4
million (2021: approximately US$0.3 million). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.58 (2021:

1.13).

approximately

On 27 July 2022, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with the subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate 87,728,000 new
shares of the Company for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$35.1 million at the subscription price of HK$0.40 per subscription
share. The subscription was completed on 8 August 2022. The intent
of the proceeds was repayment of advance from shareholders and to
strengthen the general working capital of the Company.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2022 were
mainly denominated in United States Dollars, Hong Kong Dollars and

Renminbi.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a treasury policy that aims to better control its treasury
operations and lower its borrowing cost. As such, the Group endeavours
to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to address
short-term funding needs. The Board also considers various funding
sources depending on the Group’s needs to ensure that the financial
resources have been used in the most cost-effective and efficient way
to meet the Group’s financial obligations. The deposits of the Group at
various licensed banks have been and will continue to be conducted in
accordance with the Group’s treasury policy. The Board reviews and
evaluates the Group’s treasury policy from time to time to ensure its
adequacy and effectiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B R E kT

INDEBTEDNESS

Convertible notes of the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately US$13.7 million (2021: approximately US$35.6 million).
The gearing ratio (a ratio of total loans to total assets) was approximately
11.9% (2021: approximately 26.2%), reflecting the Group’s financial
position was at a optimal level. Other than convertible notes, the Group
did not have any bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, neither the Group nor the Company has any
significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2022, the Group and the Company did not have any

significant capital commitments (2021: Nil).

PLEDGE OF/CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, neither the Group nor the Company has
pledged or charged its assets to secure its borrowings (2021: Nil).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not enter into any material off-
balance sheet transactions (2021: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

Most of the assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group are
denominated in United States dollars. The management of the Group
considers that foreign exchange risk does not have significant impact to
the Group, therefore, the Group did not make any hedging arrangement
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The average number of employees of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately 22 (2021: approximately 23). The
Group’s staff costs (including Directors’ fees and emoluments) for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately US$2.8
million (2021:
competitive remuneration package to retain elite employees, including

approximately US$1.2 million). The Group offers a

salaries, medical insurance, discretionary bonuses, other fringe benefits as
well as mandatory provident fund scheme for employees in Hong Kong.
The remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed annually and is in line
with the prevailing market practice. Share options would be granted to
respective employees with outstanding performance and contributions to

the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, there were no significant investments held,
nor were there any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group is actively exploring other business opportunities and
diversify its revenue stream and bring better return to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders™).

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors currently do not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets. The Directors will
continue to monitor the industry and review its business expansion plans
regularly, so as to take necessary measures in the Group’s best interests.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Apart from those disclosed herein, there were no significant event after

the Year and up to the date of this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE I RA

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 27 July 2022, the Company has entered into subscription agreements
(the
(the
of the Company holding an aggregate of approximately 5.17% of

“Subscription Agreements”) with not less than six Subscribers

“Subscribers™) (of which some of them are existing shareholders

issued Shares as at the date of the Subscription Agreements), who are
individuals, institutional or other professional investors, and who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners (if any) are third parties independent
of the Company and its connected persons, for the subscription of an
aggregate 87,728,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each in the share
capital of the Company (the “Subscription Shares”) for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$35,091,200 at the subscription
price (the “Subscription Price”) of HK$0.40 per Subscription Share (the
“Subscription”).

The Subscription Price represents: (a) a premium of approximately
14.29% on the closing price of HK$0.35 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 27 July 2022 at 4:00 p.m., being the date of the
Subscription Agreements; and (b) a premium of approximately 3.63% on
an average closing price of approximately HK$0.386 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five full trading days of the Shares

immediately prior to the date of the Subscription Agreements.

The net proceeds from the Subscription received by the Company
upon completion of the Subscription amounted to approximately
HK$34,891,200 after deducting professional fees and all related expenses.
On this basis, the net issue price per Subscription Share is approximately
HK$0.398 per Share.

In view of the market conditions, the Directors considered the
Subscription as a good opportunity to strengthen the financial position
and general working capital of the Company.

The Subscription was completed on 8 August 2022. For details please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27 July 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The intended and actual use of proceeds from the Subscription up to the
date of this report is set out as follows:

O

7T

EREN

HEA RS F W 580 2 18 P 45 20 19 8 €
REBEREEIIWT

Use of proceeds from the Subscription 2 I = JE P 15 5k 16 Fl i@
Repayment of advance from shareholders &% i H# 2K

Strengthen the general working capital

O

Intended use of net Utilised net proceeds

proceeds from the  from Placing up to the

Subscription date of this report
B I 1 HEAH G H B
K JE 15 A . B e A
e € & It Ak JE ¥ A

HK$34,791,200
34,791,200% JC
HK$100,000
100,000 7T

HK$34,791,200
34,791,200% JC
HK$100,000
100,000 7T

As at 31 December 2022, all of the proceeds raised from the Subscription
has been fully utilized.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, (i) 83,044,200 new Shares were issued pursuant to the
exercise of share options under the share option scheme of the Company;
(i1) 87,728,000 new Shares were issued pursuant to the Subscription;
and (iii) 891,714,258 new Shares were issued pursuant to the exercise
of the conversion rights attached to the convertible notes issued by the
Company.

Save as disclosed herein, during the Year, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the eligibility of shareholders to attend the Annual
General Meeting, which will be held on 30 May 2023, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 24 May 2023 to 30 May
2023, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be
registered. All transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration at no later than 4:30 p.m. on 23
May 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T

B EE R

PROSPECTS

Trading of PCB and AI related products

With the acquisition of IITH, the Al/Big-data solution company which
develops integrated hardware and software of smart-electronic products
and components, the Company expects to see the upgrading of PCB
trading to smart electronic components trading as well as expanding
the revenue sources of the Group with the incorporation of Al trading
business as the Group see great potential in the demand of Al application
and related devices. The Group will leverage its own industry knowledge,
closely monitor the market development and integrate the trading
business accordingly.

CMMB/LPTYV Business

Our CMMB business remains steady and positive, with the overall digital
TV market continues to evolve and adapt to new technologies, from
analog to digital broadcasting, The digital transition has enabled LPTV
stations to provide higher-quality programming and to reach a wider
audience. The Group aims to ensure a smooth and successful transition,
including equipment upgrades, staff training and technical experts to
assist with the transition. We also communicate with content providers
to consider the impact of digital broadcasting on their programming and
content. Digital broadcasting enables high-definition programming and
interactive features, and explore ways to leverage these capabilities to
provide engaging and compelling content to viewers. Finally, we also
promote our digital broadcasting capabilities to our partners. Effective
marketing and promotion can help to build awareness and excitement
around the transition to digital broadcasting, and can help to drive
viewership and engagement.

Satellite Connected-Car Multimedia Service Development

ASEAN expansion: Three years of Covid have largely halted the
Company’s satellite multimedia development effort in China and
elsewhere in the Asia-Pacific region. Nevertheless, with the opening up
of the economies toward the end of last year, the Company wasted no
time to mount its development effort again by honing in major business
ventures across the ASEAN region. Most notably, the Company has
entered into agreement to develop and provide satellite-WiFi last-mile
connectivity and multimedia services to remote villages in Indonesia and
the Philippines in last December 2022 and January 2023 respectively,
which will allow the Company to leverage on its satellite platform and
technology to provide integrated satellite-enabled broadband and digital
services to tens of thousands of remote villages and island communities
in these countries. ASEAN has about 700 million in population and
nearly half has no Internet access due to extreme geographical challenges,
especially in Indonesia and the Philippines. The Company’s satellite
technology solution is seen as highly effective solution and the ventures
entered are expected to quickly open up new market and generate new
revenues in scale and scope. If successful, the Company will effectively
be develop akin to a “satellite mobile Netflix” for ASEAN.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Satellite-to-vehicle infotainment: The Company also speed up its
business activities in China toward the end of 2022 aimed at revamping
development and operation. With most Covid constraints removed
China’s business activities have returned to normal, and the Company is
embarking on a series of business development activities to reconnect
with the auto ecosystem and government regulatory bodies in China
to speed up its commercial deployment of satellite-to-vehicle (S2V)
infotainment services this year. With 300 million cars on the road and
30 million news cars entering every years in China, the connected-car
infotainment business remains to be the Company’s most promising
prospect.

Satellite-to-device multimedia: Toward the end of 2022 also saw a market
trend of integrating satellite service into mobile phones as the mobile
industry is chartering into the 6G era and making coming 6G value-added
feature and create the satellite-to-device service as a 6G value-added
feature. The Company’s L-band satellite mobile multimedia capability
is seen as the most unique and readily available service platform to
be integrated into the next-generation mobile handsets. As such, it has
become a front-runner in the industry for providing satellite integrated
smartphone for providing infotainment with unrivalled advantages such as
rich multimedia content, ubiquitous coverage, and data-charge-free. Since
late 2022, the Company has been working with leading global industry
players for such development. The scalability and proliferation and of
the satellite-to-device development can far outweigh that of vehicles and
give the Company another potentially huge business franchise in mobile
handset industry after the car industry.

The above development attests to the Company’s satellite assets,
technologies and business vision. The Company is optimistic that in 2023
certain of its activities will bear fruition.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERENREIEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board consisted of 8 directors
comprising 1 executive Director, 4 non-executive Directors and 3
independent non-executive Directors. The information on the Directors is

set forth below.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (“Mr. Wong”), aged 58, was appointed as
an executive Director in May 2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief
executive of the Group, the chairman of the Board and the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has extensive
experiences in finance, technology and industrial management, working
for a variety of companies including Goldman Sachs, Citibank, and BNP
Paribas, and McKinsey, and General Electric. Mr. Wong graduated from
the Pomona College in the US with a BA in Economics and International
Relations, from the Harvard Kennedy School of Government with an
MPP, and matriculated by the St. Antony’s College, Oxford reading
Political History. Mr. Wong did not hold any position nor directorship in

other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIU Hui (“Dr. Liu”), aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in November 2009, re-designated to an executive Director in
May 2011 and further re-designated to a non-executive Director in April
2021. Dr. Liu is currently the chief technology officer of the Group and
the vice-chairman of the Board. Dr. Liu is one of the world’s leading
telecommunications engineers and inventors. He was the primary inventor
of over 70 granted or pending telecommunications patents, including
more than twenty patents in the core OFDMA technology that underlies
LTE, Mobile WIMAX and CMMB. He architected CMMB, which had
its inaugural launch at the 2008 Beijing Olympics and is now being
used in 330 cities in the PRC. As an international renowned telecom
expert, he is also one of the original designers of TD-SCDMA (one of
the ITU 3G standards) and a pioneer of OFDMA mobile networks. Dr.
Liu holds a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical engineering from
the Fudan University and a PhD degree from the University of Texas in
Austin. He was a full professor/vice-chair at the Department of Electrical
Engineering of the University of Washington, and then the associate dean
at the School of Electronic Information and Electrical Engineering of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. His research interests include broadband
mobile networks, satellite communications, vehicular and IoT networks,
and machine learning. He has received a number of awards, including a
Fellow of IEEE (Communications Society), the 1997 National Science
Foundation CAREER Award, the ONR Young Investigator Award, and
the Gold Prize Patent award for his contributions on the TD-SCDMA
technology. Dr. Liu is representing the Company as a key member in the
ITU-T Focus Group on vehicular multimedia, which was established for
vehicular multimedia services and infotainment applications based on
space and terrestrial networks integration. He is a director of Silkwave
Holdings Limited. Dr. Liu did not hold any position nor directorship in

other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERENREIEE

Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung (“Mr. Chou”), aged 80, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in June 2005 and was subsequently
re-appointed as a non-executive director in September 2005. Mr. Chou
is currently a member of each of the audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Chou graduated with a Bachelor of Law
degree from the National Chengchi University and is a member of the
Taipei Bar Association. Mr. Chou is currently a practicing lawyer with
the Best Truth Law Firm in Taiwan. Mr. Chou previously worked in the
Legal Affairs Office of the Central Trust of China. Mr. Chou did not
hold any position nor directorship in other listed companies in the three
preceding years.

Mr. YANG Yi (“Mr. Yang”), aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive
director in February 2007. Mr. Yang first graduated from the Beijing
University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in International Politics in
1987 and was awarded a scholarship of Japanese Education Ministry,
to attend Tokyo University in the same year. In 1991, Mr. Yang was
awarded a Master of Arts degree in Law & Diplomacy by the Fletcher
School of Law and Diplomacy, which was jointly administrated by the
Tufts University and Harvard University. Mr. Yang has over 28 years of
experience in finance and management. The major appointments and
positions previously assumed by Mr. Yang include being a financial
analyst at the fixed income division of J.P. Morgan Securities (Tokyo), a
vice-president of Fixed Income Sales at Goldman Sachs LLP (New York),
a managing director of A.T. Kearney Management Consultancy (Hong
Kong). At present, Mr. Yang is the director and founder of G Bridge
Limited, a Hong Kong based financial advisory firm. Mr. Yang did not
hold any position nor directorship in other listed companies in the three
preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lui Chun Pong (“Mr. Lui”), aged 54, obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Hong Kong, a Master of Laws degree from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Accountancy degree
from Charles Sturt University in Australia and an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. He is also an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Lui has over 30 years of experience in finance and property industry.
Mr. Lui held senior positions at a number of Hong Kong companies
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Lui currently is a non-executive director of
China Ocean Group Development Limited (stock code: 8047), listed on
the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lui also serves the community through his participation in promoting
sports and youth and student’s affairs in Hong Kong. Mr. Lui is a director
of Hong Kong Baseball Association and a member of Student Affairs
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Lui was a director of Hong Kong United Youth Association in
2014/2015 and a member of the Budget Proposal 2017-18 Subcommittee
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Lui did not hold any position nor
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERENREIEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LI Jun (“Dr. Li”), aged 61, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in June 2007 and re-designated to an independent non-
executive director in May 2011. Dr. Li is currently the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company and a member of each of the
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Li
obtained a doctorate degree for philosophy in political economy from the
Oxford University in the United Kingdom. He was a senior manager and
a director for a number of securities and investment companies in Hong
Kong and had extensive experience in international financial markets.
Dr. Li is an independent non-executive director in Hengxin Technology
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Save as aforesaid, Dr. Li did not hold any position nor directorship in
other listed companies in the three preceding years.

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing (“Mr. Chow”), aged 41, he holds a Bachelor
degree in Accounting and Finance from the Queensland University of
Technology, Australia. Mr. Chow is currently the chairman of each of the
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Chow is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He has more than 15 years of experience
in financial management, auditing and accounting in an international
accounting firm and a listed company in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow was an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Finance Investment
Holding Group Limited (stock code: 7), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange during the period from May 2020 to
October 2020. Save as aforesaid, Mr. Chow did not hold any directorship

in other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. TAM Hon Wah (“Mr. Tam”), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September 2021. Mr. Tam
is currently a member of each of the audit committee, nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Tam is the
managing director of A.l. International Limited and Chief Technology
Officer of PR1 Media Limited. Mr. Tam holds a Master’s degree in
Information Systems Management from University of Greenwich in
United Kingdom, and obtained Diploma in Business Strategy and
Information Technology from National Computer Center, United
Kingdom in 2009. Mr. Tam also holds a number of other public and
community service positions. Mr. Tam is a board member of the
Indonesia Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong, a committee member
of Wan Chai West Area Committee of Home Affairs Department, and the
vice-chairman of Friends of The Community Chest Wan Chai District
Committee. Mr. Tam was also a committee member of the Television and
Radio Consultative Group of the Office of the Communications Authority
from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Tam was awarded the Most outstanding Chapter
President award of Junior Chamber International (ASPAC) in 2006 and
the Most outstanding Chapter President of Junior Chamber International
(Hong Kong) in 2005. Mr. Tam was also awarded the Secretary for
Home Affairs Commendation award in 2012. Mr. Tam did not hold any

directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LI Qun (“Ms. Li”) is a managing director of our China business
operation. Ms. Li has over 20 years of experience in CMMB/DTH chipset
design and CMMB network system integration. She was the co-founder
of Telepath Technologies Co., Ltd. and the chief operating officer for
TiMi Technologies Co., Ltd., a company formed by the Chinese Academy
of Broadcasting Science at National Radio and Television Administration
(“NRTA”). She holds a bachelor’s degree in Science from the Shanghai
Jiao Tong University and a master degree in Science from the Tsinghua

University.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERRES

The directors recognise the importance of incorporating good corporate
governance in the management structures and internal control procedures
of the Group to promote effective accountability and deliver maximum

benefits to the shareholders.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in a
proper and prudent manner.

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the Company is
central to safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and enhancing
the performance of the Group. The Board is committed to maintaining
and ensuring high standards of corporate governance. The Company
has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022

except:

The Company has been deviated from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code, as the roles of chairman and chief executive of the Company were
not separate. With effect on 19 May 2008, Mr. Wong was re-designated
as the chairman while also serving as the chief executive of the Company.
According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of a
chairman and a chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Given Mr. Wong has had extensive
experience in the business of the Group and has performed satisfactorily
since his joining of the Company in 2007, particularly in soliciting new
possible business opportunities and deducing the overall strategic plan for
the future development of the Company, the Board considers that it would
be beneficial for the Group if Mr. Wong is also in charge of overseeing
the Company’s operations as the chairman. The Board considers that this
structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management of the Group. The Board will regularly
review the effectiveness of this arrangement.
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Corporate Governance Report

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a revised code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standards under the revised Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2022 and all the Directors confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct throughout the year ended 31 December
2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the business of the issuer to ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. The Company is committed
to the view that the Board should maintain a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that the Board has a strong independence element
which steers its judgments to be made independently and objectively. The
Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Mr. YANG Yi

Mr. LUI Chun Pong et

Independent Non-executive Dr. LI Jun

Directors Mr. CHOW Kin Wing
Mr. TAM Hon Wah
Note: Mr. LUI Chun Pong was appointed as a non-executive Director on 28

February 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board was comprised of one executive
Director (who is also the chairman of the Company) and seven non-
executive Directors. Of the seven non-executive Directors, three of them
are independent non-executive Directors which represent more than one-
third of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and
the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. The non-
executive Directors bring a wide range of expertise and a balance of
skills to allow independent assessments be made on issues of strategic
direction, development, performance and risk management through their

contribution at the Board and committee meetings.

The independent non-executive Directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director as independent in character and judgment, and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules regarding the guidelines for the assessment
of independence of Directors respectively. The Company believes that
all independent non-executive Directors have been complied with the
relevant guidelines as stipulated in such rule and are still considered
as independent. The independent non-executive Directors are explicitly

identified in all corporate communications.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal

The Company has implemented a set of formal, prudent and transparent
procedures for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. The
Company has also put in-place plans for the orderly succession of the
Board. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible
for re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association provided that every Director shall be retired at
least once every three years. The Board must explain the reasons for the

resignation, re-election or removal of any Director.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other

material or relevant relationships) among the members of the Board.

Responsibilities of Directors

Every Director is aware that he should devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company.

The Directors are kept informed from time to time on the latest
development of any changes to the regulatory requirements and the
progress of compliance with applicable rules and regulations by the
Company. The Directors of the Company are also updated from time-
to-time on the latest business developments and operational plans of the
Company.
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In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of Corporate Governance Code,
the Company will arrange for, and provide funds for, all the Directors
to participate in continuous professional development organised in the
form of in-house training, seminars or other appropriate courses to keep
them abreast of their knowledge, skills and understanding of the Group
and its business and the latest development or changes in the relevant
statutes, including the Listing Rules, the Corporate Governance Code
and corporate governance practices. A newly appointed Director would
receive an induction training covering the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a Director of a listed company. Circulars or guidance notes
are issued to Directors and senior management by the Company, where
appropriate, to ensure awareness of the Corporate Governance Code and

corporate governance practices.

Regarding the Listing Rules’ requirement for directors to obtain a
general understanding of an issuer’s business and to follow up on matters
brought to their attention, it is considered that the current arrangements
for keeping the Board informed of the Company’s business performance
through regular presentations and/or reports by management at Board
meetings, providing directors with complete, sufficient and adequate
information, and providing the Board with timely reports on urgent
key events at ad hoc Board meetings are effective and satisfy the
requirements. To improve on existing practices, a management report
covering key business issues and the financial performance of the
Company has been made available to the Directors on a regular basis
throughout the year. A Director can contact management of the Company
individually and independently.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

The Directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to contribute to the Company throughout the
year. During the year, they have attended various external seminars and
briefings relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director and the latest developments in regulatory requirements.

The Company plans to establish a set of continuous professional
development guidelines with details on directors’ training for the coming
years, including a timeline explaining the suggested timetable and
the relevant suggested materials for Directors on an annual basis. The
Company will confirm with all the Directors on their participation in the
relevant training for updating their technical expertise so that they can
contribute and provide valuable inputs to the Company’s development.
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The table below summarises the participation of the Directors in training — JAZAS4EJE K H B AR S TI5 B> & HEH

during the Year and up to the date of this report: Z SBT3
O
Attending training
organised by
professional
organisations and/
or reading materials
updating on new
rules and regulations
R b SO
BB R Bk
e B A 1A B R A9
Name of Director WS B A5 B v b R
Executive Director: HITHEF -
Mr. WONG Chan Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) WK S (L AT ) v
Non-executive Directors: B ITHF
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice Chairman) B (A ) v
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JEL M Se A v
Mr. YANG Yi BB SE e v
Mr. LUI Chun Pong (appointed on 28 February 2022) BRI A (A v
ZHZFNHEZEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors: Wy s P ATHEF
Dr. LI Jun I v
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JRE S A v
Mr. TAM Hon Wah B v

O

30 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Corporate Governance Report

Chairman and Chief Executive

During the Year, Mr. Wong served as the chairman and the chief
executive of the Company. The chairman is responsible for the overall
business development and operation strategy of the Group. The primary
responsibilities of the chief executive of the Company are to provide
leadership for the management of the Company, take a lead to implement
the Company’s business strategies and oversee the performance of
management in achieving corporate goals.

Terms of Appointment of Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an
initial term of one year. The term of each of the non-executive Directors
and the independent non-executive Directors shall be automatically
renewable for another successive term of one year commencing from
the next day after the expiry of their then current term of appointment,
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”),
unless terminated by a not-less-than three months’ notice in writing
served by either the respective non-executive Director or independent
non-executive Director expiring at the end of the initial term or at any
time thereafter.

Board Meetings and Procedures

The Board meets regularly throughout the year, including up to the
date of this annual report, to review the overall business, financial and
technical strategies and to monitor the financial performance of the
Group under senior management who is delegated with supervising the
day-to-day management and operation of the Group and the execution of
plans for the Group as approved by the Board. The chairman is primarily
responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board
meeting in consultation with all the Directors. Notices of at least 14 days
should be provided to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and the
Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary.
The agenda and accompanying Board papers in respect of these regular
Board meetings are sent out to all Directors with a reasonable lead time
before the Board meetings. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are
circulated to all Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to

endorsement.
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Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors
have access to the Board papers and related materials. They provided
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to
make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the Year, 20 Board meetings were held, and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

o

EHEEARNERCHLEHRZEGGRN
TR TS ERNKEAZENRER
FARAE - T T A 3 2 vl 2 Bl B S SO
AB R W R R A R R R
B R AE RS LR e AR A S IE AR R
=5

IAEE - LA ERGER BHE
E AR PN AR R IR

Number of
Board meetings

attended/held

i Ty

EREG

Name of Director HEHIES 28 1/¢ i
Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) WK A (ER TR ) 20/20
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) R L (g ) 20/20
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung SR e S AR 18/20
Mr. YANG Yi W%k e 0/20
Mr. LUI Chun Pong (appointed on 28 February 2022) BRI (R FE 4 18/18

ZH = NHEZ(E)

Dr. LI Jun ZE TR L 20/20
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JE A e e 20/20
Mr. TAM Hon Wah S A S 20/20

o—

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established and delegated authorities and responsibilities
to three specific committees with written terms of reference to assist
it in performing its functions effectively, namely the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”). The terms of reference for Board committees have been
published on the Group’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website for
shareholders to review.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference adopted by reference to the code provisions of the CG Code

and its members during the Year and up to the date of this report include:

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Dr. LI Jun

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

The majority of the Audit Committee members are independent non-
executive Directors. Given each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience, the Board considers that there is a suitable mix
of expertise in business, accounting and financial management in the
Audit Committee. During the Year, the composition of members in the
Audit Committee comply with the requirements under the Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the
Board in safeguarding the Group’s assets by providing an independent
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process and
compliance procedures and the internal controls and risk management
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee also oversees the audit
process and performs other duties as assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the reporting of financial
and other information to the Shareholders, as well as the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectivity
of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company’s auditor on matters within
the scope of its terms of reference and reviews the independence and

objectivity of the auditor.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, 2 Audit Committee meetings
were held, and the individual attendance of each member is set out

below:

RBE-F__H#+_A=+—HLEFE
T LB e H 2R g T2 A R
N R Sk s T

O

Name of Director HHEEY
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JE A e e
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JEI B M S5 AR
Dr. LI Jun ZETR L
Mr. TAM Hon Wah A S A

O

Number of
committee
meeting(s)
attended/held
i BRAT
ZH®
kKB

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

During the Year, the Audit Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2022 and for the year ended 31 December 2021, respectively,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
the report prepared by the external auditor covering major findings in the
course of the audit, the selection and appointment of the external auditor
as well as the risk management and internal control systems of the

Group.

Subsequent to the end of the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited annual results and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 together with the auditors
and have discussed with management the accounting policies adopted by

the Group and its internal controls and financial reporting matters.

The Company has adopted the revised written terms of reference of
the Audit Committee to correspond with the changes made to the
code provisions of the CG Code. The Company has complied with
the provisions in Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules which requires the
Company’s audit committee be comprised of a minimum of three
members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive director
with the appropriate professional qualifications, including accounting or
related financial management expertise, as specified under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference and its members during the Year and up to the date of

this report include:

Dr. LI Jun (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

A majority of the Remuneration Committee members are independent
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Group as well as the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Group, and reviews and/or
approves matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director or

any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the emolument payable to the Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors, employment conditions of the Group and the desirability of

performance-based remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 3 Remuneration Committee
meeting was held, and the individual attendance of each member is set
out below:
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Name of Director wHEY
Dr. LI Jun TR
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JE B e A
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JAR S A
Mr. TAM Hon Wah R A S A

O

Number of

committee

meeting(s)

attended/held
B AT
ZEH

7k KB

3/3
3/3
3/3
3/3
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has, inter alia, reviewed
the remuneration policy and structure relating to the Directors and senior
management of the Group as well as the specific remuneration packages
for the executive Directors and senior management of the Group, and
made recommendations to the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the annual salary of the senior
management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls within the

following bands.

o

AR HME B GO (K aiF) e A
%ﬁﬂi%@ﬁ%&%é&mﬁj\éﬁﬁﬁ@flﬁ%&

MU EAEEPITERE LR ERABN
R E 37 I 157 48 rlﬁﬁ%%@ﬁ&@%

BME_F_—_H+_A=+—HILFE &
NEEREIAR (FEHBRI) B EZHFN T
AT [ -

No. of Senior

Management
4% P
#H
Nil to HK$500,000 2% F500,000% 7T
(equivalent to Nil to US$64,051) (FH A % 564,051 00) 1
O
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RUEZEG

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference and its members during the Year and up to the date of
this report include:

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Dr. LI Jun

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

The Nomination Committee is chaired by the chairman of the Board and
a majority of the Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive Directors. The responsibility of the Nomination Committee is
to review the constituency of the Board, make recommendations on the
procedures and criteria for the appointment of directors and implement
those that are adopted by the Board. The Nomination Committee
ensures that a member shall not vote (or be counted in the quorum at a
meeting) in respect of any resolution concerning (i) his own appointment
(including determining or varying its terms); and (ii) the termination of

his own appointment.

In selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the Nomination
Committee may make reference to certain criteria such as the Company’s
needs, integrity, experience, skills, professional knowledge and the
amount of time and effort that a candidate will devote to carry his/her
duties and responsibilities. External recruitment professionals might be

engaged to carry out selection process when necessary.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, 2 Nomination Committee
meeting was held, and the individual attendance of each member is set
out below:

/\_LI_\//\—/-\—\

1ExRBE #&ma

RBE_F_—_H#+_A=t+—HLEFE
%% B et d B2 gk T2 B R
N L sk BT

O

Name of Director HEHIES
Mr. WONG Chau Chi AR e A
Dr. LI Jun IR L
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JAE 5 A
Mr. TAM Hon Wah RV S S A

O

Number of
committee
meeting(s)
attended/held
Wi BITERG
ik KB

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has, inter alia, reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board and assessed the

independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the following policy for the nomination of
Directors (the “Nomination Policy”).

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Board shall consider
the potential contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity. The
Board shall consider the following selection criteria, which are not meant
to be exhaustive:

. the candidate’s personal ethics, reputation, character and integrity;

. the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business judgment
and experience that are relevant to the operations of the Group;

. the diversity perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of

the Company (as amended from time to time);
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the candidate’s availability including time commitment to discharge
his or her responsibility as a Director, including being able to
devote sufficient time to attend Board meetings, participate in
induction, trainings and other Board and Company activities; in
the case of a candidate nominated as an independent non-executive
Director and will hold seven or more listed company directorships,
the Board shall consider the reasons given by the candidate
for being able to devote sufficient time to discharge his or her

responsibility as an independent non-executive Director;
the candidate for the position of an independent non-executive
Director must comply with the independence criteria as prescribed

under the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time);

the current size and composition of the Board, the needs of the
Board and the respective committees of the Company;

the succession planning of members of the Board to ensure

leadership continuity and smooth functioning of the Group; and

any other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Board shall ensure that the composition of the Board is in conformity

with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other

applicable laws and regulations.

Nomination Procedures

The recruitment, identification, evaluation, recommendation, nomination,

selection and new appointment or re-appointment of each proposed

Director shall be assessed and considered by the Board against the

selection criteria as set out in this Policy.

In the context of appointing of any proposed candidate to the Board:

38

the Board may take such measures that it considers appropriate
in connection with its identification and evaluation of candidates,
including, amongst others, consider referrals from Directors,

Shareholders, management and advisors of the Company;
the Board shall identify and ascertain the character, qualification,
knowledge and experience of the candidate and undertake adequate

due diligence in respect of such candidate; and

senior management shall make recommendations on the candidate’s

personal profile to the Board for its consideration.
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In the context of re-appointment of any existing member of the Board,
the remaining Board members shall make recommendations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation for the candidate to stand for
re-election at a general meeting.

For each proposed new appointment or re-appointment of a Director, the
Board shall obtain all applicable declarations and undertaking as required

under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules.

In the case of a nomination for the position of an independent non-
executive Director, the Board shall ensure that the concerned candidate
meets the independence criteria as prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to the
recommendation of candidates to stand for election (and re-election) at a

general meeting.

The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment of Directors
rests with the entire Board.

Review and Monitoring

The Board will from time to time review the Nomination Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure compliance with the regulatory

requirements at the relevant time and good corporate governance practice.

Management shall, when necessary, recommend revisions to the

Nomination Policy to the Board for its consideration and approval.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged under a service contract with an external
service provider, Ms. HO Wing Yan (“Ms. HO”), who is appointed as the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). Ms. HO
has confirmed that she has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
Mr. WONG Chau Chi, the executive Director, chairman of the Board and
chief executive of the Company, is the primary corporate contact person
of the Company with Ms. HO.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s systems of internal controls
and risk management and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board,
the Group’s internal audit division and management reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and opinions of
the Group’s internal audit division and management on the effectiveness
of the Company’s system of internal controls, and reports to the Board
on such reviews. In 2022, the Board, through its Audit Committee,
conducted a review of the Group’s risk management and internal controls
system, including financial, operational and compliance control, and risk
management functions. To formalise the annual review of the Company’s
risk management and internal control system, the Audit Committee made
reference to the requirements of the relevant regulatory bodies. In respect
of the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered the internal
controls system is effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern
which might affect the Shareholders were identified.

The internal audit division of the Group should ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The main functions
of the internal audit division are to audit the operating efficiencies
of each of the operating units, to carry out audits upon resignation of
any key management personnel, to assist the Board in reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal controls system of the Group and to review
internal controls on business processes and project-based auditing.
Evaluation of the Group’s internal controls covering financial, operational
compliance controls and risk management functions will be done at least
once a year. As confirmed by the management, the Board is satisfied that

the Group has sufficient internal controls.

The Company had continued to follow the Terms of Reference of the
Audit Committee which had been adopted since 2016 and relied on it as a
check and balance for its internal controls and risk management systems.

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s overall risk
management framework and the Board is also responsible for approving
the Group’s risk policies and assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk controls/mitigation tools. Systems and procedures have been
established to identify, measure, manage and control various risks
including business, compliance, operation, finance and information that

may have an impact on the Group and each major department.
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The Company has embarked on the journey of building an enterprise
risk management (the “ERM”) system with the view of enhancing the
risk management and corporate governance practices and improving the
effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls system across the whole
Group.

The Board believes that a heightened focus on risk and compliance is
beneficial for the ongoing development and growth of the Company as
well as its staff. In establishing the ERM system, all key functions of
the Company were carried out by internal audit division to undertake the
following exercises:

1.  Enterprise risk assessment — to identify and prioritise the

Company’s key business risks; and
2o Process level control assessment — to assess the related internal
controls and risk mitigating measures.

AUDITOR

On 4 January 2023, Confucius International CPA Limited (“Confucius’)
resigned as auditor of the Company. Linksfield CPA Limited
(“Linksfield”) has been appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill
the casual vacancy and to hold office until the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the Company. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the previous two years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 were audited by Confucius.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Linksfield,
for the Year is set out as follows:
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Services rendered

Audit services (Note)

Non-audit services
O
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US$°000
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128

Note: The annual audit service is payable to Linksfield.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
and preparing the financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors
have made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Management has provided such explanation and information to the Board
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other information before the Board’s approval.

The statement by the auditor of the Company about their responsibilities
for the financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report

contained in this annual report.

The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules, and reports to regulators as well as information required to be

disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The Group recognises that high quality corporate reporting is important
in reinforcing the trust of the Shareholders and aims at presenting
a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in all corporate communications.
The annual and interim results of the Group are announced in a timely
manner within four and three months respectively after the end of the
relevant periods in compliance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises that board diversity is an important element in
creating a fair and effective Board and that having a Board with a balance
of skills, backgrounds, expertise and diversity of perspectives can be
beneficial to the Company’s business.
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Policy Statement

The Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organisational changes and less likely to suffer from groupthink. With a
view of achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time. A high emphasis is placed on ensuring a
balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board level in order
to provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenges that enable the
Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, make good
decisions to promote the core business and strategy of the Group, and
support succession planning and development of the Board.

Measurable Objectives

The selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s Nomination
Policy and will take into account the Board Diversity Policy. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board and the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international
and local recommended best practices. The Board also aspires to having
an appropriate proportion of directors who have direct experience in the
Group’s core markets, preferably with different ethnic backgrounds, to
support the Group’s strategy.
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Gender Diversity

In respect of the gender diversity of the Board, as at the date of this
report, all Directors are male which consist of a single gender board for
the time being. The Company is well-aware of the requirements under
the new CG Code where diversity on the Board needs to be achieved and
is more than willing to fulfill the requirements by appointing a Director
of a different gender no later than 31 December 2024. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance, and sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. It is expected that
the ratio of female Directors will reach more than 10% in the following
years. The Company will achieve this goal through active nomination
of suitable candidates with no gender limitation to be newly appointed
Directors in the next few years.

Moreover, the current gender ratio of the company workforce (including
senior management) is 1.7 males per 1 females, which is the same as
past year. Hence, the Company has already achieved gender diversity and
will continue focusing on the area because workforce gender diversity
is associated with resources that can provide a sustained competitive
advantage to the company, which include market insight, creativity
and innovation, and improved problem-solving. Men’s and women’s
different experiences may provide insights into the different needs
of male and female customers. Further, men and women may have
different cognitive abilities, such as men’s proficiency in mathematics
and women’s proficiency in verbal and interpersonal skills. Therefore,
a mix of cognitive abilities in a gender diverse team may enhance the
team’s overall creativity and innovation as proved by research. Moreover,
a gender diverse team produces high quality decisions. Although there
may be some mitigating circumstances where gender diversity can be
very hard to achieve (for instance, male workers are more commonly
seen regarding physical labour and female workers are more often seen
during psychological consultation), the Company will keep focusing on
the workforce gender diversity to maintain its current strength as well as
to further improve its competitivity in the future.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Group concurs that an enterprise’s existence should not purely be for
the maximisation of its own benefits. As part of the society, it is essential
for an enterprise to facilitate wealth accumulation of the whole society,
advance social civilisation and promote the sustainable development of
the environment. Management of the Group pays attention to corporate
social responsibilities by monitoring the development, implementation
and results of initiatives carried out by the different departments of the
Group, in which the environmental, social and governance standards have
been integrated into their operations and activities. Details are set out
in the section headed Environmental Social and Governance Report on

pages 51 to 62 of this report.

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS REGARDING
PRICE SENSITIVE AND/OR INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed a system with established policies,
processes and procedures across all relevant segments and departments
for complying with the disclosure obligations regarding price sensitive
and/or inside information. The system continues to be effective. The
Company will continue to further enhance its effect on the business
operation, development of the Company and new regulations and laws
with great effort.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year which
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of its
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; made adjustments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable; and prepared the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which can at any time disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Group to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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AUDITOR’S STATEMENT

The auditor of the Company acknowledges its responsibilities in the
independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is committed in creating transparent lines of communication
between senior management and investors, maintaining a close
relationship with all its Shareholders through a variety of channels,
and promoting understandings between stakeholders and us. The
Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy to
formalise and facilitate effective and clear interactions among the
Company, Shareholders and other stakeholders, subject to the relevant
regulatory requirements. Shareholders are encouraged to participate
in the shareholders meeting and annual general meeting (“AGM”)
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for and on
their behalf if they are unable to attend. The main communication
channels with the Shareholders include investors’ meetings, annual
general meeting, annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars and constitutional documents filed with the HKEXnews of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Group’s websites

(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/silkwave and www.silkwave.com.hk).

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle shareholders’ inquiries. Should investors have any inquiries,
please contact the Group (telephone: +852 2159 3300; e-mail:
co.sec @silkwave.com.hk).

Shareholders’ Communication Policy
Purpose

The Company recognises the importance of providing current and
relevant information to its shareholders (the “Shareholders”). This
shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication
Policy”) aims to set out the provisions with the objective to ensure that
the Shareholders and potential investors are provided with equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company, in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and potential investors to
engage actively with the Company.
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General Policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
will regularly review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy to ensure
its effectiveness.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders as well as the
stakeholders through periodic disclosure through the Company’s
financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual general
meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, as well
as by making available all the disclosures submitted to the Stock
Exchange and other corporate publications on the website of the
Stock Exchange and corporate communications, on the website of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company’s website

(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/silkwave and www.silkwave.com.hk).

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders shall
be ensured at all times. Any questions, requests and comments can
be addressed to the Company by mail to Unit 1211, Level 12, Core F,
Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong or through the Company’s

share registrar.

The Company believes that communication with Shareholders by
electronic means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way to
distribute information in a timely and convenient manner. Shareholders
are encouraged to access to the corporate communications posted on the
Company’s website to help reduce the quantity of printed copies and

hence reduce the impact on the environment.

The Company’s website will be updated with material posted to the
website of the Stock Exchange immediately thereafter. Such material
includes but not limited to financial statements, results announcements,
circulars and notices of general meetings and associated explanatory
documents.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email addresses
and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable them to make any

query in respect of the Company.

The Company has reviewed the Shareholders’
conducted for the year ended 31 December 2022 and considered that the
Shareholders’
effective.

Communication Policy

Communication Policy has been well implemented and
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Investors’ Meetings

Group meetings are held by the Group with institutional investors and
analysts with respect to its annual results and interim results. In addition,
the Group’s senior executives and staff from investor relations department
hold regular meetings with institutional investors and analysts. Investors
are provided with the latest information on the development of the Group,
in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

General Meeting

The AGM is an important platform for Shareholders to participate in
discussions, thereby facilitating communications between management
of the Group and the Shareholders. The AGM is held once a year, being
publicly accessible to all Shareholders. The Group’s senior management
answers any questions that Shareholders may have at the meeting and the
external auditor attends the AGM as well.

During the Year, one general meeting was held (i.e. the AGM held on 18

May 2022).

The attendance of each director at the general meeting(s) of the Company
held during the Year was as follows:
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Number of
general
meeting(s) of
the Company

attended/held

i BRAT

AR 24 ) B3R

Name of director HHREAH N RIS
Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) HAKE R (LB HEFEHITE) 1/1
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) B+ (B ) 1/1
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung Je) % T o A 1/1
Mr. YANG Yi W3 e A 1/1
Mr. LUI Chun Pong (appointed on 28 February 2022) BRI (i FE 4 1/1

ZHZA/NHEZAF)

Dr. LI Jun I A 1/1
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JR 5 e A 1/1
Mr. TAM Hon Wah RV S A 1/1

(o
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There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Act or the
Articles of Association. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution
may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

All matters proposed to shareholders for approval shall be submitted
in separate resolutions and resolved by way of poll at the general
meeting. The procedures of conducting a poll are explained in details
to shareholders by the Group prior to voting to ensure shareholders are
familiar with such arrangement. The voting results of the meetings will
be published on the websites of the Group.

Annual Reports, Interim Reports, Announcements and Circulars

The Group issues its annual reports and interim reports after publishing
the annual results and the interim results in March and August every
year respectively to periodically review the development of the Group
as well as to update its Shareholders with its latest business information
and market trends. In addition, the Group explains to the Shareholders
through announcements regarding any major event or price-sensitive
information. For any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders,
the Group holds an EGM in accordance with the requirements of the
Stock Exchange and issues a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing shareholders to have sufficient time to learn more
about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars are uploaded to the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Group

(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/silkwave and www.silkwave.com.hk).

CHANGES OF ARTICLES OF THE ASSOCIATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no changes in the
Company’s Articles of Association. The latest version of the Company’s
Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Group. Shareholders can also obtain the details of their
rights with reference to the Company’s Articles of Association.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which
sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Dividend Policy aims to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the
Company’s liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The dividend
distribution decision of the Company will depend on, among others,
the financial results, the cash flow, Shareholders’ interests, the general
business conditions and strategies, the current and future operations, the
liquidity and capital requirements, taxation considerations, statutory and
regulatory restrictions and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may also declare special dividends from time to time. The

Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures to convene a general meeting and put forward proposals
at general meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right to vote at general meetings may request
the directors to call a general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association. The request must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the general
meeting. The request may be sent to the Company at the registered office
of the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form to the attention
of the Directors or the Company Secretary and must be authenticated by

the person(s) making it.

Shareholders can refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as set
forth in the relevant sections of the Articles of Association when making
any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general meetings of

the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board in writing c/o the
Corporate Secretariat with the following contact details:

Attention: Company Secretary
Address: Unit 1211, Level 12, Core F,
Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong
Telephone:  (852) 2159 3300
Facsimile: (852) 2159 3399
Email: co.sec@silkwave.com.hk

50 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

B G B B

HEEE RN EEOR (TRBEUR])

I AN FE ()E&@mdfﬁﬁﬁi |2 ﬁf?o
R BUR & 7E s IR AS DAy AR T 2 T ] >
[F] g A 4 7 8 ) 2 B S 4> DUIE AR Rk 2
B R o AN F] 2 B 2 IR TR E A Bk A
(RS ) BHE 34 BLA T~ IR 4
e B BE SR UL K R B~ B R R R A S R
B G e REARE R -BIBE B L KBS
B il DA B 5 =5 € ] e A VEAH B 2 Hofth R % o
= 8 ] A R E R 4 R B R o B S BOUR i

iy s

Ji 51 HE A

7 B BB 3R R 6 B i i R K &1 b B2 B R i R
52
i 2 8 A REAE B ROR B b 3R P i IR R A AR SR
PHE R DA E 4 2 A R R AT AR
HRMAUGEREFAHALARRKEG - F
B s R ZE SR T8 A A B Rk & E g
I — MR 3 T R A R R R R
T 8 TR R R A R R ROK & b B R Y
RO o B R FT AN A TE A 8 E T
K BT AN T A R - sE I N B E
55w R > T A B AE oK ZH 4R Y R% oK
NG 7

A IERE IR AR 28 R BCROR & b 42 i AT ] 25K
Bl ok o T 2 ) B A A PR B BT R R
A RLE SRR o

Te) B S5 67 2 I A A AR )P

[ YNGR E A R o R v R i
WA RENE T

B8N AFHE

i dik T 7 B 74 8 10095 #4853 40
FI@1248#1211%

G (852) 2159 3300

e - (852) 2159 3399

TR S co.sec @silkwave.com.hk



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE e NEARES

As a sustainable enterprise, the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues are an integral part of the Group’s overall business
strategy and goals. We seek to operate in an economically and socially
ethical environment while balancing the interests of our internal and
external stakeholders, and supporting the communities we work in.
ESG subjects are used to enhance the corporation strategic approach
formulation and maintain a constructive long-term relationship with our
key stakeholders. These matters would cover both internal employees and

external customers, suppliers and the community where we serve.

It is our policy to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and sanctions
which are applicable to our Company and our business, whether through
directly related companies or third parties. We also expect our employees,
agents, consultants, contractors, intermediaries, representatives, suppliers
and business partners to demonstrate ethical principles and observe the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in all professional and personal
dealings. In addition to complying with relevant laws and regulations, the
Company endeavours to integrate environmental protection measures and
community engagement into our business operation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Company is a leading satellite to mobile operator
headquartered in Hong Kong with our own satellite control
facilities. The Company is conscious of the need to minimise the
environmental, health and safety impacts of our daily operations
and to comply with the relevant environmental laws. The Group has
adopted a “reduce, reuse, repair and recycle” policy to help support
our environment aims, namely, to preserve and maintain a clean
and sustainable environment for future generations. The Group uses
resources in a responsible, efficient and effective manner in order
to contribute to a sustainable society and comply with international

standards and regulations.

Eco-friendly measures, such as reducing emissions, greenhouse
gases, energy and water consumption, more recycling, and careful
disposal of wastes have been incorporated into our operations to
alleviate the business’s impact on the environment. Enhancing
energy efficiency continues to be our biggest challenge as
travelling, paper and package usage, air-conditioning and lighting,
consume a lot of energy, including a heavy reliance on the general
use of electricity for production and broadcasting.

We are committed to protecting the environment and we integrate
sustainability into our business operations through internal policies
and guidelines. As a global citizen, our environmentally friendly
vision was established to safeguard our natural environment and its
ecosystems over time by adopting appropriate policies and practices
in our operations and procedures.
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Emissions

The total CO, emissions generated from the usage of the
transportation fuel by the Company was 16,493 kg (2021:
17,860 kg), which is a decrease of 8% due to a reduction in
private car usage. Going forward, the Company plans to keep
the overall air transportation as well as auto usage low in
order to keep the total output of emissions to a minimum. Our
overall goal is to continue to reduce overall CO, annual basis

consistently. emissions on an annual basis consistently.

Hazardous waste

Although our Company produces limited hazardous waste,
we dispose of items such as florescent tubes, batteries,
waste electrical and electronic equipment and general office
equipment responsibly. As necessary, we hire specialist
contractors and waste collectors to handle the recycling and

manage the removal of such wastes.

Non-hazardous waste

Our non-hazardous waste consists of general office waste
produced at the Company. To ensure our waste disposal
methods are in-line with local regulations, we utilise
professional cleaning service providers and contractors to
handle this waste. When possible, our general office waste
is recycled, reused and repurposed to paper, plastic, glass,
metal and waste products. The recycling of aluminium cans
and plastic bottles saved a total 15.93 kg (2021: 17.44 kg)
of CO, emissions for the year. Our aim is to recycle as much
as possible and reduce CO, emissions in both hazardous and

non-hazardous wastes annually.
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A2.

Use of Resources

We measure our environmental impact in terms of resource
consumption against these major categories: (1) electricity,
(2) paper usage, (3) packaging and waste, and (4) water
usages. The resources used by the Group consist primarily of
the electricity, paper, waste packaging and water consumed at
the office.

In terms of the overall electricity usage, the Company takes
energy saving measures with LED lighting and light zoning.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total CO,
emission generated from electricity consumption by the
Company was 34,399 kg (2021: 34,323 kg).

The Group continues to practice paper saving techniques,
such as double-sided printing, 2 pages per side printing,
black and white outputs, and print-job tracking to encourage
minimizing printing.

The Group has also implemented the collection of waste paper
for effective recycling. The total CO, emissions generated
from the paper consumption by the Company was 270 kg
(2021: 421 kg). With our overall paper saving incentive, such
as all departments of the Group are also advised to handle
documents electronically (except formal documents which are
required to be prepared in hard copies), our printers are set
to default duplex and employees are encouraged to use both
sides of the paper, we have been able to save a total of 133
kg (2021: 223 kg) of CO, emissions.

The Group orders reusable 5-gallon containers for our water
consumption to minimize waste from individual plastic, metal

and glass containers.
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Electricity Wi}
1)  Efficient lighting LED and energy efficient lighting 1) BRAEUR IR R A A = i [ S LED IR AL
installed over the office area AE IR R B 2% 42
2)  Electricity zoning  Air conditioning and light zoning  2) ZE R R ALEE 2 REVRIRE:
arrangements in office to reduce w2 A RB ARG
unnecessary energy waste g RmEH
3)  Light and electricity Turn off all equipment and lighting 3) 1% [ {3 i FEAS {5 F 15 & A PR I 35 1Y
usage in the office when not in use T A A ) B ) A - I
and utilise low-power state and 7 AR A IR I R
energy saving options when i e =X
equipment is idle
Paper i3
1)  Duplex printing Office printing defaults set to 1) EPkl P A 2 2 DR 3 B
duplex to reduce paper wastage R 7 BE T BRI > DAk D
IR IR
2)  Black and white Default black and white printed ~ 2) 51| Efl i it E Rl B 24 B 5 o Ay 2R 1 B
printing output to reduce dependency on i ik - DAY D B Bk
colour toner cartridges 8 I A
3)  Multiple-page Print from 2 to 4 pages per side to  3) S EZH  EIRIEYCHEE A8 E
printing reduce paper and ink usage B Efl Z B EL o 7 BR B DA 9
D AR K &
4)  Print tracking Printing is tracked by user to 4y @AFIE AR P S E k51 E > B
encourage minimising excessive By 1L 48 3 {7 ]
usage
5)  Printing quotas Monthly printing quotas are 5)  FIENEL A AR EONRRRE &R
reviewed in order to keep 1E BRI 73 258 E H
printing within or below these
thresholds
6)  Recycled papers Recycled papers are collected to be 6) R {RAKf# Jit A TR PR A M 4R 1
reused for printing & ER Rl
7)  Recycled envelopes Recycled envelopes are reused for  7)  IRR[5 & RIREE G TE— LI FARE
non-private and non-confidential TR 2 SR
information mailings
8) Electronic Communications through 8) B BFREAHE S LEEZ
communications electronic channels instead AR R A

of hard copies or printed

correspondences

9)  Facsimiles All facsimile communications 9) [HE Jii A {4 L3 {5 41 LA 7B 8 X
are completed electronic, SR WA AEATARIR A #E -
without the need for any paper Al T HE A T IR A

consumption and are delivered
directly to users’ mailboxes
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Packing and waste W G EREY

1)  Packing materials ~ Reuse packing materials for 1)
electronic equipment to reduce
the need to purchase new
packaging
2)  Reuse and recycle  Reuse and recycle plastic, glass 2)
products and paper products and bags for
office procurement to prevent
extra waste
3)  Recycle bottles and Recycle and reuse plastic bottles  3)
cans and aluminium cans in office to
reduce waste
4)  Plastic take-away Reuse plastic take-away boxes for 4)
boxes food storage in the office
5)  Garbage collection  Garbage is collected in bulk in 5)
order to eliminate additional
plastic bag wastes
Water Viks
1) Reduce water Minimise water usage and 1)
related wastage purchase bulk sized drinking
water instead of individual
bottles to prevent excess
wastage
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the business, apart from the above-
mentioned emissions and resources usage, the Group does
not have any significant direct or indirect impact on the
environment or on natural resources in the course of its
operations. In the future, we aim to continue to stride for
environmentally friendly measures and reduce wastes which
storing internal and non-private/non-confidential documents
in e-format or on the cloud instead of printing these and
storing them, improving on the recycle and reuse policies
for paper, plastic, glass, metal, water, and waste products,
and using LED and energy efficient lighting installation and
electricity usages.
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B. SOCIAL

B1.

B2.

Employment

The Group’s success depends heavily on its ability of attract,
retain and motivate talent in the competitive labour markets.
Their development is a critical part of the Group’s human
capital. Attracting and strengthening the engagement of talent
contribute to the sustainability of the Group. The Company’s
greatest asset is our employees who are essential to the
continued success of the business. We strive to attract and
retain talent by providing training and encouraging them
to develop their full potential. Their personal development,

mental health and work-life balance is carefully considered.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s workforce
totals 24 staff (2021: 24 staff) globally, of which males were
63% (2021: 63%) and females were 37% (2021: 37%). Full-
time staff were 54% (2021: 54%) and consultants or part
time staff were 46% (2021: 46%). The number of Hong Kong
based staff was 58% (2021: 58%) and elsewhere was 42%
(2021: 42%).

Health and Safety

To safeguard employees’ occupational health and safety, the
Group provides a safe, healthy and comfortable working
environment and has complied with relevant rules and
regulations. The Group offers its employees a comprehensive
healthcare insurance coverage. This includes the appropriate
vaccinations and precautions when travelling globally for
business and meetings. We provide a healthy, relaxing
and enjoyable workplace for our people to motivate their
work engagements and commitments. The Company takes
occupational safety as a major management responsibility and
works hard to provide a safe and healthy work environment.
During the year 2022, the Group did not experience any
accident or work injury.
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We have designated several recreational and nearby areas
for simple exercises during the work hours. Moreover, a
fully equipped pantry and kitchen area with different kinds
of healthy foods and drinks are provided to our employees
to revitalise them from their work tasks. We believe short
relaxation breaks can boost the performance of daily work
routines. Employees have a spacious work station in a modern
office setting, looking out to a sea horizon with mountains,
which provides a serene workplace environment to help
reduce work fatigue and stimulate higher work performance

from our employees.

Work-life balance is an important goal for the Group and the
Company caters to this accordingly. Keeping in touch with
external news and updates allow employees to keep abreast
of happenings in the community and globally. Specifically,
as a broadcasting company, multiple live-television and
audio broadcasts are provided to our employees through the
XingYun app, which connects employees with the outside
environment. This connection stimulates creativity including

new and dynamic ideas on sustainable development.

Apart from the office, an agreeable collegiate environment
has been established based on the interaction and socialisation
amongst the staff. Routine gatherings and activities are held
for enhancing communications between departments to
form a productive and harmonious ecosystem. For example,
teambuilding luncheons and dinners plus work-related
gathering events, such as club events, are sponsored regularly
throughout the year. Both formal and informal training
sessions help to reinforce our corporate culture and boost
employee morale.
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Development and Training

We sponsor and encourage training, research and development
and skill upgrading activities for our staff which benefits the
Group by adding new ideas for future expansion. The Group
provides a budget for external trainings for staff annually. In
Hong Kong, the average number of hours per employee was
18 hours of training (2021: 13.5 hours) which is a increase
of 33.3%, which 25% were female (2021: 42%) and 75%
were male (2021: 58%) and 63% (2021: 50%) were senior
and middle management and 38% were staff (2021: 50%).
Moreover, we sponsored and supported our staff to attend
different kinds of conferences, exhibitions and meetings
which related to our business. For example, professional
industrial organisations and governing bodies held seminars
for the employees to update their professional accreditations
such as corporate governance, technical and technology
exhibitions.

In the future, the Company will arrange functions and retreats
for our staff to enhance their teamwork, and communication
and interpersonal skills during the activities. For example,
organising outdoor activities such as boat trips and similar
activities for our staff to enrich their connections with each
other in a casual environment outside of the workplace.
Overall, we aim to correlate employees’ skillsets to the right
trainings, meetings, conferences and exhibitions for acquiring
new skills and opportunities for the staff and the Group.

Labour Standards

The Group fully understands that employing child labour
and forced labour is a violation of basic human rights and
international labour conventions and strictly prohibits the use
of child labour and forced labour in our business operations.
The Group has also complied with all relevant labour
laws and regulations during the year and strives to create
an environment of respect, integrity and fairness for our

employees.

B3.

B4.

B J B 3

AN 5B B L2 B2 S K
F Al 2 T 95 B o 75 LLTE By vl LA A
5 18] 45 2R 1 1 JEL R A T B R A
A R R 2 FETS R o A 4 ) B 4R
£y B TP IR A e s i Bl o
P IR A = B B R T
Bl A 35 R 8 A 18/ NI (L L —
A 13.5/NKE) > #EN T33.3% °
Hoosek &Lt (& = —4F:
42%) > T5%F Bk (& - —4
58%) > 63% /s TR REH AN B
(ZFE - —4F:50%) > 38% 4 B T
(TR = —4E:50%) o MAk - T M
BB R BT 200 B3R A SE
FEHAAENEEE R RENE
i o M T > B ZE AT S AH A AN B S A
BT ST &> 2 B L
SERN TR KT > QA B B 4 i A
FAMT 8 o

AR A F % PR B TR B
B DL v B IORS A Tl & AR
75 o ] 0 2 P TR I By 4k i
RE - RBEEFEHERE TAH
— {1 e BE o N =LA R B AR R
F-RMEBNRABETERHS
Wz 2mERLREeG R
B T % 45 [ 57 BAT 5 A8 0% R 09 1
o

=

5 LR

A SR 0y B B B TR R i 25
T A NRER MR 55 T A4
PR I R 255 A S B AC 8 Th R T T
Lo o i) 55 T o A B2 [ R 4F N 1
SY T AR B 25 Tk 45 A B 2R
N1 5 B T s A
M TARER B -

20224 FEH, PR BUR A R A F 59



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE e NhEARES

60

BS.

Bé.

Supply Chain Management

Our commitment to maintaining the highest ethical and
professional standards not only applies to our own business
operations but also those of our suppliers and business
partners. We aim to build trusting supply chain relationships
as we work together to deliver quality services and products.
We partner with respected and reputable companies which
have a long-standing history with the business community.
Any acts of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited. We
actively encourage our suppliers to adopt environmentally
and socially responsible behaviour by enforcing our ESG
commitments. Our purchasing and procurement decisions
are integrated with social responsibility considerations in our

supplier selection process.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to offering excellent and reliable
services to our customers. As one of Asia’s leading satellite
operators, we aim to provide with consistency high-quality
services that meet their current and future requirements. The
products and services in which the Company provides are also
scrutinised by our research and development and technical
teams in order to comply with and satisfy all applicable laws
and regulations regionally and globally. The Group is also
committed to protecting the privacy of our customers and
have taken certain steps to ensure our customer’s personal
data are protected against unauthorised use or disclosure.
Personal data collected by the Group will be used or disclosed
only in accordance with our Personal Data (Privacy) Policy
and the Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group values and upholds integrity, fairness,
transparency and accountability. There was no corruption
and fraud identified. Anti-bribery and anti-corruption
standards are important parts of the Group’s policies and
operating practices which are reinforced by our employees
and communicated to key stakeholders who had dealings with
the Group. The Group’s whistle-blowing policies apply to all
stakeholders including employees, shareholders, customers
and suppliers. The whistle-blowing mechanisms allow
stakeholders to report suspected misconduct, malpractices
or fraudulent activities with confidence. Cases reported are
followed up independently and all cases are reported by the
Group’ s internal audit function to the Audit Committee and
executive management. We expect to maintain the highest
standard of values and integrity in the anti-corruption policies
and update it with the latest news of any anti-corruption
regulations and laws to our employees. During the year, the
Group was not aware of any breach of laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to anti-

corruption.

Community Investment

Caring for the society and taking suitable action by acting
as a corporate citizen build up meaningful and supportive
relationships within the communities which we serve. Our
corporation values education as it is the foundation to
building up innovative and meaningful communities which
fosters the education cycle again in society. We sponsored
different higher education institutions and research and
development partnerships for improving their education
quality to foster talent for the technology industry and even
for the whole community. Specifically, we established the
CMMB Vision-University of Washington Joint Research
Centre on Satellite Multimedia and Connected Vehicles
with the University of Electronic Science & Technology
of Electrical Engineering in Seattle, and also the Joint-
Laboratory with the University of Electronic Science &
Technology and the Telematics Industry Applications Alliance
in China which is dedicated to satellite-LTE integrated

multimedia services.
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FIGHT AGAINST COVID-19

During the COVID-19 outbreak in 2022, the Company formed an
emergency management team for pandemic prevention and control
and established an internal prevention and control system. We have
undertaken a series of measures including adopting scientific measures,
strengthening prevention and control education and carrying out massive
prevention and control activities, with a view to comprehensively
ensuring the health and safety of employees.

Anti-pandemic Actions
Protection of employee health

Arranging employees to work from home; distributing masks and other

antipandemic supplies to employees on a regular basis.

Prevention and control measures for workplace

Formulating prevention and control policies on entering and leaving
the office during the outbreak; conscientiously implementing specific
prevention and control measures including personnel management,

detection of body temperature and on-site disinfection.

High-quality Working Environment

The Company is committed to creating better office and service facilities
for employees and improving their happiness.

. An air purification system was installed to improve office air
quality
. The green space was increased in office areas

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Meeting and exceeding our ESG sustainability achievements are
supported by directors, management and employees within the Group as
we continue to achieve our goals and meet stakeholders’ expectations.
Continuous motivation for our talents to reach for higher achievements,
build up harmonious relationships amongst our stakeholders and serve
our community with meaningful and constructive relationships are key
attributes we strive for. In the coming 12 months, the Group will focus
on several aspects to achieve higher sustainability including environment
preservation, talent development, society and community involvement.
The sustainability of the Group’s ESG policies will be carefully
considered when pursuing our future business endeavours. The Group
has and will continue to cultivate a culture of caring for our environment,

people and community.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development
and a description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 6 and 7 to 19 of the annual report
respectively. The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to promoting sustainable development and
focusing on environmental protection in its business operations.
Environmental policies have been adopted by the Group to ensure the

business is conducted in an environmentally-friendly manner.

The Group has also reviewed its environmental policies and performance
from time to time to minimise the environmental impact of its business
operations. During the Year, the Company was not aware of any incidents
of significant non-compliance with relevant environmental policies, laws
and regulations. Details regarding the Group’s environmental policies
and performance are set out in the section “Environmental, Social and

Governance Report” on pages 51 to 62 of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’ s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 100% of the Group’s revenue and approximately 47.6% of

the Group’s revenue was attributable to the largest customer.

For the Year, the Group had two major suppliers due to the nature of
the principal activities of the Group. The largest supplier accounted for
approximately 69.7% of the Group’s cost of sales.

Our major customers include LPTV programmers, electronic
manufacturer and satellite communication company. The years of
business relationship with the Group over 9 years and details of the trade
receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

To reduce related risks, the Group generally continuously monitors the
level of exposure to individual customers to ensure that follow-up actions
and/or corrective actions are taken promptly or to recover overdue
balances and if the receivables have not been paid or other breaches
of contract occur, the Group may deduct part of the credit amount. In
addition, the Group will evaluate potential customer’s credit quality
before determining the credit limit of the new contract.

During the Year, the Group had not experienced any major disruption of
business due to material delay or default of payment by our customers
due to their financial difficulties. We did not have any material dispute

with our customers.

None of the Directors or their respective close associates or any of the
Shareholders (who owns more than 5% of the Company’s number of
the issued shares) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest

customers during the Year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on page 4 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of the Group are set out in notes 14 and

15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of equity-linked agreements entered during the Year or subsisting
at the end of the Year are set out below:

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 29 May 2018, the Company issued US dollar denominated convertible
notes with a principal amount of US$96,000,000 (‘2025 CN”) to Chi
Capital Holdings Ltd. (“CCH”) as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of 20% equity interest in Silkwave Holdings Limited. The
maturity date of the 2025 CN is 28 May 2025 (“2025 CN Maturity
Date”) which is 7 years from the date of issue of the 2025 CN. The 2025
CN are non-interest bearing and mature on 2025 CN Maturity Date at the
principal amount. The 2025 CN are convertible into shares at any time
after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5 business days prior to the
2025 CN Maturity Date at the conversion price of HK$0.4 each share,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable upon
conversion is 1,862,400,000 shares, which represents 41.5% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and outstanding as of
the issue date of the 2025 CN on a fully diluted basis.

The issue of the 2025 CN was split between a liability component
and an equity component in its initial recognition as follows: (i)
Liability component was initially measured at fair value amounted to
approximately US$44,137,000 which represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the
market interest rate applicable to comparable non-convertible bonds. It is
subsequently measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest
rate of 11.41% per annum; and (ii) Equity component, which was equal
to the difference between the principal and the fair value of the liability
component, amounted to approximately US$51,863,000 was presented
in equity as convertible notes reserve. Pursuant to terms and conditions
of the 2025 CN, the conversion price and the number of conversion
shares to be issued upon the exercise of conversion rights attached to
the outstanding 2025 CN were adjusted to HK$8 and 84,390,000 shares
respectively upon the completion of the share consolidation on 12
November 2019. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 2025 CN,
the conversion price of and the number of conversion Shares to be issued
upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the outstanding 2025
CN were adjusted to HK$8.088 and 83,471,810 Shares respectively with
retrospective effect from 18 February 2020, being the next day following
the record date of the Rights Issue.
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The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of 2025 CN
being converted shall be calculated by using the fixed exchange rate of
HK$7.76 per US$1.00.

On 29 June 2021,
(the “2028 CN Subscription Agreement”) to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible notes in principal amount of
US$65,000,000 (the “2028 CN”) and the said amounts shall be satisfied
by fully setting off against all of the 2025 CN. The 2028 CN shall mature

on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue thereof.

the Company entered into a subscription agreement

The conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share represents: (i) a premium
of approximately 22.81% to the closing price of HK$0.285 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 29 June 2021, being the date of
the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement; (ii) a premium of approximately
20.69% to the average closing price of HK$0.290 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five trading days up to and including
the date of the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement; and (iii) a premium
of approximately 19.25% to the average closing price of HK$0.294 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last ten trading days up
to and including the date of the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement. Based
on the conversion price of HK$0.35 per conversion Share, a maximum
number of 1,444,857,142 conversion Shares will be allotted and issued
upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the 2028 CN in full.

The transaction shall benefit the Company by greatly enhancing the
probability for the CN holder to convert the liability into share equity,
and it will strengthen the Company’s balance sheet and allow the
Company to engage in strategic and capital markets opportunities to
significantly grow and expand its businesses while revamping as a

significant operating concern.

CCH is a substantial Shareholder, which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr.
WONG Chau Chi, the chief executive of the Group, an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board, and is therefore a connected person of
the Company. Accordingly, the subscription of the 2028 CN constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Deed of Amendment was approved by the Shareholders other than
CCH and the connected persons of the Company and their respective
associates at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
19 August 2021 and the issue of 2028 CN was approved by the Stock
Exchange subsequently.
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As at 31 December 2022, the principal amount of the outstanding 2028
CN amounted to US$20,000,000. Assuming that there is no change in
the number of issued Shares since 31 December 2022 and the conversion
rights attached to the outstanding 2028 CN are exercised in full, the
number of issued Shares will be increased by 444,571,428, representing
approximately 28.8% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e.
1,541,861,318 Shares) and approximately 22.38% of the issued Shares
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion Shares (i.e.
1,986,432,746 Shares).

Dilution effect of the conversion of 2028 CN

Set out below is the dilution effect on equity interest of the substantial
Shareholders upon the fully conversion of the outstanding 2028 CN by
CCH.

o
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2022

Upon full conversion of
Convertible Notes
as at 31 December 2022
RoZ -4 +-A=+—H

42 22 i RoBR-#+H=+—H 4 T 46 T 3 R R R Iy
Approximately Approximately
Number % of Number % of
of Shares issued Shares of Shares issued Shares
fiff © B AT I oy i & B AT B A5y
&0 B E R4 E 4 b & 8 H BEZ) B 40 b
CCH 809,566,873 52.51 1,254,138,301 63.14
CCH
Chi Capital Securities Limited (“CCS”) 95,682,773 6.21 95,682,273 4.82

Chi Capital Securities Limited ([CCS )

O

CCS is wholly-owned by CCH Ltd, and CCH Ltd is wholly-owned by Mr.
Wong Chau Chi. Hence, Mr. Wong Chau Chi is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by CCH and CCS. Therefore, the outstanding 2028 CN
would not be converted fully as it would result in the number of Shares
which are in the hands of the public falling below 25% of the issued
Shares.

Dilution impact on loss per Share

As calculated based on loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately US$28.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
basic and diluted loss per share of the Company amounted to US2.3

cents.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The directors adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) which was duly passed at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 18 December 2015. Details of the Share Option
Scheme are set out in the circular of the Company dated 2 December
2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. All directors, executives, suppliers of
goods or services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group, shareholders
of any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the Group and
any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or may
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
after the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is 2 years.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 18
December 2015 (the “General Scheme Limit”). The Company may renew
the General Scheme Limit with shareholders’ approval provided that each
such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue

as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.
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Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-months period shall not exceed 1% of the issued shares of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the date
of the offer for grant of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1
is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period to be determined and notified by the directors
to each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the grant of options is made but shall not end later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option, subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the directors
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding
of an option before it can be exercised.

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the

shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 47,059,333, representing approximately 3.05% of the issued
Shares as at the date of the annual report.

The Group has recognized share-based payments expense in profit or loss
of approximately US$2.0 million related to equity-settled share-based

payment transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Details of the share option movement during the Year under the Share A4S 4F J& » il I RE 5T 51 JER 110 B I BE 5 &)

Option Scheme are as follows: G SR
o
Number of share options
i I E 1
Weighted
Closing price average closing
of the Shares price of the
immediately Shares before
before the date Outstanding Outstanding the date(s)
on which the as at Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled asat of the shares
Name of options were 1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 December  Validity period of the Exercise options were
the grantees Date of grant granted 2022 Year Year Year Year 2022 share options price exercised
T
REWRE ROF-CE e St TotiE A
2 1 i i KA A A REE  +ZASE-H BRES et 2 e
RENES BPAY Bt 2 Wi AT (5541 ki) Bk (i WARHE AR Frii b T4t 1
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
(#7) (i#7) (i#7)
Directors
#H
Mr. Wong Chau Chi 20 January 2021 0.245 270,000 - - - 270,000 - 20 January 2021 to 0.275 -
19 January 2024
EHE A ot St “EC-E-ATtHHE
—A=+H “ZoNE-A AR
Dr. Liu Hui 20 January 2021 0.245 270,000 - - - 270,000 - 20 January 2021 to 0.275 -
19 January 2024
Bt e S e Sk S sy ol
AZtH “E-NE-A LR
28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 -
27 July 2025
e St ZECCELAZTARE
tHAZHAH “RCRELAZTLH
M. Yang Yi 20 January 2021 0.245 270,000 - - - 270,000 - 20 January 2021 to 0.275 -
19 January 2024
R o S “E--F-At+HE
3 “ECNE-ATAH
28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 -
27 July 2025
sl ECCEEACHARE
tAZ+AR ZERCREEAZTLH
Mr. Chou Tsan-Hsiung 20 January 2021 0.245 270,000 = = 270,000 = - 20 January 2021 to 0.275 =
19 January 2024
Je e e A e St “ECE-fTtAE
=H SygH “F-WE-AHRA
28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 -
27 July 2025
e “ECCEEASHARE
LHZHAH “ECRFEACHEA
Mr. Lui Chun Pong 28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 -
27 July 2025
AR EL g “RCCEEACTARE
tAZ+AR ZERZREEAZTLH
Dr. Li Jun 20 January 2021 0.245 270,000 - - 270,000 - - 20 January 2021 to 0275 -
19 January 2024
3R % & “ECE-fTtAE
—H=+H “Z-ME-AAA
28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 -
27 July 2025
o St ZRZCEEAZTARE
LHZFHAH “ECRFEACHEH
o
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° Number of share options
i ¢ e 1
Weighted
Closing price average closing
of the Shares price of the
immediately Shares before
before the date Outstanding Outstanding the date(s)
on which the as at Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled as at of the shares
Name of options were 1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 December  Validity period of the Exercise options were
the grantees Date of grant granted 2022 Year Year Year Year 2022 share options price exercised
T
RUMmME  R-FSCE REZZZE Fr b8 A i
A7 th % i =1l HAERE AAERE A REE  FSASTR WRES et 2
KBNS HFHM Ittt 2 e i A7 B (55411 BA7fE R it WA AR (i F i B
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
(#75) (#71) (#75)
Mr. Chow Kin Wing 20 January 2021 0.245 45,000 - - - 45,000 - 20 January 2021 to 0.275 -
19 January 2024
ke St e St “F--#-AZtHZE
—A=+H “Z-NE-AAR
28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 800,000 - - 500,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 0.600
27 Iuly 2025
Y S SECCEEAZHARR
tAZ+AR “F-nEEACtEA
Mr. Tam Hon Wah 28 July 2022 0.350 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 -
27 July 2025
AEELE e St “EZEEACHARE
EAZ+AH “ECREEASTEA
Employees 20 January 2021 0.245 320,000 - 320,000 - - - 20 January 2021 to 0.275 0.720
19 January 2024
[ “Z_—#& “EHE-AZTHE
—AZ+H ZZ-NE-A T
14 September 2021 0.250 384,200 - 384,200 - - - 14 September 2021 to 0.300 0.720
13 September 2024
—EAATNEE
28 July 2022 0.350 - 37,300,000 35,300,000 - - 2,000,000 0.400 0316
Y S
tAZ+AR
Consultants 28 July 2022 0.350 - 73,740,000 46,240,000 - - 27,500,000 28 July 2022 to 0.400 0.359
(Note 2) 27 July 2025
B b St (Wf3E2) “ECCEEASHARE
EAZHAH ZECRELAZTLH
O
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Notes:

2

Upon acceptance of the share options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. The Company has received such

consideration from the respective grantees.

These share options were granted to the consultants of the Company (the
“Consultants™).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the backgrounds of the Consultants
are as follows:

Consultant A and B

Consultant A and B are independent third parties and have been acting in
a consulting capacity to the Company and have played a significant role in
procuring and facilitating the share placements of the Company. Consultant
A and B were granted with 12,000,000 Share Options each respectively on
28 July 2022.

Consultant C

Consultant C is an independent third party and has been working on the
coordination with various Chinese-based entities to introduce and promote
our satellite-mobile multimedia services for the year ended 31 December
2019. Consultant C was granted with 12,000,000 Share Options on 28 July
2022.

Consultant D

Consultant D is an independent third party and has played a significant
role in procuring and facilitating the share placements of the Company.
Consultant D was granted with 12,000,000 Share Options on 28 July 2022.

Consultant E

Consultant E is an independent third party and has played a significant
role in procuring and facilitating the share placements of the Company.
Consultant E was granted with 12,000,000 Share Options on 28 July 2022.

Consultant F

Consultant F is an independent third party, rendering a wide range of
services encompassing both capital and money market activities for
various transactions, including but not limited to project advisory service;
planning for M&A and assisting with their smooth carry out; etc, such as
the potential Smart city internet of things project (for details please refer
to announcement of the Company dated 24 June 2022). Consultant F was
granted with 6,000,000 Share Options on 28 July 2022.

Consultant G

Consultant G is an independent third party, and was granted with 7,740,000
Share Options on 28 July 2022 for rendering accounting and financial
advisory support to the Group to deal with financial institutions and

regulators for various transactions.
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Save as disclosed herein, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed

and cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the Year.

The fair values of the share options granted during the Year was measured
based on the binomial option pricing model. The measurement date used
in the valuation calculations were the date on which the share options

Directors’ Report
EFOREE

R AR ST 48 5 A o A AR A R AR B B HE AR
9% B0 B MEE AR > AT SR AR R B

TP A A JRE 452 i i S M ) 2 SF- (BT AR % — T X
YR (R A 2T & o A (E R BB () Bt
30 5y 452 B RO 1) 10 o K i A B

were granted. The inputs into the model were as follows: FaE
O
28 July TR

Grant date of the share options B RER B 2022 LHAZ=+N\H
Exercise price 7 A HK$0.40 0.40% 7T
Expected price volatility TEUHA A% R 77.241% 77.241%
Expected option period T3 B PSR A i 3 years 34F
Risk-free rate (based on Hong Kong i R B B 2R (A A s b T

Exchange Fund Notes) EE&TH) 2.665% 2.665%
Expected dividend yield T I i S 2 0% 0%
Fair value NS IE HK$15,401,000 15,401,000 T

O

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of the share
price of the Company and its comparable companies. The expected life
used in the model was adjusted, based on management’s best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral

considerations.

The option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the volatility of share price. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not have in aggregate reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders as at 31 December 2022. Under the Companies Law
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
amounted to approximately US$72.0 million as at 31 December 2022 is
available for distributions to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Director

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Mr. YANG Yi

Mr. LUI Chun Pong (appointed on 28 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. LI Jun
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing
Mr. TAM Hon Wah

In accordance with Article 108(A) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting (“AGM”) one third of the directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr.
WONG Chau Chi, Dr. LI Jun and Mr. CHOW Kin Wing will retire from
the office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

According to article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting.

A circular containing an explanatory statement on the Company
repurchasing its shares, the biographical details of the director candidates

and the notice of AGM will be sent to shareholders of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

(i) Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
shares options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the
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M RAT BN B YA R B
HE HE 3
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LER L INE TRl 3 INE e
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Company
o
Interests in
underlying
Number of Ordinary Shares Shares
7 R IR It A
38 i B H FY) B 25
Approximate
Interests in percentage
Beneficial a controlled Share of the issued
Names of Directors owner corporation options Total Shares
25 M 15 & B AT B
HEWRH HasEA A B B 25 Vi % il HE BEZ T 4 b
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(B 5ED) (B 5E2)
Mr. WONG Chan Chi (“Mr. Wong”) - 1,349,820,574 - 1,349,820,574 87.54%
WA A (T4 ]) (Notes 3 and 4)
(B 53 K24)
Dr. LIU Hui - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.08%
B H 1
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.08%
Mr. YANG Yi - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.08%
[} &t
Mr. LUI Chun Pong - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.08%
e IR e e
Dr. LI Jun - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.08%
FH £
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing 800,000 - 500,000 1,300,000 0.08%
J ek
Mr. TAM Hon Wah - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.08%

O
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(i)

76

Notes:

1. These share options represent the awarded underlying Shares granted
to the Directors under the share option scheme of the Company
(the “Share Option Scheme”) which was adopted on 18 December
2015. Details of the Share Option Scheme have been disclosed in the

section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

25 WA R A RN AR = F — T
o s AN 7S U
(S Fse A ) 1) 52 7 5 25 119 A4 5 5
JBe 3 o A el S O it ) R R
JEHE R ) | — B 4 R

2. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of 2. HEBSWIIEIN _F T
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 1,541,861,318 Shares). HE+—HC A7 ik g 4% (R
1,541,861,3 18 e 173 ) wH 45 -
3. Of these 1,349,920,574 Shares, 1,254,132,301 Shares are held by the 3. #%%51,349,920,574 8 4 - CCHER R
CCH. CCH is wholly-owned by Mr. Wong. 1,254,132,301 X - CCHH # ek &2 &
A -
4. Of these 1,349,920,574 Shares, 95,682,273 Shares are held by CCS, 4. #%551,349,920,574 1% e i > CCHR &
which is wholly owned by CCH. Accordingly, Mr. Wong is deemed HEH 1 CCSHEH 95,682,273/ » A Ut »
to be interested in the Shares held by CCS. A AR B 2 TR CCS R 1Y 1 4 v B
HHESS o
Long positions in the underlying Shares of the convertible notes (i) 7 A 2 w] W] 6 j 5% 8% Y& T A B Bt 1 1)
of the Company: YA
O
Principal Number of the Approximate

amount of the

total underlying

percentage of

Name of the holder of the convertible notes convertible notes Shares the issued Shares
CIE Y% i B8 AT B A
CE Y &3 2 DN VN HH B B oy 48 8 BEA A 4 b
(Note)
(KF5E)
CCH (Note 2) US$20,000,000 444,571,428 28.83%
CCH (F5E2) 20,000,000 &
O
Notes: [ 5E -
1. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of 1. HREBASWIEN _F ZF
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 1,541,861,318 Shares). A=+ —H i 847 kg A % (R
1,541,861, 318 A3 ) w5 H A5 i o
2. These convertible notes were issued by the Company on 3 September 2. AN ERZFEZ—FJLH =HMCCH

2021 to CCH to fully set off against the amounts due by the
Company to CCH under the previous convertible notes held by CCH.
These convertible notes are unlisted, interest-free and convertible into
the Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share. As CCH is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong is deemed to
be interested in these convertible notes held by CCH.
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All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares

and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives of
the Company or their associates had any interests or short positions,
whether beneficial or non-beneficial, in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2022 as required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS
DEBENTURES

TO PURCHASE SHARES OR

Except as disclosed above and disclosed in notes 24 and 26 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,

or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS ’> INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (not being a Director or

chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

(i) Long Positions in the Shares

O

B S WE N PN
R B S IR A

W oFE - HEFTH=+—H> T AL (I
I o AR N R s AT BN B R R B A
B e 3 vh A ZEAR 98 55 5 ) B R B S XV
P 552 K 347 % 14 A0 SC 1) AR A B 4 75 5 ZHFEA
AN R AR BRI T B B A5 0 56 33605 A7 LY
e A A R SR A

(i) RBEmira

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Shares held issued Shares

15 B 8 AT Ikt

Jt % B B0 H BEZE b

(Note 1)

(BH5EL)

1,254,138,301 (Note 2) 81.34%
(Bt 5E2)

95,682,273 (Note 3) 6.21%
(B 5E3)

95,682,273 (Note 3) 6.21%
(Bff5E3)

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interests

i 5 44 1 Lty HE 25 PR

CCH Beneficial owner

CCH Ha A A
Interests in a controlled corporation
% V5 B ) HE A7

CCS Beneficial owner

CCs Bl A A

O

Notes:

78

These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 1,541,861,318 Shares).

These Shares are hold by CCH. CCH is solely and beneficially

owned by Mr. Wong.

These Shares are held by CCS. CCS is wholly-owned by CCH.

SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

. ZEHQWHIER _-F . _F+
HZ=1—HME 17T B0 88 (8
1,541,861,318 B B 1) 5HA 454 -

2. WS MY HCCHFF A - CCHH # Sk
E A o

3. % 5 & Ay B CCSHF /7 - CCSH CCHA:
BEHEA o



(ii) Long positions in the underlying Shares of the convertible notes
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(i) P A o ) T 6 e R R OH T A B A 4
WA

of the Company:
O

Name of the holder of
the convertible notes

Principal amount of
the convertible notes

Approximate
Number of the total
underlying Shares

percentage of the
issued Shares

1 AT B
R EREA AN T 40 i SR AR A T A ey 48 88 BEA) B 4 b
(Note 1)
(BFF5ED)
CCH (Note 2) US$20,000,000 444,571,428 28.83%
CCH (F5E2) 20,000,000 7G
e
Notes: Bt 5 -
1. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of 1. ZEAMER R

issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 1,541,861,318 Shares).

2. These convertible notes were issued by the Company on 3 September
2021 to CCH to fully set off against the amounts due by the
Company to CCH under the previous convertible notes held by CCH.
These convertible notes are unlisted, interest-free and convertible into
the Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share. As CCH is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong is deemed to
be interested in these convertible notes held by CCH.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person, other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are
set out in the SEcTION “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares

that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the Year, there was not any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which required
the compliance with the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details
of material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either exempt
from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, or did not fall
under the definition of connected transactions or continuing connected

transactions as defined in the Listing Rules.

H="1—HME 47 kM8 (R
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Except as disclosed, during the Year, none of the Directors had any
interests in a competing business to the Group which was required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and motivate
talented individuals to contribute to the success of its business. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated and
reviewed by management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company currently has a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to
directors, executives and any other eligible persons, details of which are

set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those Hong Kong employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme, which contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme (the
“Central Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the “Defined
Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local municipal government,
which these subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage,
which was pre-determined by the local municipal government, of the
sum of basic salary and allowance of employees to the Central Pension
Scheme. The contributions by the Group for the Defined Contribution
Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the relevant rules of the respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest fully
and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for each of the
two years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022, there was
no forfeiture of contributions under the Defined Contribution Schemes;
and (ii) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group
to reduce its existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022.
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For each of the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2022, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors shall be indemnified against all losses and liabilities
which they may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged the appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any holders of securities of the Company
who are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their holding
of such securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the best knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors consider that the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER

On 26 November 2021, the Company has received a conversion notice
from CCH for the exercise of the conversion rights attached to the 2028
CN to exercise a total of 108,571,428 Shares (the “Partial Conversion
Shares”) at HK$0.35 per Share. The 108,571,428 Partial Conversion
Shares have been issued to CCH on 30 November 2021 (the “Partial
Conversion”).
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Immediately after the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion
Shares, the number of issued shares of the Company has been increased
to 479,374,860 Shares and the Partial Conversion Shares represent
approximately 29.28% of the total issued shares of the Company
immediately before the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion
Shares and approximately 22.65% of the total issued shares of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion

Shares.

Furthermore, on 1 December 2021 the Company was also informed by
CCH before trading hours of the Stock Exchange that CCH has purchased
(the “Purchases”) on the market an aggregate of 103,428,000 Shares (the
“Sale Share(s)”), representing approximately 21.58% of the total issued
shares of the Company as at the date of the Purchases, through block
trade transactions on the Stock Exchange during the pre-market opening
session on 1 December 2021 at HK$0.40 per Sale Share and completion
took place simultaneously.

The vendors of the Sale Shares and their ultimate beneficial owners are
independent third parties who are not connected persons of CCH and
its connected persons or party(ies) acting in concert with CCH (“CCH’s
Concert Parties”) as determined in accordance with the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs (the “Takeovers Code”).

Immediately prior to the Partial Conversion and the completion of the
Purchases (the “Completion”), CCH and CCH’s Concert Parties owned
(i) an aggregate of 33,429,268 Shares, representing approximately
9.02% of the total issued shares of the Company immediately before the
allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion Shares; (ii) 270,000 share
options granted and outstanding under the Share Option Scheme; and
(iii) the 2028 CN in the aggregate principal amount of US$65,000,000.
Immediately after the Partial Conversion and the Completion, CCH and
CCH’s Concert Parties are in aggregate interested in (i) 245,428,696
Shares, representing approximately 51.20% of the total issued shares of
the Company as at the date of the Completion; (ii) 270,000 share options
granted and outstanding under the Share Option Scheme; and (iii) the
2028 CN in the outstanding amount of US$60.1 million. In accordance
with Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, CCH made a mandatory
unconditional cash offer for all the issued Shares other than those Shares
already owned by CCH and CCH’s Concert Parties (the “Offer Shares”)
in accordance with the terms as set out in the composite offer document
and the response document jointly despatched by the Company and CCH
on 14 January 2022 (the “Composite Document”) in accordance with
the Takeovers Code (the “Share Offer”). CCH also made a cash offer to
the holders of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme in compliance with Rule 13 of the Takeovers Code to
cancel all the share options granted and outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme (the “Offer Options™) (the “Option Offer”).
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As of the close of the Share Offer and the Option Offer (collectively,
the “Offers”) on 4 February 2022, CCH received: (i) 8 valid acceptances
in respect of a total of 152,469 Offer Shares under the Share Offer,
representing approximately 0.032% of the entire issued Shares as at
the close of the Offers;
total of 585,000 Offer Options under the Option Offer, representing
approximately 31.98% of all the Offer Options as at the date of the
Composite Document. Accordingly, CCH and CCH’s Concert Parties held
a total of 245,581,165 shares, representing approximately 51.15% of the

and (ii) 3 valid acceptances in respect of a

issued Shares immediately after completion of the Offers.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 7 December
2021, 9 December 2021, 28 December 2021, 14 January 2022 and 4
February 2022 and the Composite Document for details of the Offers.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of the special resolution approving the
proposed change of company name of the Company (the “Change of
Company Name”) by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 18 May 2022 and the Certificate
of Incorporation on Change of Name was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands on 23 June 2022, the English name of
the Company has been changed from “CMMB Vision Holdings Limited”
to “Silkwave Inc” and “HHEE4E A PR/ 7" has been adopted as the
Chinese name of the Company to replace [l B £ I fl J35 4% ¢
AR/, The Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name of
Registered Non-Hong Kong Company was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Hong Kong on 11 July 2022 confirming the registration
of the new name of the Company in Hong Kong under Part XVI of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The stock short name of the Company has been changed from “CMMB
VISION” in English and “H1#%&#£/” in Chinese to “SILKWAVE INC”
in English and “* 4% #{#£” in Chinese, for trading in the Shares on the
Stock Exchange with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 12 August 2022.
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Directors’ Report
EFORLE

The stock code of the Company on the Stock Exchange remains
unchanged as “471”.

The website of the Company has been changed to “www.silkwave.com.hk™
to reflect the Change of Company Name.

Details of the change of name of the Company were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 April 2022 and the announcements of
the Company dated 29 March 2022, 18 May 2022 and 9 August 2022,
respectively.

On behalf of the Board

WONG Chau Chi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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LINKSFIELD

CPA LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SILKWAVE INC

B 76 WO AR 2w iR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(74 B 2 5 3t W oz 2 AR 2 Al

OPINION

What we have audited

Independent Auditor’s Report

B 2 RS =

LINKSFIELD CPA LIMITED
SEEN G EBER AR

Room 2001-02, 20/F., Podium Plaza, 5 Hanoi Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

BB S IR AES S A 02018 2001-02F

| S ]
IS

BECERBAN

The consolidated financial statements of Silkwave Inc (the “Company”)  FFIEHIE A R A A ([ &2 A1) K H g A
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 93 to 200, ) ([ 5 & H |) #5593 2200 H I 4% & B B

comprise: R AL

. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December  * WoE - HEtA=1T—"HWES
2022; IABS AR LK 5

. the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive BEZHILFEENEGSE R LS
income for the year then ended; T AL i 2% 5

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then BEZH ILFEENG GRS R
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; BEZHIEFENGAEHERER X
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include R0 BA R BB E > AL T T

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

S L FLAt AR AR R

20224 FEH, PR BUR A R A F 85



Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B AR S

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for

the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment

assessment of intangible assets.

Key audit matter

[3A) 4 A% o 0H

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

JETE & 7 WA 7 A

Refer to note 15 and note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

2 B ARG B W R M RE 15 BB k17

B 2 RS =

oA B % % 35 0H

AR A A Fry 23 40 B - B R A A O 2 TR
LA AR B W R T B R -
A 7 25 R B AR T B R SRt Y R
YIRS B 52 55 S IE > TR &t a% % 2 H B
BRER-

FRAM A7E 7 A% v bl ) 11 ) S o A o I B T
TE (L A A R o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
F A i A Gt G foy g BE BH 8 % 9 IE

In the evaluation of management’s impairment
assessments over the intangible assets balance, we

have performed the following:

As disclosed in note 15, the Group has intangible assets which
represents the spectrum usage rights held by the Group with an
indefinite useful life as at 31 December 2022.

AR B RIS SR > AR —F T A= AR AR
IR ol R 4 300 F) A ol ) B e T O o

Besides, as disclosed in note 17, the Group’s holds 20% equity
interest in an associate, Silkwave Holdings Limited (“Silkwave”).
Silkwave, through its wholly owned subsidiary, holds the satellite
intangible asset, including right to occupy the orbit slot and broadcast
spectrum.

B Ab o Gl R B SR 17 BT B % o AS 4 B R — [ B 2 R Silkwave
Holdings Limited ([ Silkwave ] )20%HE %5 o Silkwaveds i H: 4 & [
Jag§ 2 ) 5 A ke R AR E o L WU L % B % T

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the Group is
required to, at least annually, test intangible asset with indefinite life
for impairment; and for other intangible assets, the Group is required
to test for impairment when there are impairment indicators.
REBEFEGFEANS WIEEWE] > BEEAEZDIEES
R R 68 ) 30 109 0 T S AR AT IR (EL 0 R 5 T B LAt SR 3 E i
o AR A AE R B B > AT (W

TR VA A BT S R L A S Y R A AR T A
ZWAERFAG S > A AT LT T

Evaluated the composition of the Group’s
future cash flow forecasts in developing
the VIU calculations of all the CGUs, and
the process by which they were drawn up,
including testing the underlying calculations
and comparing the forecasts to the latest
budgets approved by the management;

PEAE AR BT B AR R AT
FMBEAE 2 2 AR AR B 4 Ui B ¥ ) 22 AL AL 70
Fo Hoff 2 @A > B R0 B w3 RN
T B A = e UE 2 R T A W LR

Understood the impairment triggering events
through discussions with management and
corroborated management’s assessment with
supporting evidence;

375 it B LT ) i e LA R R B
Al Al > IR AR SO B 2 A
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B 2B AR S

Key audit matter

B &t 7 1% A

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

JETE B i 1 7T A

Management performs the impairment assessments with support
from external valuers. The recoverable amount of the underlying
CGUs is supported by value-in-use calculations which are based on
future discounted cash flows. These assessments involved significant
management judgments and estimates in the determination of
valuation model and the application of assumptions in the model,
including forecasted revenue growth rate, profit margin, terminal
growth rate, and discount rate used in the projection period.

TE SN UE Ak (EL A 2 185 B > A8 B R A AT Bl (B0 57 Ah o A B B0 < AR R
2 9 FT A [T < R bR R A R A B BB B U B BT R R R R M
5 o 5% 5 B Al B0 R T A R S i R BY % A w2 A BY b BT IR
A9 B B 2 KA B K A wt o B A S TR ] B R 2 BB A =
R PR B RBERFTB R

Intangible assets held by the Group
I B 15 1 1Y T B

As a result of the impairment assessment, the Group recognised
impairment for the spectrum usage rights of US$3,648,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022. After the impairment losses
recognised during the year, the Group had intangible asset of
US$44,031,000.

B BRE R AEMEREE 2 - F+ A=+ —HILF
JBE W (S5 R el (L 773,648,000 35 T o T A 4 JEE e R ol (L s $E 4K
A 5K [ B 444,031,000 7T M TE B -

Intangible assets held by Silkwave
Silkwave#F 5 19 #EJE B

As a result of the impairment assessment, the Group recognised a
share of loss of an associate of US$20,269,000. The loss is primarily
driven by the impairment of satellite related assets in the financial
statements of the associate.

R TR L A AR A (9] e R B A5 — ] I 2% W A 4R £520,269,000
%70 © Ml 18 5 B o A 8 O m BB iR Tk i R A R O U (B P
o

We focused on this area because the size of impairment losses
recognised during the year was significant and the management’s
impairment assessments involved significant judgments and estimates.
AP S A MR > G T AR A R e R (R TR e R T
i L 1 (L A 9 B TR A B A
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
FAM B G (o B B R G A B 2 UH

. Assessed the key assumptions including the
revenue growth rate and profit margin in
the forecast with reference to management’s
development plans and past results of
operation of the CGUs;
GG B RG B Bl e EERMZ
WK E A M EER®R 6
5 TR 2 WA B = 38 e M &5

. Assessed the discount rates used in the
forecast by comparing to relevant external
sources of market data with the assistance of
our internal valuation specialists;

75 08 1A B A B S R 2 o Bl > EL R B A T
T 85 B AR U R AL BT 2 I B

. Assessed the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management.

R A B AT 2 8 L A WA (R A B
B B R B -

We found management’s judgments and estimates
applied on the impairment assessments in respect
of the intangible assets were supported by available
evidence.

FoAM 5 A 8 BE U STV P AR 8 (E R AN A A
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

90 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

B B 9 B A S A R AT

M BB AR e B RR M LS A
A AE B R B R BRI (A i JFL TR B R
) B2 4 S B AR > I B — O A AN A
T SLTE R A B R e A B (fF
M) WOl RAMTA R R BRItz 5 > f 4 H
e B9 o BAM AN AR i B R e AT T
e Nt B B SURSEAL AT B AT - 4 A BEAR R
T e B U E  (EE AN RE R AR IR (B
FHHEQI) AT B AR REAR A R AFE N
R S R I o R K B R R Tl TR B
e 51 - EL i A B TR R R R (R B B
RS R B SE A A B R AR T A R
PLIR > BB 2y R B R A

TEMRYE CEREFRELD) ETFHARE S
FRAM A1 H S B 7 R R S 3 B e B JEE
A I -

o RO B A AR T ik R R K B R
e B T B (S i HG e R B8R R 5
) BT KO i A AR LB
JEUBgE - Sl AT T 43 Bt R 7 R IR AR
R BAM AR o K AE 8% BLGHE B
QUGN SO NN N
i 5| L R S it R B Ja o R R
FEATREE W A A R WEE T
AL BRI BB B S i il 2 E o

o IR BELEE AN IR G R R A D DA R R AR
HHFER T EIMIES T HEM
TA) IS 22 7 ) A R R L -



Independent Auditor’s Report

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B AR S

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Tsz Yeung.

Linksfield CPA Limited
Certitied Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEREmMEMEENRAER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

2022 2021
US$’000 US$’000
T Tt
Revenue A 5 8,551 5,723
Cost of sales B B A 9 (6,089) (4,215)
Gross profit B 2,462 1,508
Other income, net At e A AR 6 27 42
Gain on redemption of convertible notes [ [1] AJ # ¥ Z2 48 2 Wi 4 24 = 19,905
Administrative expenses T BB X 9 (3,536) (1,796)
Market development and promotion T 357 B % % 4 6 BH S
expenses 9 (1,584) (1,109)
Finance costs 85 ) A 7 (2,402) (5,134)
Other expenses HAth BH 52 (337) (158)
Share of results of an associate JHE A1k W 5 2 R ) SE AR 17 (20,269) (44,280)
Impairment loss recognised on MY & O R R e (E e 18
intangible assets 15 (3,648) (5,106)
Impairment loss recognised under A TE S B SR A AL R FERR Y
expected credit loss model RN Fi5! (223) -
Loss on replacement of intangible asset 4T & & 2 i 18 15 - (1,843)
Loss before tax B L i s 1B (29,510) (37,971)
Income tax expense JIT 45 B BA 52 8 7) -
Loss for the year A i 1R (29,527) (37,971)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, HAt 2w (E5i8) WA >
net of tax B BEIH
Item that may be reclassified to FEN T EEEEZHEE :
profit or loss:
— Exchange differences arising on — BN EB R E
translation of foreign operations T 58, 25 %A (2,130) 778
— Share of exchange differences of — JRE AL W 2 D ) B 50 2
an associate 17 2 19
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, HAth 2 H (E518) Uk A >
net of tax TR BLIA (2,128) 797
Total comprehensive loss for the year AF 1N 2 T i 48 AR AR (31,655) (37,174)
Loss for the year attributable to: DL 2 T JE Al 47 9 s 48 -
Owners of the Company EN/NETE DN (27,973) (35.,437)
Non-controlling interest IF e B BE 15 (1,554) (2,534)
Loss for the year CIN) i (29,527) (37,971)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
e Bm MEMEE WS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

2022 2021
RO =g = —4F
NOTES US$°000 US$’000
Bt F%n %5t
Total comprehensive loss for the VL & JEHEA R N
year attributable to: 2 H) 5 4H R R -
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE: XN (30,136) (34,640)
Non-controlling interest I 5 I £ (1,519) (2,534)
(31,655) (37,174)
US cents US cents
F il ZAl
Loss per share 5 It i 18 13
Basic HeA (2.3) (10.38)
Diluted 1 v (2.3) (12.88)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

N

AR e MR R

As at 31 December 2022
R_F 1+ —H=+—H

2022 2021
- Sy TR T AR
US$’°000 US$’000
T%76 F*0
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I i B B
Property, plant and equipment W - B Tk A 14 27 83
Intangible assets LG = 15 44,031 47,679
Interests in an associate AT N w A B A 17 60,337 80,604
Right-of-use assets i R 16 513 34
Financial asset at fair value through DEANS SR X N8 G E = b
profit or loss 4 & 18 - —
104,908 128,400
CURRENT ASSETS i< g3
Trade and other receivables 5y B Ho A IRE i 3K TE 19 2,344 1,592
Amount due from a related company JRRE Wi B W D IE 22 4,513 3,863
Amount due from an associate EE llﬁ k= S/NEIE/ @) 22 1,338 979
Bank balances and cash T & R Iﬁé 20 1,718 1,042
9,913 7,476
CURRENT LIABILITIES b RE R
Trade and other payables B 5y B F A A B 21 3,217 5,988
Amounts due to shareholders JRE ASH g ok JA 23 - 246
Lease liabilities A E 16 269 26
Tax payable JRE A5 B T 355 338
3,841 6,598
NET CURRENT ASSETS Wi B & A A 6,072 878
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B RS AN T B A £
LIABILITIES 110,980 129,278
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I i B £ %
Convertible notes CIE: VX 24 13,684 35,593
Lease liabilities I =K 16 282 7
13,966 35,600
NET ASSETS & e A 97,014 93,678
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Conso|io|ateo| Statement of Financial Position

ARa MBI R

As at 31 December 2022
NEFE A=+ —H

2022 2021
- Y 3 B
US$’000 US$’000
T T%£t

CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR ik i
Share capital e A 25 39,597 12,295
Share premium and reserves J% A5y Y A I fh e 43,983 66,395

Equity attributable to the owners of the A S A N AL HE 25

Company 83,580 78,690
Non-controlling interests IF e B RE 15 13,434 14,988
TOTAL EQUITY HE % 48 B 97,014 93,678

The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 200 were approved 2893 Z 200 E 1 47 & M 5 ¥ 3k € & &= o b
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and & — = 4F = F =+ H #t fE AR RE T 45 > 3

are signed on its behalf by: NSRS
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
#HH #HH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mAERAEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

At 1 January 2021

Loss for the year

Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations

Share of exchange difference of an associate

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Issue of shares by placement
Exercise of share options
Cancellation of share options
Recognition of equity component
of convertible debts
Conversion of convertible notes
Redemption of convertible notes
Recognition of equity settled share-based
payments expense

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

Loss for the year

Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations

Share of exchange difference of an associate

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Issue of shares by placement

Exercise of share options

Cancellation of share options

Conversion of convertible notes

Recognition of equity settled share-based
payments expense

At 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

KA WA NN
Attributable
Share Convertible to non-
Share Share Merger  Distributable option Capital notes  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interest equity
LE 1K M
Bk BBGE OB WAWRE  RWRMERE  RARE  RERE  ERRG  RHER Mat o ML RN
USS'000  USS'000  USS'000 USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000 USS000  US$000  USS'000  US$000
TEx  T#Ex  T¥x T#5x T T T¥5x T¥x T¥r  FEx FEr  FEx
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
(W) (M) (W3kiii)
R-ZZ—%—-A—H T 8750 31987 129,757 86 2,110 47,001 (18) (155607 106,103 1752 13625
ENER - - - - - - - = (35431)  (35437) (2534 (3197
BEEIER R E LN
EREH - - - - - - - 778 - 78 o 718
EEAAANELES - - E - < - - 19 = 19 = 19
ERATERYHE - - - - - - - 797 (35437)  (34,640) 53%) (114
DAL 7 R AT R 1,500 1,125 - - - - - - - 2,625 - 2,625
frifmmE 887 893 - - 433) - - - P 1,347 = 1347
AT A - = - - (10) - - = 10 - - -
AR 4 08 5 19 R 4 7 7
- - - - - - 27499 - (27,499 - - -
LH O IE S 2791 2,148 B = - - (2,066) - - 2873 = 2873
S I 1 - - - - - - 47,001) - 47,001 - - -
ARG S H b B
SRR B 5 - - - - 382 - - - - 38 - 382
A
12005 47896 31987 129,757 2% 2,110 25,433 719 (17153) 78,690 14988 93678
ERNER - - - - - - - - Q19713)  (21973) (155)  (29527)
BREIERRE LN
TSR - - - - - - - (2,130) - (2,130) - (2,130)
Tl E AR ER 25 - - - - - - - 2 - 2 = 2
ERAEERAH - - - - - - - (2,128) 21973)  (30,101) (1554)  (31,655)
DALy AT R 2254 2254 - - - - - - - 4508 - 4,508
frifmmE 2,134 3,488 = = (1,382) - - = = 4240 = 4240
da] g - - - - (1) - - - 17 - - -
TR R 2914 18315 - - B - (16,965) - - 24,264 - 24064
HERB UM & 55 FE UM e 0 1
BRI RB L - - = = 1,979 - - = = 1,979 = 1979
RZZZZEFZAZA—H 39597 71953 31987 129,757 605 2,110 8468 (1409)  (199488) 83580 13434 97014
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Conso|io|a’reo| Statement of Changes in Equity

NF

== N\ 7/
T / N II\EIII\ %b %

For the year ended 31 December 2022

H,WEZ

Note:

98

FEoFE+ A=+ —HIEEE

The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the share
capital of Global Technology International Limited acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation on 5 July 2005.

On 29 April 2009, the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each share from
HKS$0.10 to HKS$0.01.
distributable reserve.

The capital reduction amount was transferred to

On 10 September 2012, every ten issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.01 to HK$0.10.

On 21 June 2016, every ten issued and unissued shares were consolidated
into one consolidated share from HK$0.10 to HK$1.

On 8 September 2016, the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each
share from HK$1 to HK$0.01. The credit balance of the capital reduction
amount after reducing the accumulated losses of the Company was
transferred to distributable reserve.

On 12 November 2019, every twenty issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.01 to HK$0.2 each.

Capital reserve represents (i) the capital contribution from a shareholder of
the Company through the shares granted by a shareholder to the employees
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2006 and 2008, (ii)
deemed capital contribution from a shareholder regarding the non-interest
bearing advances.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SFEHEEREXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

2022 2021
R4 —aE ==l
US$’000 US$’000
T ¥t TX7T
Cash flows from operating activities REFHEHMBHERE
Loss before tax R B I A 18 (29,510) (37,971)
Adjustments for: A DA 25 JE i
Finance costs 5 AR 7 2,402 5,134
Depreciation of property, plant and W3~ W7 B M A 85
equipment 14 56 129
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i I RE G EE AT 85 16 290 263
Share-based payment expenses DR A5y 77 R R 1) A5 3 B =2 26 1,979 382
Share of results of an associate JRE A T 45 N | 2 B4R 17 20,269 44,280
Impairment loss recognised on T & O FE R IUE 1R
intangible assets 15 3,648 5,106
Gain on redemption of convertible notes & [F] 7T # i 55 45 2 U 7 - (19,905)
Rental concession AH 48 W e 16 — (39)
Impairment loss recognised under A TR Rl IR AR T
expected credit loss e w2 1) ol 1L s 188 223 =
Loss on replacement of intangible assets  E MY & & 2 18 15 - 1,843
Operating cash flows before movements w8 A SR T
in working capital ST T (643) (778)
Changes in working capital: o AR )
Trade and other receivables B 5y B At JFE WK IH (809) (622)
Balance with an associate Wi 2 N w1 45 ik - (89)
Trade and other payables B Ty B H A JRE AT 3 IH (2,771) (10)
Repayments to shareholders B 72 R (246) (1,686)
Cash used in operations #8085 ir B 4 (4,469) (3,185)
Interest expense on lease liabilities GENESER I iNSY a (38) (8)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [ifE %% 5 )y i} 5 %% (2,140) 650
Net cash used in operating activities BEWSH I HEHSEH (6,647) (2,543)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\\/T\/\ E/Eu v //IL;E%%

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

2022 2021
TR CE A
US$’000 US$’000
T%u Tt
Cash flows from investing activities BEFHEHMGHERE
Advances to an associate 1w B s ) BGR (397) -
Advances to a related company 1r] [ T s ) G (778) =
Proceeds from disposal of assets held B R AR O T A
for sale FIE = 1,000
Net cash (used in)/generated wEWEH (), is
from investing activities e (1,175) 1,000
Cash flows from financing activities Al B A5 B e
Interest paid BT A - (1)
Repayments to a related company T PR W 2 ) 72 K = (1,564)
Net proceeds from issue of shares §§’ TR 04 BT A5 R T T AR 4,508 2,625
Proceeds from exercise of share options A7 e 1% JBERE BT 15 20 0E 19 4,240 1,347
Lease payments fﬂb‘ﬁm 31 (250) (269)
Net cash generated from PRl 3% B e 45 B A
financing activities 8,498 2,138
Net increase in cash and B4 T B4 55 8 18 5 A
cash equivalents 676 540
Cash and cash equivalents at ERI B & R B4 S EHY
the beginning of the year 1,042 447
Cash and cash equivalents at R ERBEEED
the end of the year
Represented by bank balances and cash TRERAT & B M Bl & 20 1,718 1,042

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
a)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group completed a

channel replacement in which the Group acquired spectrum usage
rights of a TV station at Richmond with value of approximately
US$3,122,000 by replacing its spectrum usage rights of TV station
at Houston. (Note 15)

b)  On 3 September 2021, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$65,000,000 (‘2028
Convertible Notes”) to redeem all of the 2025 Convertible Notes.
(Note 24)
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a)

b)

REE_F - —4F A =1+—HI
A 5 R B M) 5T B — TE SR A 4R AR 4R
V1] 3 A 4t A BT o TR A & AE RS O
HE > 7 158 (B 4 £53,122,0003% JE K B -+
A B SHES U RE - (BftsE1S)

WoE D —ENHZH AN R ETAR
4 465,000,000 JT 9 3£ J0 51 (B 7T # /i
L FZOZSTT@HQET?%J > LA o] 4
TB2025 AT # B ZEHE o (Fff5E24)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Silkwave Inc was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s registered
office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Unit 1211, Level 12, Core F,
Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is Chi Capital
Holdings Ltd (“Chi Capital”), being a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Wong Chau Chi who is the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the development and promotion of
CMMB-based multimedia and interactive services via proprietary
terrestrial infrastructure. The Group is operating a terrestrial UHF
wireless television (“TV”) network providing digital media and
entertainment services to New York and other key markets in
preparation to deploying a similar multimedia service platform in
the United States of America (“US”).

Converged Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting (“CMMB”) is a
digital mobile multimedia technology developed by and currently
commercially deployed in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). It can deliver digital mobile TV and multimedia contents
via both terrestrial and satellite networks directly to mobile and
wireless devices such as smartphone, tablet, pocket TV, laptops,
automobile digital receivers and personal media player that are
equipped with a CMMB-enabled chipset. Its broadcast oriented
delivery capability can render data contents to be received anytime
anywhere with enormous scale and cost efficiency and encounter
no traffic interruption or bandwidth squeeze typical of today’s
unicast-based cellular network. The signals can be received
without distortion even the receiving object is moving at above 350

kilometer/hour.

= A B R 53
IQ\\/\ /| 7_|777 #&%B\‘JFUI_
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_F - _HF+HA=+—HILEE

— & B

o BUER A BR 2 R R BH 2 B R 5T M A
SE R HE S A BR AN ] o A2 F Y E A1
= i A7 A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ° H 7 i & 245 3%
b B % 7 vk SRS Vs 7 1005% BURS W3 FEF
(12812115 -

AR ) H 2 B S FE 4y Al 4 Chi Capital
Holdings Ltd ([Chi Capital |) > 2 A/
AERBRREKECE2ERANL
o

AN B — R G EE RN A - A 4R
F A BB KB R B A M A
R it E B WL A RS B TE AR AN 2 I R R
CMMB K 5. B IR T o A% 5 | 1F 7 2 —
{6 b TR UHF#E AL B A (B ) A4
T AT 49 0 L At 3 BT B R 36 A 1 A
R G 4 i 7 > DA e i A S5 ) BE A R I
(2B ) &8 F — MR L Y 2 158 ik 15

\/éo

il & R B) AL 2 R R FE (TCMMB J)
& H AT AE 3 N RIEAE (TH R ) i
A7 BABE K 7 2E TR ) BORS F B 2 1A
HE BT o 5% M AT 725 e i T S 7o 2 A A%
& ] B A SRR CMMBIES J AL 7% B 2
AR S (AN BE THE - SRR - DA%
AL SR A ~ PO B O A A
LR G ) A BT B B A S 2
P IR0 78 o JHL L T 4% ) i 2K B ) A T
P A A I i 7 A ] 7 B2 MO B
BA B R BB RS A R - A % 3
T 7 B 11 e T A A SR Y e o
W7 A A JAE S o R B s B A3S0
P B /N LA B B RS B - TR IR
A G -
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No’res to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group is also engaged in trading which relates to the
procurement and distribution of printed circuit board (“PCB”)
materials, and providing hardware and software solution related to

artificial intelligence (“AI”’) and Internet-of-Things.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United
States dollars (“US$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRS, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which is
carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial

statements are disclosed in note 4.
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2 SUMMARY OF
POLICIES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended

standards, improvements and interpretation for the first

time for their annual reporting period commencing 1

January 2022:

Annual Improvements

Project

HKFRS 3, HKAS 16

and HKAS 37

HKFRS 16

AG 5 (Revised)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 (Amendments)

Narrow-scope amendments

(Amendments)

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 2021 (Amendments)

Revised Accounting Guideline 5
Merger Accounting for Common

Control Combinations

The amendments listed above did not have any impact

on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not

expected to significantly affect the current or future

periods.

2

= /\ 7J> YA7 ,f =
AR B RSRER MY A
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_F - _HF+HA=+—HILEE

ERGEBORM R ()

2.1 FmEELHE (4F)

(a) AR 2 Fr el R #805 7T
Ay
ARLEFHDHH E - F—
H— H B bR i 4F B i 25 1A ]
IR T35 R R BT

HEHI MU K R R

FEUCEIEE BTG
At e
—E—\E
i e 2
B
(7T A)

T RS B

RS9 (BFTA)

s ast

HEHI S5 1658

o7 it st

e I 553758

HFHHBRE T4

e 1 55 1655 % B Covid-19
B 4
B (3T
)

a5 s KB EEEgl

(42 1E5T) SR AL]
A2
B a5t A

B RT A S A R
R 1Y & B S AT T 5 2 IR
T FFAS & B E R A
7 B R B
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No’res to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations not

yet adopted

The following new and amended standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for the current reporting period and have not

2 FEGHEIEORME (&)
2.1 R (4F)

(b)

1 AR #R A 2 B T B A5 T
R UL R it FE

IR RT S RS T HE I DL K
e T LA 1L 48 5 2 AT
30 ] o AT HoR AR LR

been early adopted by the Group:

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

7 v it O U B 1 T A e B

e ot e U SR i A2 9
HKAS 8

B o R R R
HKAS 12

il it SR 1298
HKERS 17

e i SO i 1 U 4 17
HKERS 17

e i S i o U 4 17
HKEFRS 17

A i B 5 A e B 1 7%

HKAS 1
G HE A 19%
HKAS 1
s A A S 15t
HKFRS 16

A 1 A5 i A 5 1 65%
HK Int 5 (Revised)

it B S IR (RAERT)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

7 Y P S S S A 108 B

7 it B T e F R 28

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments)

BRTBOR 2 Hi8 (BRI A)

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments)
Falist 2z €& (BFTA)
Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction (Amendments)
— R EEERERAEAREERIE (BiTA)
Insurance Contracts (new standard)
fREE & #) CRr T 481
Amendments to HKFRS 17
7 s 5 5 I B 1 75E 2 B RT A
Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information
M UR I 1 A s B 5 i S B 1758 T
7 1 5 e 5 8 ) B0 5E — LR R
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments)
B E AR B SRR B R (BRTA)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments)
Wil 258 19 JE R B B A (BT A)
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments)
MM P E A (BTA)
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
S5 0 R A 1 i — 5 N A SR A AR M SR
A R
Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments)
Bl B A R A E R EZ R Z
EE SRR (BRTA)
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2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and interpretations not
yet adopted (Continued)

The directors of the Company have assessed the
financial impact on the Group of the adoption of
the above new standards, amendments to existing
standards, interpretations and accounting guideline.
These standards, amendments and interpretation are
not expected to have a material financial impact on the
Group in the future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions. The Group is currently revisiting
their accounting policy information disclosures to
ensure consistency with the amended requirements.
The Group intends to adopt the above new standards,
amendments and interpretations to existing standards,
interpretations and accounting guideline when they

become effective.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

AR B RSRER MY A

V)N

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet
respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate

reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or

loss on sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for the

acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,
. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
entity,

. equity interests issued by the Group,

. fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement, and

. fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in
the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

24

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment losses. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Executive

Directors that make strategic decisions.
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2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

()

(i)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is US$, which is the Company’s
and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the

rates on the dates of the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognized
in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

110

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

] the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset

that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2

FEEGFRRE (&)
2.4 AW ()

2.7

(iii) KEB T LAl (#)

W B 98 A1 TR A 2 R
AR SN R R
W B KB R T RE
KRB T3 Z B A E A
22 R T H At 4 T i 4R e

Es

ZEE%:F':.,. ZWA

(ER) AR 45 [ 8 47 JB 40 FAE: Wy
EEE W o o B 4F E JB A AR A
IR 14 5 it IR 5 Y T4 o E ) RS
T IR e RE W AR

V& #1 B AT 15 18 B & b 2R B (
— M & U B ) iﬁﬁl*ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
— RS AR & SRS o

122 1l HE B IR ) RS o T % A2 DA
T/H\Efjﬁiﬁ’fi‘fi(’@ Al i 48 75 2 1R

4 AT A B B A0 B AT Y A B BB
IR ] fE 0 -

o BFRAEE E A R R
B L 6 ) A 2 11 J 46 i i 20
i A 2 5

. AEE BRI EREFES
A A 4 ] A IR PE R
5 1§

o AL HE R AR
EEABENABNERE H
7 B2 B AT A R AT HE
DA I 22 4> B 8 4 38 73 B9 3K
o



2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 97). In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a

customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases
with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis
when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ materially

from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component

and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premises and retail shops that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis

or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

J the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted

for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for
a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

. the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

. there is no substantive change to other terms and

conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the
same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS
16 if the changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness
or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable
lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to
reflect the amount forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the event occurs.
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2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

29

2.10

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with their

nature.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
including the state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount

already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

. including any market performance conditions (for

example, an entity’s share price);
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEHBHEME 4&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Employee benefits (Continued) 211 EEmA ()

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

. excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);

. and including the impact of any non-vesting conditions

(for example, the requirement for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options that are expected
to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in advance
of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during
the period between service commencement period and grant
date. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement, with
a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)

and share premium.
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SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Defterred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

2.13

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost, being the fair value at the
date of acquisition, less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
assets measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Property, plant and
equipment is recognised of nil value if property, plant and
equipment is acquired through donation or contribution for no

consideration.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes

in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEHBHEME 4&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Ik < b B 2 a1

2.15 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs).
Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet
date. In assessing whether there is any indication that an
asset may be impaired, the Group considers the following

indications:

FExternal sources of information

- there are observable indications that the asset’s value
has declined during the period significantly more than
would be expected as a result of the passage of time or

normal use.

- significant changes with an adverse effect have taken
place during the period, or will take place in the near
future, in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment in the market to which an asset is
dedicated.

- market interest rates or other market rates of return on
investments have increased during the period, and those
increases are likely to affect the discount rate used in
calculating an asset’s value in use and decrease the

asset’s recoverable amount materially.
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SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.15

2.16

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
Internal sources of information

- evidence is available of obsolescence or physical

damage of an asset.

— significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity
have taken place during the period, or are expected to
take place in the near future, in the extent to which,
or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to
be used. These changes include the asset becoming
idle, plans to discontinue or restructure the operation
to which an asset belongs, plans to dispose of an asset
before the previously expected date, and reassessing the
useful life of an asset as finite rather than indefinite.

- evidence is available from internal reporting that
indicates that the economic performance of an asset is,

or will be, worse than expected.

Equity accounting

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and
50% of the voting rights of that entity.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in

the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investments equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred

obligations or made payments on behalf of associate.
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2 SUMMARY OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

2.17

2.18

Equity accounting (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. When necessary, amounts reported by
associates have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Investments and other financial assets

2.19.1 Classitication

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income
(“OCT”) or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVTOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.19.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEHBHEME 4&)
POLICIES (Continued)

219 BERHMBSMERE ()
2.19.3 Measurement 2.19.3 il &

2.19 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established. Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as applicable

2.19.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses (the “ECL”) associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For
trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial

recognition of the trade receivables.
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SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
and services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. Other receivables are recognised initially at fair
values and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2

EREEBORM R ()

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

e TR

A i E AT R PR ELAT HE AT R
9 Ol B8 2 A A RS M % T A
B H R RSB EE RS A
BfE WA E XA E E A
HE 8 > Sl A &5 A BB IR L AR
L (E - A B ik R TR AT

T ) S AT R R R A 2 AT AE >
Hoo ZE AT S IE SR B AR o S A
SR H 5B TR
R B EE 22 1 DU R i AT

¥ 5y B L At JE W sk JH

B 5 MEWCRIE A 78 H W 7 i R
R 4R it ﬁnu*ﬂﬁ&%ﬁﬂ%qﬁgﬁ
E’J KIH o 1 BE By B EC Al i Kk

T TE — HF B AR ( ﬁﬂ&iiﬁﬁ']f
R I H S EﬁW ) W [m] - B4y
BB & - 5 I CRIEY)
2 ¥ AR A AR B B AR T - TR E
wP A R REE R AR A
T il 58 o HL A JE U 3K JH ) 45 #%
A%fﬁﬁﬁm’ HoA B R A R
T 4 B R AR R (9 4 1% s

=
B o

MRGEEHERERTES 2B
B s e LEE&EEY AR
TS & R WA 2 =M A K
DLIAL > Gy g B 4 £ ) 4 AR B 4
LS E 5 B JRL R S K 45 Al
B RERITIE S -

Jie A

W98 e o 5 W A o L 4 B DB TR
BEAT T I 1 14 = A A HE 45 o 4
T BT AR S IH A > (FIBRBLIH) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to equity holders through the optimisation of the debts-to-
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged

from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes convertible notes disclosed in note 24, net of cash and cash
equivalents disclosed in note 20 and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share premium
and reserves. The Group relies mainly on the equity financing from

the owners of the Company.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associate with the
capital. Based on recommendation of Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through, new share issues as

well as the issue of new debts and the repayment of existing debts.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBI ()
3a. Categories of financial instruments 3a. BAB TR
2022 2021
E St S
US$’000 US$’000
F%£E T %7
Financial assets 4 b & B
Financial assets measured at LI 5 AN 22 1 < B
amortised cost:
Trade receivables & G ESCRIH 2,195 1,452
Other receivables and deposits L At 8 A S T R A% 4 149 140
Amount due from a related company WE sz I8 e 2 ) I 4,513 3,863
Amount due from an associate W%LUI i % 8 A 3XE 1,338 979
Bank balances and cash RAT 45 i M PR 4 1,718 1,042
Financial assets at FVTPL: /(/Kﬁtﬁjfﬁﬁf/\ 1A 7 19
EREE
Equity investment and call option HE 15 B T 58 Wi 1) - -
9,913 7,476
Financial liabilities Rl R
Financial liabilities measured at LI £ 5 AN 722 1 < A
amortised cost:
Trade payable B 57 AT HIH 592 852
Accruals fESH 2 A 2,625 4,680
Amounts due to shareholders W@ﬁ Jie ORI - 246
Convertible notes I YiliEX 13,684 35,593
Lease liabilities THE A E 551 33
17,452 41,404
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

4R B

W

B 755 ¥ 3R Y =

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

3 MEEbEER (A)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 3b.  BAB R B P E AR R BOR
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and AEF MW EERH LAEEE S
other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other T H: Athy R UAr 2KIE ~ 4R AT &5 iR IR
payables, amount due from a related company, amount & B 5 K H A RE AT % IE WEWE‘%
due from an associate, amounts due to shareholders, lease Wi N ) R VE ~ R WA s A T\ K
liabilities and convertible notes. Details of the financial JRE AT e SR I - H B AR K T Tﬁ‘%
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks JE S o 5% SF BABS L LY RS R
associated with these financial instruments include market il N E]fﬁ% I
risk (represented by currency risk and interest rate risk), B B A R B B 4 T 3 LB (
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate R B A R A AR AR ) 1’%
these risks are set out below. Management manages and B Al B K i ) & < R B o A B AR
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are ipE 5% 45 TR B 1 BRI R o B
implemented on a timely and effective manner. B 8 B K B 0 RZ 5 R > DA
R B2 TR A 25 3, B7 IO F 45 i
Market risk 17 57 B
(i)  Currency risk i) B b
Certain bank balances and amounts due from related A% 45 [ 2 T SR AT &G R SR L
companies of the Group are denominated in currencies B W A ) E DA M (R S
other than United States dollars, which may expose the JGZ AN FHE > & ] e A
Group to foreign currency risk. The carrying amounts B2 9 T 3 A1 LB o R R A
of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary El B> A 4 | DL AN E Y
assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are g E X EFABNYRE
as follows: (EER/ (I
Liabilities Assets
ffE 5973
2022 2021 2022 2021
il T i et T —4F
US$000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
F*u TET T¥5u TET
Hong Kong dollar i 1,442 1,331 8,007 5,058
Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARH (TARR]) 5 2 85 75

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need

arise.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

For the exposure to the fluctuation in United States
dollar against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
was pegged to United States dollar, the management is

of opinion that such exposure is insignificant and no

sensitivity analysis is presented.

In the management’s opinion, the Group does not have
significant exposure to the fluctuation in United States

dollar against Renminbi, so no sensitivity analysis is

presented.

(i)  Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to
the bank balances due to the fluctuation of the market

interest rates for both years.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The Directors monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly sensitive to the

fluctuation of interest rate arising from the Group’s

bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is only related to
the impact of prevailing market interest rate change
on bank balances which are all short-term in nature.
Any variations in interest rates are not expected to
have a significant impact on the result of the Group.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed for

the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refer to the risk that the counter-party fails to
meet its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade receivables, other receivables (including amount due
from a related company and an associate) and bank balances
and cash. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

Impairment of financial assets

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL (“12-month
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at

the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
under the simplified approach in accordance to HKFRS 9.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables and collectively for other debtors
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
nature and size of debtors, historical credit loss experience,
ageing of overdue receivable, customer’s repayment history
and customer’s financial position and are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

134

3b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance under the general approach in accordance to
HKFRS 9, which is equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood

or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
mainly includes external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core

operations.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group). Irrespective
of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

AR B RSRER MY A
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(ii1) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as the total trade receivables were due from four
customers (2021: four). The management is of the view that
these four customers have good track records and considers
that the trade receivables from these four customers are
recoverable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management continuously
monitors the level of exposure to individual customers to
ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective actions are
taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover
overdue balances. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group has to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed periodically.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables. The Group has performed
historical analysis based on the background, credit quality
and reputation of the customers, historical settlement records,
past experience and adjusted for the forward looking factors
that are specific to the customers. Management assessed that
the expected credit loss rate and loss allowances for trade
receivables on a collective basis to be US$57,000 (2021:
insignificant) which are estimated based on external credit
ratings adjusted by forward looking factor with reference to
adverse economic condition. The expected credit loss rates
are 2.35% for trade receivables aged below 90 days and
2.75% for trade receivables aged over 90 days.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (including amounts due from related

parties)

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, financial position of the counterparties and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. Management
assessed the expected loss rate for amounts due from a
related company and amount due from an associate based on
external credit ratings, adjusted by forwarding looking factor
with reference to adverse economic condition. Management
assessed that the expected credit loss rate and loss allowances
for amount due from a related company and amount due from
an associate to be US$128,000 and US$38,000, respectively
(2021: insignificant).

Bank and cash balances

Credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by these banks
and financial institutions as they have no default history in
the past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at bank
is assessed to be immaterial and no provision was made as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors are taking active steps to improve the liquidity
position of the Group and the Group should be able to

continue as a going concern.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

3
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Liquidity risk tables it B B A
2022 —E &
Less than Total
1 month or 3 months Over undiscounted Carrying
ondemand  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years Syears cash flows amount
LA S PRIEE R
RER  1EMA MWMAELE 1255 WlsE  WRAR e T
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
THEx
Asat31December2022  MEFZTEF-A=+-H
Trade payables B 5 AT 508 592 - - - - 592 592
Accruals eEdjl 2,625 = = = = 2,625 2,625
Convertible notes (note 24) "[R4k (Mfik24) = = = = 20,000 20,000 13,684
Lease liabilities AR 26 50 217 289 - 582 551
3,43 50 217 289 20,000 23,799 17452
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3b.

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

3 WERbEE )

Financial risk management objectives and policies 3b. AR B H AR R BUR (4F)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) Ui B B < B ()
Liquidity risk tables (Continued) i B E B (A )
2021 TR
Less than Total
1 month or 3 months to Over  undiscounted Carrying
ondemand -3 months 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows amount
DIk 1EA AT BB &
BHRER O1EMEA MEAEE 1E54 BBSE  RAH e (1
US$°000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000
TET T T T£x T T T
As at 31 December 2021 REZZ—F+Z=+—H
Trade payables B 5 AT 3R 852 - - - - 852 852
Aceruals Pzt & 4,680 - - - - 4,680 4,680
Convertible notes (note 24) W (Hskd4) - - - - 60,116 60,116 35,593
Amounts due to shareholders  HEfF it 5 FR 246 - - - - 246 246
Lease liabilities AR 2 4 21 7 - 34 3
5,780 4 21 1 60,116 65,928 41,404

Note: The undiscounted cash flows of convertible notes are presented

based on the assumption that the Company will not early

redeem the outstanding convertible notes before the maturity

date.

BRGE - AT 46 BBC S48 B R 4 B B 4
B REEA 2 A 7R E Y
H 2 mif 42 5 18 | i 2R 0 i)
T B SRR R s T 2 51
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3c. Fair value

140

This note provides information about how the Group

determines the fair value of its financial asset.

)

Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that is
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes The board
of directors of the Company has set up a valuation
committee, which is headed up by the financial
controller of the Company, to determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value

measurements.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair value, by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs
are categorised into three levels within a fair value

hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not
based on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs).

There was no transfer of financial assets and liabilities
between the fair value hierarchy classifications during
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3

3c. Fair value (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that )
is measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and

2021:

Fair value at
31 December
2022
e

Ty ES
A FiE
RMB’000

ARWF 76

Financial assets at FVTPL
MIA T2 A E BRGNS EE

- Unlisted investment -

- FEHEE

- Call Option granted for -
Call Option granted to
Silkwave Holdings Limited

- R R
I7] Silwave Holdings Limited
A R M

4R B

W

B 755 ¥ 3R Y =

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

St 5 D B A PR (A

3c. AFME(F)

A S ] 1 5 7 AL 3 DL AP
1 7t A 19 & & E AP

(%)

TREFIARLEHD T
EENF TN = — & JF = JF

=t HEAFHEFENE

FE

Fair value at

31 December
2021
AZE
t+ZA=+—H
AT
RMB’000

INGL SO

Fair value

hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and input(s)

RFEFR 0 KA B

Level 3 Adjusted net asset approach-in this
approach, the share of the net asset
value has been used to capture the
present value of the expected future
economic benefit.

AR G- AT
2 G R LS R AR
A 2 Bl {H -

Gt

Level 3 Binomial Pricing Model - in this
approach, certain parameters
determined by management are input
into the binomial model to derive the
valuation of the call option.

L IR AR - T A

BEM# T2 U8 A " HARR

DI IR A A -

Significant unobservable input(s)

TR AL A Wb

Future economic benefit

RAAEFA 1

Volatility, determined by reference to
historical volatilities of companies

operating in the same industry

UREE Ak it
€
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 Mg mbEE B ()
3c. Fair value (Continued) 3c. APHE (FH)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that ()  AEE 48w P LA F

is measured at fair value on a recurring basis {8 7t % 19 & /& #E 2 F (6

(Continued) (#8)

Fair value hierarchy ANSEE /& &
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B 5 B A5t

US$'000  US$000  US$000  US$'000
TR TR T*7 T

2022 —F-
Financial assets & RE E
Financial asset at fair value YNSRI L PN
through profit or loss 1R 15 19 5 B B = = = =
2021 ZERT A
Financial assets &g B
Financial asset at fair value NS0T N
through profit or loss 1B 4R 1Y 4 L - - - -
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (i) SE=HAFH A2 HE
2022 2021
SR TR T A
US$°000 US$°000
TF*6 FET
At 1 January mw—H—H - =
Fair value change N TEEAL - -
At 31 December AR H = el - -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group tests whether the Group’s intangible assets with
indefinite life have suffered any impairment on an annual basis.
During the current year, the management has evaluated the
impairment of the Group’s intangible assets by way of value in
use (“VIU”) calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows
derived from financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group. Details of impairment charge, key assumptions and impact
of possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in note 15.

Satellite related intangible assets, including right to occupy the
orbital slot and broadcast spectrum, held by Silkwave Holdings
Limited (“Silkwave”) represents major assets of the associate.
During the current year, the management of the associate has
evaluated the impairment of the satellite intangible assets by way
of VIU calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows
derived from financial budgets approved by the management of the
associate. Details are disclosed in note 17.

= A B R 53
lé\\/\ /| 7_|777 #&%B\‘JFUI_
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_F - _HF+HA=+—HILEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARGEER
Information is reported to the Company’s executive directors, being BN HATE S (B 2 R )
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource 2 DA 4y T R K R A 43 B R B
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types R B2 R O 4R 6 A MR S A R o

of services provided.

No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision 2 P R AR A Rk AN 4E T Y AT R
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments i T IR Sl 4 FEE 75 BT ik Il #4884 035
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under LI 5 AR 48 A v B o UE RIS
HKFRS 8 operating segment are as follows: FfE T g i RN S < R &
BT
i.  CMMB business — Provision of transmission and broadcasting i.  CMMBZEF — 2 f oy & 35 3 &
of TV programs. B H -
ii.  Trading business — Trading of PCB materials and other Al ii. B 5 W — EN R E B AR M OB E 5
related products. T Al ATAH B 28 o
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by e 588 K w2 43 ) 4 i AR 4R T i
operating and reportable segments: VNSE S LR I
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-FZ AT H=ZF—HILE
B
CMMB Trading
business business Total
CMMB 3 % S E At
US$’000 US$’000 US$’°000
T %0 T %0 T*50
Revenue L' ON
Segment revenue A EB Y A 2,722 5,829 8,551
Segment (loss)/profit A (E518) i F (7,051) 10 (7,041)
Share of results of an associate JRE A Wi 7 A Y 2E AR (20,269)
Other income Ho At W A 27
Impairment loss recognised under  FA TE I (5 &G AR
expected credit loss model filE 2 114 U (L s 480 (166)
Unallocated corporate expenses E N WIS (2,078)
Loss for the year AN i 15 (29,527)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AR B RSRER MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

5 WARZEER ()

BE_ZF_ 4+ _H=+—HIL%F
-3

Revenue KA

Segment revenue R ON

Segment profit/(loss) Gy b Al (k5 18)
Share of results of an associate R A gt 7 2 ) ) SE AR
Other income HoAth i A

Unallocated corporate expenses 7R 4 BE ) 2 ) BH 52
Loss for the year GO

CMMB Trading

business business Total
CMMB 7 S ES Ha5E
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
T3ET TET TE7T
2,692 3,031 5,723
8,179 (28) 8,151
(44,280)

40
(1,882)
(37,971)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2. Segment loss
represents the loss from each segment after tax without allocation
of other income, share of results of an associate and central
administration expenses. This is the measure reported to Company’s
executive directors for the purposes of resources allocation and

performance assessment.

There were no inter-segment sales in both years.

K87y H 04 B FHBOR BT k2 Byt 1 A
46 T & whBUR — B 2 Wk AR 2R A &
3w B B AR R (R 25 58 4 S H At Ui
A~ AL G 2 ) Y SE A T vh e AT BB
3) o WU R YR T K 3R B R AS TS
I A 2% ) AT 2 2 A B A o

I 2% TG 4 32 48 1 50 [H] A 5 4
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 WARZEER (4)

Segment assets 43 Hb &
2022 2021
—m B
US$’000 US$°000
T %76 F£T
CMMB business CMMB 2% 105,847 128,733
Trading business FUE Y 947 1,207
Total segment assets 43 0 & E HE 106,794 129,940
Unallocated F N
— Property, plant and equipment — W B TR 15 28
— Right-of-use assets — fT M 509 -
— Other receivables — L th R i 2R TE 127 96
— Amount due from a related company — JE i R W A D RO 4,513 3,863
— Amount due from an associate — JE AL B 75 A W) 3K IE 1,338 979
— Bank balances and cash —ERAT 45 R S B 4 1,525 970
Consolidated total assets GEEREMHE 114,821 135,876
Segment liabilities 43 Bb £ 18
2022 2021
R TR 4F
US$’°000 US$°000
T £ T£5T
CMMB business CMMB ¥ %5 15,706 40,191
Trading business EUES 658 927
Total segment liabilities P S=E ik 16,364 41,118
Unallocated P
— Accruals —ERE 896 834
— Lease liabilities —fH & A A 547 =
— Amounts due to shareholders — I A5 B PR R IH = 246
Consolidated total liabilities SHeABME 17,807 42,198

146 SILKWAVE INC ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5

Segment liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

. segment assets include certain property, plant and equipment,

intangible assets, interest in an associate, financial asset at

fair value through profit or loss, certain bank balances and

cash and trade receivables; and

. segment liabilities include trade payables, certain accruals

and convertible notes.

Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major

products and services:

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

WA B oy R E B (45 )
b AR ()

B 5% 2 B R TE o S 2 [ Ay B A
P :

o IR AL E T R R
S~ T 7 B2
4~ L2 - 88 B A2 0 41 3
104 B 5 AR 70
LA 2 B 5 AT 5 R

o AR A HE 5 B A
?%ﬁ%%&T@%ﬁ%

2 PR 2 B i B R B WA

A S T A R T it B R B O i A
MR

Revenue from contracts with customers
recognised at a point in time:
Trading of PCB materials and
other Al related products
Revenue from contracts with customers
recognised over a period of time:
CMMB service income
Revenue from other sources:
Transmission and broadcasting of

television programs

RE—FREERAEF 5K
e A TR

ET R 78 6 A A ) B o Ath ATAH B
E i B 5
V%*ﬁ&%ﬁ%ﬁ%%z
e A HERR

CMMB R B g A

H At i A A& R

{5 Wiy % o 7% R AL B H

2022 2021

—E TR A
US$’°000 US$’000
T%76 F*0
5,829 3,031

289 304

2,433 2,388
8,551 5,723
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/\\/T\

R e

For the year ended 31 December 2022

H,WEZ
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FEoFE+ A=+ —HIEEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue from major products and services (Continued)

Trading of PCB materials and other Al related products:

The Group sells PCB materials and other AI related products.
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the products.

CMMB service income:

The Group provides CMMB related service to a 3rd party.
Revenue is recognised over time as the customers of the Group
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs. The Group charged
the customer a service fee on a monthly basis.

Transmission and broadcasting of television programs:

The Group recognise revenue under a channel lease arrangement.
The Group grants the user and operating rights over free-to-air
UHF spectrum TV Stations to its customers (note 15). The Group

charged the customer a fixed fee on a monthly basis.
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A S5 1 B 6 BRI R B AR B ORE S A AT
A B FEE b o WO T T Y A o R RS =
%5 IRy (W TE S A ) FERD o

CMMB/R#HE WA :

745 9] ) 55 = J7 12 - CMMB AH B IR 75 o
W A B B SR T R R AN 4R LR A
IFF - 4 42 8] 5 5 [a] RS Wi B B FE F Pl A 4
] JE & Fir 45 21 1) ] 25 o A 4R B 4% ) 1) %
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= /\ 7J> YA7 ,f =
AR B RSRER MY A
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_F - _HF+HA=+—HILEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 WARZEER (4)
Other segment information I At 73 % & B
CMMB Trading
business business Total
CMMBZ # S E S At
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
T£7x T£7x T£71
Amounts included in the measure FE AT 2 E A Y OE
of segment profit or loss:
Year ended 31 December 2022 BER T H=F—H
1IR3
Depreciation of property, plant and Y2~ W B A A B
equipment (42) - (42)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {5 A 48 T - (23) (23)
Effective interest expense on ] 5 R B RS B S
convertible notes (2,363) - (2,363)
Impairment loss recognised on TV 6 7 Ll R BB (L s 4R
intangible assets (3,648) - (3,648)

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Year ended 31 December 2021

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Effective interest expense on
convertible notes

Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Loss on replacement of intangible asset
Gain on redemption of convertible notes

A A B

BE_ZF_ 41+ -H=1+—H
R4
Y) 2~ i Bk e i B

HEREEE
A S R RSB 2

T 7 O e B o (LM 1
fiLE & A S B S

BHAETY G 1R
B[] T 4 P R R W 2

(22) (1) (23)

(99) = (99)

- (25) (25)
(5,125) - (5,125)
(5,106) - (5,106)
- 2) 2
(1,843) = (1,843)
19,905 - 19,905
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AR BRI A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group principally operates CMMB business in the US (country
of domicile of the operating subsidiary) and trading business in
Taiwan and Hong Kong. Nearly all non-current assets of the Group
are located in the US except for certain insignificant non-current
assets (such as office equipment and motor vehicles) are located in
Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations.

WA Beor &R (AE)

Hb 15 R

A G I T B R (AR M A W R
it K ) 48 % CMMB 215 ) it & &
WAL T S o AR AT 2R
Y O SR B > M D B T IR
B (AR R IR R

AERALEEKBIHEFHRANE
AR 5 AR 4 S5 T AE L 2 5]

Revenue from external customers L AR SRR L N
2022 2021
G- N TR T
US$’000 US$°000
T%u T
us = 2,433 2,388
Taiwan =R 4,067 3,031
PRC H 289 304
Hong Kong T 1,762 -
8,551 5,723
Information about major customers EREFEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing AH JRE AF BE AR B &Y A A A 4E 1) A
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows: WA E10% I FEF R -
2022 2021
- Y R T
US$°000 US$°000
T%5u T £
Customer A BEFEA 4,067 3,031
Customer B %F B 1,2302 1,0442
Customer C EF C 1,2032 1,3442
Customer D %F D 961! N/AAS

Revenue from Trading business

2 Revenue from CMMB business

No other single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s
revenue for both years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME

AR B RSRER MY A

W

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

At e A

COVID-19 rents concessions

Government grants (note) BN Bh 4 (B EE)
Other HAth

HLCOVID-194H B 1Y FlL 4= T2

2022 2021
SR TR
US$°000 US$°000
TR F =T

- 39

25 -

P 3

27 42

Note: In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support from the BRE : R = F = 4 AL E NI
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up R A AT B i SBRT % N7 114 B Bt g
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 4 1 PR ZE T B b E R R o AT B A
The purpose of the funding was to provide financial support to PO B AE By A FEAR AL B RS S Ry DL
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise be at risk T 36 4 R 5 1) B T o AR A B
of being made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group TR > A 5 1 7E Al R 380 W) R A5 3 H -
was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and S JEI T A B R S B T -
to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. There are 5% S 15 N A B A R e AR A R sk L
no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these Tl s 98 S TH o —F = —4F > A
grants. No such income in 2021. N
FINANCE COSTS 7 BB
2022 2021
- Y B
US$°000 US$°000
T T2
Effective interest expense on convertible ] i Ji% 22 5 () B B A1l 5L B 32
notes (note 24) ( Bff 5E24) 2,363 5,125
Interest expense on lease liabilities fﬂ%ﬁ &R S B 38 8
Interest expense on bank overdrafts A7 9% SR B B 3 1 1
2,402 5,134
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/\‘/T\

R e

For the year ended 31 December 2022

wWEZ

8

152

FEoFE+ A=+ —HIEEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

HIEUETRCE

Current tax:

Fir 5 ¢ B X
2022 2021
TR et i
US$’000 US$’000
T %56 TE5x

Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at 16.5% (2021:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year, except
for the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s assessable profit
which is calculated at 8.25%, in accordance with the new two-tiered
profits tax rates regime with effect from the year of assessment
2018/2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, US Income Tax is charged
at 24% (2021: 24%) on the estimated assessable profits.

Taiwan Income Tax is charged at 20% on the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT

Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onward.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
tax per the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

P 43 BE B 3¢ ()

A A B T S B AR 5 18w S H fth & T
W 2 2% B L AT A 1R B 4 R

R B i s 1R

Loss before tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates

in the respective jurisdictions H LB R R B I
Tax effect of: DU £ JH 10 BB 3 28 -
Income not taxable for tax purpose -GN
Expense not deductible for tax purpose ENGE IR 9

Tax effect of share of results of

an associate

Tax losses not recognised R A 58l T e 48
Utilisation of unrecognised temporary ) FH A T R IR 2 B

differences

R e R IRF 2 A

Temporary differences not recognised

B S A ] D 3 U Y

Ao W 5 > ) SE A BB R

2022 2021
—F_HF TR
US$’°000 US$’000
F Xt TRt
(29,527) (37,971)
(5,087) (6,735)
- (3,289)

475 432
3,344 7,306
578 1,061
(113) -
820 1,225

17 -

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately US$58 million (2021:
US$57.3 million) relating to impairment loss recognised on
an intangible asset recognised. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. In addition,
the Group mainly has unused tax losses of US$3.5 million as at
31 December 2022 (2021: US$2.9 million) available for offsetting
against future profits, subject to the confirmation of the relevant
tax authority. These tax losses have no expiry date. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

A T A R R AR 4 A B B ORE R
B 4 T L R A0 TR (L s 4R A T 4
WOE R E B A B8 M T (A
4E 573 B T0) o H I A E SRR ik
5t FH VB 41K B mT Eh B A ek R IR 2= A
il M 4 0 A B AT 3R I 2 A T R R
GE Bl JEUE P o M Ah s A R T AR
A=+—H > AEHEE4H L HBIE
R3S H B EIL (FE - —F 290 #
2 J0) AT A 4 8 R 2 T A M 2 BOAR
A I o 5 S 1) A e R o % 55 L TS 4RI
98 T HOH o H R R I T A AR UE S AT TR
) > ik 7 2 e 0 908 iE o TE K E o
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ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZF - _FEL A= HIREE

9 EXPENSE BY NATURE 9 HRPEE BB X
Expenses included in cost of sales, administrative expenses and T B B A ~ AT LB S DA B T 35 BH %
market development and promotion expenses are analysed as T H o B S0 B S A A i
follows:

2022 2021

US$’°000 US$°000

T %t T2

Cost of materials R A 5,640 3,031
Auditor’s remuneration 1% Bl M <6 128 141
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 473 - i 75 K 5% f 97 5 56 129
Depreciation of right-of-use assets T PR HE 5 E A 85 290 263
Employees’ remunerations & & M 4 2,823 1,245
Market development expense T 355 B 5 B 52 1,268 701

10 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 10 #EHFEFEGFTHAEMNE

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) HEHEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight directors CATEEAT AR A R L (ZF = —
(2021: eight) of the Company were as follows: AR \7) A H B & T
2022 RO
Share-based Contributions
Salaries and payment to retirement
Fees other benefits expenses  benefits scheme Total
Wk DAk Bk A
& At #5841 A A5F K B 52 w3 4tk At
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
F#u F*u F#u T T
Executive director R
Wong Chau Chi R = 71 = 2 79
Non-executive directors FHfTE R
Liu Hui B i - - 21 - 21
Chou Tsan Hsiung JR B e - = 21 = 21
Yang Yi B % - - 21 - 21
Lui Chun Pong? =R T = 23 21 - 4
Independent non-executive directors % v Jk #1175 % 5
Li Jun I - - 21 - 21
Chow Kin Wing JR 4% 15 = 21 = 36
Tam Hon Wah 12 4 15 - 21 - 36
Total Rt 30 100 147 2 279
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10 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

10

4R B

W

B 755 ¥ 3R Y =

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_F - _HF+HA=+—HILEE

ERLERITHRARNE ()

(a) HWHHFME ()

2021 EaNs S 4E
Share-based Contributions
Salaries and payment to retirement
Fees other benefits expenses  benefits scheme Total
Bk DRy A R AR AR
(E Fo At 4 71 ) A5 3 B 3 i U Mt
US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
%5 TETT T TH7T TH7T
Executive director HifT#E S
Wong Chau Chi K - 77 3 2 82
Non-executive directors FHfTE S
Liu Hui BIHE = = 3 = 3
Chou Tsan Hsiung A B = - 3 - 3
Yang Yi HE - - 3 - 3
Li Shan' 2! - - 3 - 3
Independent non-executive directors % 3. JF #1417 # F
Li Jun I - - 3 - 3
Chow Kin Wing JH R 4 15 - 1 - 16
Tam Hon Wah? i 4 - - - 4
Total At 19 77 19 2 117

Dr. Li Shan resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 17 September 2021.

)

Mr. Tam Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 29 September 2021.

Mr. Lui Chun Pong was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on 28 February 2022.

The Directors’ emoluments disclosed above include their
services in connection with management of the affairs of the
Group.

Mr. Wong Chau Chi is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

©

ZFIHER _F _—F LA
TE B CBEAR AT E
o

PSR R T — LA
— LA CEEERAR AR
S RATEE S o

BARGER _FE__F_H
AR EEERER AR
HATES -

bSO 2 I e A S
ASE B 2 S BT AR 3t 2 BRI o

m} B

o

R ST IR B AR AL AT
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R e

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

10 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

156

(b)

(o)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2021: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available directors’ services (2021:
nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled body corporates by and
connected entities with such directors

Save as disclosed in note 22, there is no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled body
corporates by and connected entities with such directors
(2021: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements

or contracts

Saved as disclosed in note 29, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Group was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: same).
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EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS

11

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

Salaries and other benefits

Director’s fee, salaries and other benefits

Share-based payment expense

Contributions to retirement benefit scheme

Total employee benefit expense

Hr i S CH A AR A

A e L H A AR A

DAIB 73 5 JE B 9 £+ 3 A 3
B ARAR A FEE K

1l & 4@ A B 32 4448

1 5 <
2022 2021
RO CE AR
US$°000 US$’000
o T Xt
543 751
130 96
2,133 382
17 16
2,823 1,245

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the

T A% 55 1] T 47 o v B N £

Group, there was no director whose emoluments are included in F AR ) B A0 B 4w I B
the disclosures in note 10 (2021: none). The emoluments of the 10 diids e HEp H A (ZF - —F: 1
remaining five (2021: five) individuals were as follows: Z) N
2022 2021
US$’000 US$ 000
T %70 T%0
Salaries and other benefits W 4 Ko HoAth A7 A 337 362
Share-based payment expensed DA B 53 £ HE BRE 8 A5k 3K B =2 593 152
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme & 7K4& ] 51 #1447 9 8
939 522
Their emoluments were within the following bands: B S5 1) M <6 A °F- DA [
2022 2021
US$’000 US$’000
T %76 T %
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 %% 7T % 1,000,000 7T
(equivalent to US$64,001 to (AHE 64,001 o6 &
US$129,000) 129,000 7T ) - 5

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
(equivalent to US$129,001 to
US$193,000)

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to US$193,001 to
US$257,000)

1,000,001% 7T 1,500,000 JC
(FH & A 129,001 35 7T
%193,0003 J0)

1,500,001%5 7T 422,000,000 o

(FH & 2 193,001 35 T &
257,0003 J0)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no

emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest-paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

BE_ZF__HER-F_—HF1+_A
= B R AR AR [ 5 1 A
L ERVE IR PN i A (2
AR EC A BRTE A A B T 2 T
GRS e
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AR BRI A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

12 DIVIDEND

12

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

13 LOSS PER SHARE

13

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is based on

the following data:

% B,
RAFIEFARFREE -F = F
- F - —HE+_HA=+—HILEE
URAS e 2, o

T Ji% i 18

AR AN B RN HE A g R A R
W AR T AR IR DU T R R

2022 2021
Loss for the year EW B R RO TR
US$’°000 US$°000
T %5t T XL
Loss for the year attributable to owners LI A Ik A e 48 1RF i )
of the Company for the purpose of A0S A HEA AN AL AF A s 18
calculating basic loss per share (27,973) (35,437)
Effect of dilutive potential T A T R 2
ordinary shares:
— Effective interest expense — T o J SR 0 R R B B S
on convertible notes - 4,161
— Gain on redemption of — I [m] ] 48 5 R4 2 i i
convertible notes - (19,905)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of i 153 45 A # 78 Jes #5115 BT i 1)
the Company for the purpose of AN FHEA N RE AL AF A 5 48
calculating diluted loss per share (27,973) (51,181)
2021
Number of shares J& O3 S H —EC 4
Weighted average number of ordinary A w B R AR s 1R IRE BT Y
shares for the purpose of - 48 JE B T 47 M
calculating basic loss per share 1,212,279,900 341,371,862
Effect of dilutive potential TR 4 A s
ordinary shares:*
— Convertible notes — Al R R R - 56,029,023
Weighted average number of ordinary W w8 T A 1R R T Y
shares for the purpose of calculating - 8 52 B T 4 M
dilutive loss per share 1,212,279,900 397,400,885
* The computation of the diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 & FESsEF - F T HA=1+—H

December 2022 has not assumed the conversion of the Company’s
outstanding convertible notes since their exercise would result in a

decrease in loss per share.

For the share options, the computation of diluted loss per share
amount has not assumed the conversion of the Company’s
outstanding share options since they are anti-dilutive for the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
“rE B ISR R M 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 W3- W5 Kt
Office
Leasehold and other
improvements  Motor vehicles TV equipment equipment Total
WAE
HE % i B R Jofl ik Mt
US$000 US$°000 US$000 US$’000 US$'000
T#x T¥Ex T T#K TEE
COST A
At 1 January 2021 REFEZ—F—-H—H 251 116 25 608 1,200
Exchange differences T b, 7 4% (1) (1) - 3) )
At 31 December 2021 and “E-#+ZA=t—H
1 January 2022 &~Z::¢ A—H 250 115 225 605 1,195
Exchange differences I b, 7 42 - < = (1 (1)
At 31 December 2022 REEZZHEFZA=+—H 250 115 225 604 1,194
ACCUMULATED Aitfi &
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2021 “E A 251 116 176 444 987
Provided for the year @ N - - 21 108 129
Exchange differences i 5, 9 2 (1) (1) = ) (@)
At 31 December 2021 and ZEZEFZAZTH
1 January 2022 k=ZZ"4H—H—H 250 115 197 550 1,112
Provided for the year SER B = - 16 40 56
Exchange differences T b, 7 4 - - = (1) 1
At 31 December 2022 RZZZ_HEF-H=t+—H 250 115 213 589 1,167
CARRYING VALUE ik 1 A
At 31 December 2022 AZE__E+ZA=Zt—H - - 12 15 27
At 31 December 2021 REZFZ—F+ZA=1—H - - 28 55 83
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated Rl R B Rk AR TE B R AT 4R A
on a straight line basis at the following rates per annum: D L A e T A
Leasehold improvements 33% or shorter of i 33%a AHHA ( DLHK
lease terms A e
Motor vehicles 20% R 20%
TV equipment 20% A A 20%
Office and other equipment 10-33% HEA = R HARGEH  10-33%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 EREE
Spectrum
usage rights
A 5 RE
US$’000
FE50
COST AR
At 1 January 2021 AR~ —H—H 95,948
Addition wE 3,122
Disposal H (11,690)
At 31 December 2021 and WoE -+ _HA=+—HK
1 January 2022 R —H—H 87,380
Addition NE —
Disposal == =
At 31 December 2022 W_EZ_HETFZHA=+—H 87,380
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT 5 wE
At 1 January 2021 AR~ —H—H 41,233
Impairment recognised e 52 04 I (E 5,106
Disposal fin) = (6,638)
At 31 December 2021 and N B+ A=+ —HK
1 January 2022 xR —H—H 39,701
Impairment recognised Tl 32 19 I (E 3,648
At 31 December 2022 WEEZ A =1+—H 43,349
CARRYING VALUE W THI B
At 31 December 2022 WRE T ZH=+—H 44,031
At 31 December 2021 W_EFE - +ZH=1+—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

The spectrum usage rights represented user and operating
rights over free-to-air UHF Spectrum TV Stations inclusive
of the spectrum usage right, broadcasting rights and operating
facilities in eight top US metropolitan cities, which are New
York, Los Angeles, Richmond, Dallas, Houston, Atlanta,
Miami and Tampa.

Section 310 of the US rules and regulations places certain
restrictions on foreign investment in and ownership of a US
broadcast licensee. The Group conducts their CMMB business
in the US principally through a finance lease agreement
with New York Broadband LLC (“NYBB”) and New York
Spectrum Holdings Company LLC (“NYSHC”) being the
lessor. The directors of the Company, after consulting legal
opinion, are of the view that such lease agreement is valid,
binding and enforceable, and does not result in any violation
of the US rules and regulations currently in effect in all

material respects.

On 21 December 2021, the Group entered into a replacement
agreement with NYSHC, pursuant to which NYSHC agreed
to procure a time brokerage agreement on WXOB Station at
Richmond as a replacement of the time brokerage agreement
on KQHO Station at Houston entered between the Group and
NYSHC due to the assignment of KQHO Station to a third
party. NYSHC also agreed to provide financial compensation
which is equivalent to the value difference between KQHO
Station and WXOB Station to the Group.

The fair value of KQHO Station and WXOB Station on
21 December 2021 was approximately US$3,209,000 and
US$3,122,000 respectively. Thus, the compensation is
approximately US$87,000. The KQHO Station and WXOB
Station were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, a
professional valuer not related to the Group, by way of value
in use calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows
derived from financial budgets approved by the management
of the Group.

AR B RSRER MY A

V)N

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

15 R E ()
(a) S 8 AR AR R SR IR\ KR &

T (RIAR A~ A2 0 B0
B3~ R S 0 R R B OK 2 e
Je W) B9 4o B UHFS G B &
(/B 455 R ok O~ B 0 HE L
BNt ) B il B A 7

5 BE KL R KL 565310 B HE SR I
JBE 4% 119 1 7 1 R R RN A R
Tt T R o A AR B A
% B B #1 A New York Broadband
LLC ([NYBB J) & New York
Spectrum Holdings Company LLC
(INYSHC ) #] 57 i) b & L & 15
i 1 % [ A8 8 HCMMB 3 F5 - A
N HE RS A R AR R
Jh % AH 5 1 R B A A BRo H
A AT W AE T R E A &
7 BT A R 5 [ R AR KRR

W oE_—F+_H_+—H>
7 45 [ BANY SHCHT o7 25 A% 17 %
P NYSHCH & % i 5+ 3
WX OB i 1 IR [#] 48 40 1o &k > A
HRALFHENYSHCEHKQHO
vl W T 55 = O 1 w1 5L A9 K M
1HKQHO Y, 1Y KF [A] 8 40 W ik o
NYSHCYR R & ) 2 45 [3] $2 fH AH &
RKQHO, & WXOBU 2 [ 18 (H
2= BV 8 P A o

KQHO & WXOB it =& — —
F+H =+ —H A FES R
#7 #53,209,00032 G % 3,122,0005%
JG o T DA o 2 A JE A5 4 £E £987,000
2 6 - KQHOM X WXOB i H it
R Al A PR A (B A 42 [ 4 B
B B 2 ik (R A ) 2 HR A 4R [ A 3R
T e 1 B B 5 T A4S Y i BB
& o LA A8 0 05 SO AT R
i o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

15

162

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Group recognised a loss on replacement of intangible
assets of approximately US$1,843,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021, representing the difference between the fair
value of WXOB station plus compensation obtained and the
carrying amount of KQHO station.

The spectrum usage rights are subject to renewal from time
to time. The directors of the Company are of the view that
NYBB/NYSHC is able to renew the license rights with
the authority indefinitely at minimal costs. Accordingly,
the useful life of the spectrum usage rights is regarded as
indefinite.

In the US, the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”)
regulates the licensing of wireless spectrums, including
our UHF TV spectrums. With the proliferation of wireless
devices, telecom operators experienced a surge in the
demand for wireless spectrum. Consequently, the FCC, with
mandate from the US Congress, has reallocated its spectrum
frequencies by repurposing a portion of the frequencies from
TV operators to telecom operators. After this reallocation,
previous TV spectrum licensees who choose to continue
their business operations have reapplied for a frequency
reassignment. Where there were more than one operator
applying for a frequency range, the applicants would choose
to collaborate and jointly file with the FCC or bid in an

auction for the rights of such frequency range.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Since 2018,
frequency reassignment for its UHF TV spectrums. As a
result, the Company throughout the year has 10 (2021: 10)
TV stations, of which 2 stations (Dallas and Richmond) have

the Company has commenced filing for

been under a co-sharing arrangement since 2018; additional
3 stations (Los Angeles, Miami and San Francisco) are under
a co-sharing arrangement during the second half of 2019. For
the remaining 5 stations, the Company has confirmed to have

a full spectrum license for each of these stations.

As a result of the repackaging of the Federal Communications
Commission, old LPTV channels were reshuffled and re-
allocated to new ones. The process would require old LPTV
channels to be shut down and relocated to new sites for re-
installation and bring on-air the new channels. In addition,
new channel stations are required to be upgraded from the
old analogue format to the new digital format, which would
require new equipment such as transmitter and antenna as
well as highly regulated engineering activities. Such a process
would have long lead time taking up to a year. Given the
disruptions of repacked station re-installation and COVID-19
on LPTV revenues, hence, the reduction in valuation lead
to make the necessary impairment of its TV broadcasting
capacity.

The management conducted an impairment assessment on
the spectrum usage rights on the reporting date. The Group’s
intangible assets were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited, a professional valuer not related to the Group. The
Directors determined that as at 31 December 2022, there is
an impairment loss of approximately US$3.6 million (2021:
US$5.1 million) recognised for the spectrum usage rights by
reference to the VIU calculation, which has been consistently
applied for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
respectively.

AR B RSRER MY A

V)N

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

15 HEEE ()

(a)

(%)

HoF-AEE ArFEF
9 HL 1 O R A R 2 M R
AT R o BRI AN R B AR
EHA TR (ZFZ—F:+%)
BHE HPWEERG CERH
ME LW B -F - NERECTHE
REZH B -F-NFETHEF
B R A=ZFEBHE EEHK B
BT 2% K 5 4 1) B OE 7 3k T 1 ak
T-ERHBTAXEREG AR
O X B A I RS -

m#%%L%§EQME%%M
P B BLPT VA 58 W ol 41
%%mm%%wﬂ%mom@&
16 B P ES (O LPTVAE 3 » 3 1%
T 5 40 B AE S 2 B v e AT R
ﬁﬁ%:mﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%o%%>
T E S B A E A B B B
s 2T A2 B 1Y BORS A A% S
T A% T B R A 19 4D B A A
KGR LA K B R G ) TR S
o im kMBS TERE 4
B S IRE ] o S R E OB L SE M R
6 B % EMLPTVILA Z 3
COVID-191 F# > K 1 5] 2l (6
T B > 48 T B E A 2 R R
2 AT T B S o
A5 LT 790 A R A RE A R H A
B A W (L o A 4K [H) 1Y S Y
B A £ (9 41 B 1) 25 3E Ak (L Rl 3% 8
FEAG A PR FIEAT (- 2 %
ME R FER R T A
+A=+—HIEFEESFE
JE R MR
REAR_FE_F+ A =1+—

H > B 38 JH 5t ﬁm%ﬁﬁ@%
H3.6EEmET (ZFE—4F:51
HEEID)
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15

164

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above spectrum
usage rights and their underlying assumptions are summarised

below:

The recoverable amount of the spectrum usage rights has
been determined based on a VIU calculation. The calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a three-year period
at a discount rate of 14.16% (2021: 10.47%). The discount
rate is determined based on the weighted average cost of
capital appropriate for the spectrum usage rights. The cost of
equity of 8.68% (2021: 8.16%) for the year is calculated by:
(i) the risk free rate of 3.88% (2021: 1.51%), which is the
10 year average yield of US Government Bond Benchmark
Yield Curve; (ii) the equity beta of 0.64 (2021: 0.92), which
is the adjusted beta by making reference to publicly listed
companies with comparable business nature and operation
sourced from Thomson Reuters; and (iii) the market risk
premium of 7.46% (2021: 7.25%), which is the difference
between market rate of return and risk free rate. This long-
term equity risk premium refers to the 10-year average market
rate of return for the United States, sourced from Thomson
Reuters. The cost of debt of 7.27% (2021: 3.25%) for the
year is estimated by referring to the US Prime Lending Rate
as sourced from Thomson Reuters. Through the analysis
of the industry comparables, the weight of debt and equity
is estimated as 47% (2021: 46%) and 53% (2021: 54%)
respectively. The corporate tax rate applied remain unchanged
at 24%. The specific risk premium this year is 3% (2021:
3%). The spectrum usage rights’ cash flow beyond the three-
year period (2021: three year period) are extrapolated using a
steady growth rate of 2.50% (2021: 2.50%) per annum. This
growth rate is based on projected inflation published by the

International Monetary Fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

One of the key assumptions for the VIU calculations is the
budgeted revenue, which assumes the current contracted
For
assessment purpose, no unutilised capacity will be filled in

capacity will continue for the next three-years.

the first three years; a terminal-year fill rate of approximately
70% (2021: no unutilised capacity will be filled in the
first three years; a terminal year fill rate of approximately
65%). Such estimation is based on the past performance and

management’s experience.

Further to the above inputs, management have also considered
these factors — (a) the FCC licences for the spectrum usage
rights can be renewed upon expiry at nominal cost; (b) the
contracting parties for the existing lease contracts are acting
in accordance with the agreements’ terms and conditions
and other understanding discussed between the parties;
(c) the level of key management, competent personnel and
technical staff retained to support the ongoing operations
have remained consistent over time; etc. Except for updated
business plans and budgets/forecasts based on current
available TV spectrum (e.g. due to re-installation effort and
COVID-19 situation) with details mentioned above, there was
no significant changes in the value of inputs or assumptions
from those previously adopted.

AR B RSRER MY A

V)N

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

A B RE 4R A BR A 4R BAE R AL
HE &R -

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 16 £ FRE & s B A 1% AL A
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (a)

166

financial position

Right-of-use assets 1 7 HE & R
Office premises N/ ES
Lease liabilities NN
Current T
Non-current IF Ui B

£ 5 U 5 IR D A vl o R AY  R

2022 2021
g St - SEE: o
US$°000 US$’000

T %5t T %70

513 34

269 26

282 7

551 33

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were
approximately US$801,000 (2021: nil).

During the year, the Group has rent concession from a
landlord and accounted for as a lease modification. The
Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
amounting to US$31,000 with a corresponding adjustment to
the relevant right-of-use assets. (2021: applying the practical
expedient with an adjustment to profit or loss of US$39,000).

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities approximate their
fair values and are mainly denominated in HKS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 16 i J HE & & K 65 £ K (42)
(Continued)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (b) HEHEBEPHEBNER
profit and loss
2022 2021
US$’000 US$’000
T %5t T3t
Depreciation charge of I RE & B 45 S i -
right-of-use assets
Office premises UNLY/E S 290 263
Interest expenses on lease L A £ B F B B
liabilities (note 7) (F$5E7) 38 8
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HA EL B A BH A B 32 - 45
Total cash outflow for lease liabilities TS B = A 0 3 40 o 4A%E 288 277
Rent concession FH 4 5 ¥k - (39)

(c)

Depreciation expense of have been charged in administrative
expenses.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
one to two years (2021: same). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period

for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to

which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

P B S22 A 4T BUBA 3P A0 BR

(c) 74 55 [ iy AL S B B AR O K
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168

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

&
i
>
2l
=
3

2022 2021
e Y 3 =g = —kE
US$’000 US$’000
T %5 T3t
Initial cost of unlisted investment in IE LT A F B E 2 0 IE AR
an associate 238,350 238,350
Share of results of an associate JRE A5 T A5 N ) BE 4R (178,048) (157,779)
Share of exchange difference of AR A 45 2 D ) R S 25
an associate 35 33
TOTAL st 60,337 80,604
Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 BB R FE —FE A

are as follows:

g-i‘#El A B W N R REE an
o

Country of
registration and Paid-up
principal place registered
Name of associate of operation capital
GRS AT B3
W8 o ) R B3 g 8k T 440 5 1 & A
Silkwave Holdings Limited Cayman Islands/ US$5,625
Hong Kong
Silkwave Holdings Limited ~ B2 # S &H 5625 EC
Silkwave Asia Limited Cayman Islands/ US$1,000
Hong Kong
Silkwave Asia Limited PHEME & 1,000 £5C

Attributable equity

interest held

by the Group Principal activity

NIRRT S
JE A B 43 LB EpiE ]
Direct Indirect
H# H] $
20% — Investment holding
20% - WEER
- 20% Investment holding
= 20% TREER

The Company holds 20% equity interest in Silkwave Holdings
Limited and a call option to acquire additional 31% equity interest
in Silkwave (“Call Option”). Through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Silkwave indirectly holds a geosynchronous L-band satellite
operating platform, including the AsiaStar satellite capacity, its
40MHz spectrum frequency use, orbital slots, the Silkwave-1
satellite under construction and a media service platform with
ample international programming (“Relevant Assets”), in order
to provide multimedia broadcasting and internet-based content
delivery services to vehicles and mobile devices in China and Asia
Pacific Region.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The summarised consolidated financial information in respect
of Silkwave is set out below, which represents amounts shown
in Silkwave’s consolidated financial statements prepared in

accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Silkwave is

17

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

Wi % o wl R 4R (A7)

i B Silkwave ) %5 A B 15 & R 22 K 51
W > HARFKSilkwave i 55 4 4L [ & 51
SR A B0 %5 6 BB IR BT s A o

Silkwave i F i #1278 45 & A S R A

accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial H o
statements.
2022 2021
B AR B4
US$’000 US$°000
T %t T £

Current assets i B A 5 10
Non-current assets IE i E) & 305,002 405,786
Current liabilities i B A fE (3,318) (2,778)
Net assets ¥ W (E 301,689 403,018

Silkwave Holdings Limited

Silkwave Holdings Limited

Revenue A

Loss for the year GRS
Other comprehensive income for the year — 4F [\ HAth 2 T e A

Total comprehensive loss 4 THI s 1B AR AE

2022 2021

SE St S
US$’°000 US$°000
F%£E Tt

27 373
(101,340) (221,398)

11 93
(101,329) (221,305)

The Company shared a loss of approximately US$20.3 million
(2021: approximately US$44.3 million) for its 20% interest in
Silkwave.

Al R H A5 Silkwave 209% 1 45 1M 43+
PEREIRA203H B E 0 (& = —4F:
#1443 H B ETT)
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170

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Silkwave Holdings Limited (Continued)

Silkwave has been developing satellite connected-car multimedia
business in China which will be supported by its AsiaStar satellite
assets such as frequency spectrum and orbital slot. Over the years
Silkwave has completed its network infrastructure, technology,
and ecosystem platform and has been conducting trial services
throughout China. It has been awaiting regulatory approvals from
various government agencies to launch its commercial services,
which in turn will allow the Company to start generating revenues.
Due to numerous government delays, and amidst the prolonged
COVID-19 impact, the expected regulatory approvals have not yet

arrived, and Silkwave cannot commence commercial services.

On the other hand, the slow capital market activities during the
COVID-19 period seriously delayed Silkwave’s fund-raising
effort for constructing and launching a new high-power satellite,
which is needed for commercial service rollout in a mass-market
scale. The lack of regulatory approval also hampered the fund-
raising process. Accordingly, the management has assessed and
revised its commercial operations and the expected cashflow and
revenue streams associated with the business due to the delay in the
regulatory and high-power satellite procurement, hence significant
reduction in the valuation of the Silkwave assets is resulted.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the management of
the associate has evaluated the impairment of the satellite related
assets by way of value in use calculation by reference to the
discounted cash flows derived from financial budgets approved by
the management. As VIU of the satellite related assets is lower than
its carrying amount, an impairment loss of US$87 million (2021:
US$199.8 million) was recognised on the satellite related assets in
profit or loss of the investee for the year ended 31 December 2022.
As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of non-current assets
amounting to US$305 million primarily consists of the satellite
related intangible assets.

The Company remains confident that the regulatory approvals will
eventually arrive, and the fund-raising effort will regain momentum,
especially when there are new vaccination efforts in coping with
the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Silkwave Holdings Limited (Continued)

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in
the associate.

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Silkwave
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

17

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

anv s ()
Silkwave Holdings Limited (%)

O JEE A A T A T A R AR

b SOME A AR T S R B AR S

Net assets of Silkwave Silkwavelt I & /&
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7 4L [H i Silkwavel )
interest in Silkwave P A REHE 2 L 151
Share of net assets of the Group in AL [H] i Silkwavel )

Silkwave A

2% P OAEE ER B9 Silkwave i #5 BR T (E /Y B
R :
2022 2021
St
US$’°000 US$’000
T %76 F%0
301,689 403,018
20% 20%
60,337 80,604

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

18

VA2 16 5 8wt A\ 39148 4% B9 < il
¥

Unlisted investment designated at
FVTPL (note a)
Call Option granted (note b)

HaE I ETHE (
27 R HEE (FT5EDb)

157 5 LA PE 2 8 5t A E
ufa

2022 2021
TR SE
US$°000 US$°000
TR F=ou
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(a) The Group entered into a joint venture agreement on 31
March 2015 to acquire 3% equity interest in Soaring Idea
Holdings Limited (“Soaring”™) at the consideration of
US$2,000,000. The acquisition was completed on 25 May
2015.

The directors of the Company recognised an impairment loss
of US$2,118,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 as
Soaring recorded significant deficits and negative cash flow.
There were no changes to the circumstances which led to the
impairment in the prior year.

(b) As disclosed in note 17, a call option to acquire an additional
31% equity interest in Silkwave was granted to the Company
in the Acquisition. The directors determined the fair value
of the Call Option was nil as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
respectively.

In 2020, the Directors recognised a full impairment loss of
US$1,050,000 for the Call Option after the assessing and
revising its commercial operations, the expected cashflow
and revenue streams associated with the business due to the
delay in the regulatory and high-power satellite procurement,
hence the unlikeliness that the Call Option will become
effective when Silkwave generates an Earnings Before
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”)
of US$200,000,000 based on the audited report in any given
year during the 7-years period of the Call Option. There were
no changes to the circumstances which led to the impairment
in the prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 B 5 B H: At W a5k JH
2022 2021
-~ - =g =k
US$’000 US$’000
TF*E TX7T
Trade receivables & 5 IS R IH 2,252 1,452
Less: Provision for impairment losses SR RIE TEicE L ] (57) -
Trade receivables, net & T TE L K TELVT AR 2,195 1,452
Other receivables and deposits Lt JE S T R A% 4 149 140
Total trade and other receivables & S T Ho A JE AT 3k VE A AE 2,344 1,592

The Group generally allows a credit period of between 15 to 60

days to its customers of trading business and CMMB business.

The trade receivables are due from a customer under trading
business (2021: one) and three customers under CMMB business
(2021: three).

The aging analysis of the gross trade receivables, presented based

on invoice dates, at the end of the reporting period, are as follows:

AL — AT HE 5 % RCMMB
EBMEFERIES 2150 £60H -

BOEGHARR —B2EFNE S E
PR IH (= F =~ — 4 — £ ) XCMMB
EBRABBK=2FF NE 5 EICK
H(ZE T4 =4)

T e 0 R B B ) A T R R AR R
%H%%ﬂ%%%ﬁﬁ@?~

0-30 days 0-30H
31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
91-120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days 120H A |
TOTAL At

2022 2021
—RTUE B4
US$’000 US$°000

T 3%t T %
397 376

551 413

337 445

207 218

760 -

2,252 1,452
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

20 BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20 SRiTHMGAHE
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from SRAT &5 8 4% T 35 4 R R A F0.001%E
0.001% to 0.3% (2021: 0.001% to 0.3%) per annum. 0.3% (=% ——4:0.001%%0.3%) &t
B o
The Group’s bank balances and cash are denominated in the A B T B0 SR AT &4 BR KB DL T B B W
following currencies: KR

2022 2021

—BT U — B4

US$°000 US$’ 000

T £t FE50

Hong Kong dollar ESTH 1,508 122

United States dollar E 0 160 905

Renminbi UNERL 50 15

TOTAL Bt 1,718 1,042
21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 B 5 B H i JE A 3k IH

2022 2021

SRR R4

US$°000 US$’ 000

T %0 FE5C

Trade payables B 5y EATT IR 592 852

Accruals MESH 2 A 2,625 4,680

Contract liabilities (Note 1) HBRIAME (MR = 456

Total trade and other payables B 5y Te FoAth JE A 31 I A B 3,217 5,988
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T e B S R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The average credit period granted by its suppliers is 60 days (2021:
60 days). The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on
invoice date was US$198,000 for 0 to 30 days (2021: US$198,000),
US$394.000 for 31 to 60 days (2021: US$277,000) and nil for 61
to 90 days (2021: US$377,000).

21

BE-F T A

B 5y B LAt B AF sk IR (A7)

H k4R

U6 7 2 e ) °F 89 BRI J360 L (%

T4 60H) o B 5 AT KIE

VAR 33

I H BT RIS AT 02 30H 19 2%
198,000 JG ( — & — — 4 : 198,000
JG) ~31FE60H 1 £5394,0003 o6 ( —F
—— 4 :277,0003 J0) K61FE90H 1 %

F(F - —5 377,000 7T)

2022 2021
- Y R T
US$’000 US$°000
T3%5u T £
Accruals included the following items: FEFE 2 A5 UL T EE

Auditor’s remuneration 1% S il P 42 198 215
Staff salaries = 44 248
Others* Hopt» 2,383 4,217
TOTAL i 2,625 4,680

& Others include accrued general administrative expenses. = A 6L B B R — AT BB 3 -

Note i:  All contract liability balances as at 31 December 2021 have been

recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2022.

ki RE-F - FF A=+ AL
RN CF A=t
FI 0 7 A 0 G 65 B £ 7 B

Ao

20224 FEH, PR BUR A R A F
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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FEoFE+ A=+ —HIEEE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY/AN
ASSOCIATE

22 MEWCBWE AW

23 vl IR

Due from Chi Capital J& Y Chi Capital X H

A T B R 1R R AR

Maximum gross amount outstanding

during the year

Due from Silkwave JRE I Silkwave sk JE

A TR e e oA 1 2 AR R

Maximum gross amount outstanding

during the year

2022 2021
TR SE
US$°000 US$°000
TR F=ou
4,513 3,863

4,641 3,863

1,338 979

1,376 979

As at 31 December 2022, the gross receivable amount due
from Chi Capital and Silkwave amounted to US$4,641,000
(2021: US$3.863,000) and US$1,376,000 (2021: US$979,000),
respectively and provision for impairment for receivable due
from Chi Capital and Silkwave amounted to US$128,000 (2021:
insignificant) and US$38,000 (2021: insignificant), respectively.

The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable
on demand. The Directors are of the view that these balances will
be settled within one year. Chi Capital is controlled by Mr. Wong, a
director of the Company.

Mr. Wong is a common director of the Company, Chi Capital and
Silkwave.
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Chi Capital & Silkwavezk T8 4 8 5 Bl 74
4,641,000 7 ( & — —4F : 3,863,000
*£76) &1,376,0003 6 ( & — —
4 :979,0003 7T) » MEURChi Capital
Iﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ/\ﬂmlzs 000
FEIL (ZFE 4 Wl A HE K) 38,000
EL (ZEZ—AF W AEKR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, the amounts are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and are repayable on demand. The Directors are of the view

that the amounts will be repaid within one year.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 29 May 2018, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$96,000,000 (‘2025
Convertible Notes”) to Chi Capital as part of the consideration for
the acquisition of 20% equity interest in Silkwave. The maturity
date of the 2025 Convertible Notes is 28 May 2025 (“2025 CN
Maturity Date™) which is 7 years from the date of issue of the 2025
Convertible Notes. The 2025 Convertible Notes are non-interest
bearing and mature on 2025 CN Maturity Date at the principal
amount. The 2025 Convertible Notes are convertible into shares
at any time after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5 business
days prior to the 2025 CN Maturity Date at the conversion price of
HK$0.4 each share, subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable
upon conversion is 1,862,400,000 shares.

23

24

AR B RSRER MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

JE Ak Jt 3 3k 2

R-F_—F+"A=+—H,> WA
SR AR R B ERE-EF
7 5 I WS IR TR — 4 PR 2 3K

T $6 Jie 5 R

HoE—/NFEHA T ILH > AR A [
Chi Capital¥$ 17 7 4 %6 596,000,000

(120250 # B B2 48 1) 2 55 oo st nf
i SE 05 AF 2 Ui B Silkwave  209% % HE
ZARABE 2 — o 20257] # [ SR 45 1 2 4
By F AR A+ H (120257]
PR SRR A 1) > B20257] # ik 4%
BEAT H AL 574 0 2025 0] 4 B 22 5E R
AR > FLAZ AR 4 8 2 2025 1] He B 22 48 3|
B H BB o 2025 0] 46 B 2545 0] R AT 1R
AT AT PR ] s oy e 03> L &2 (ES B 48)
2025 1] #1245 2 M 0 RS g 2E

15 P e 1 0,415 7 M 8 M 17 2
TR
W B8 A 09 7 24 7 2 I O

= 551,862,400,000 8% B 153
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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FEoFE+ A=+ —HIEEE

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Pursuant to terms and conditions of the 2025 Convertible Notes, the
conversion price and the number of conversion shares to be issued
upon the exercise of conversion rights attached to the outstanding
2025 Convertible Notes were adjusted to HK$8 and 84,390,000
shares respectively upon the completion of the share consolidation
on 12 November 2019.

The Company completed a rights issue on 11 March 2020.
Pursuant to terms and conditions of the 2025 Convertible Notes,
the conversion price of and the number of conversion shares to
be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
outstanding 2025 Convertible Notes are adjusted to HK$8.088 and
83,471,810 shares, respectively.

The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of the
2025 Convertible Notes being converted shall be calculated by
using the fixed exchange rate of HK$7.76 per US$1.00.

On 3 September 2021, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$65,000,000 (‘2028
Convertible Notes”) to redeem all of the 2025 Convertible Notes.
The maturity date of the 2028 Convertible Notes is 3 September
2028 (“2028 CN Maturity Date”) which is 7 years from the date of
issue of the 2028 Convertible Notes. The 2028 Convertible Notes
are non-interest bearing and will mature on 2028 CN maturity date
at the principal amount. The 2028 Convertible Notes are convertible
into shares at any time after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5
business days prior to the 2028 CN Maturity Date at the conversion
price of HK$0.35 each share, subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable
upon conversion is 1,444,857,142 shares, which represents 80.03%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and
outstanding as of the issue date of the 2028 Convertible Notes on a
fully diluted basis.
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5E AR > MR 420257 B 5 R 2 Kk
4> B 81 20257?§%HQT$§FLWZT§%
JB HE HE 47 (1 IRF 1 T 85 4T 2 R B B (i 2
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84,390,000B A3 =
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AL A o AR 4822025 ] i B TR 2 ek
e > B 81720257 H I 25 95 B [ 2
J HE HE A7 (1 IRF I T 85 4T 2 R B (i 2
a8 Ko # H 48 58 A% 4 Bl 558.088
JC 5% 83,471,810 A5

T DA 192025 AT # B 22 B 1 A 42 A
B 7 7T %5 (B JE 42 49:1.0035 7T 71.7.76 7 7T
1) [ 5 BE 2515
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2028 7] 2 A 2248 21 1) B 2 A7 095 1R 4 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The issue of the 2028 Convertible Notes was split between
a liability component and an equity component in its initial
recognition as follows: (i) Liability component was initially
measured at fair value amounted to approximately US$37,501,000
which represents the present value of the contractually determined
stream of future cash flows discounted at the market interest rate
applicable to comparable non-convertible bonds. It is subsequently
measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest rate
of 8.01% per annum; and (ii) Equity component, which was equal
to the difference between the principal and the fair value of the
liability component, amounted to US$27,499,000 was presented in
equity as convertible notes reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, principal of
US$4,884,319 of the 2028 Convertible Notes were converted into
shares of the Company.

The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of the
2028 Convertible Notes being converted shall be calculated by

using the fixed exchange rate of HK$7.78 per US$1.00.

The movements of the liability component of the 2025 Convertible

Notes and 2028 Convertible Notes for the year are set out below:
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ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

W] e SRR (A

2028 1 e B 22 48 11 B 17 7E H A 4G AR
o B B K RE R FB Ay IR s (1)
BB W A EE R &L
£537,501,0005 76 > B 4% & 47 /i 72 1 R
A& B 4 0 B (E e R AT L B OR
A B S 1 T 8 R R AT o HBE R
ﬁmﬁmmmm%@ﬂzfﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Rl s B (i) BE 2 FB 4y MR R B A
M$$&A¥ﬁ2ﬁ%%ﬁwﬁﬁﬁ
27,499,000 It » 1F £ ] #6 B 22 95 £t 1
A 5 IR

BE_FX - +H=+—HILF
B > 7K 424,884,319 JT 192028 1] #2 ik 22
P8 A0 5 AR N R I A

5 B HR 192028 T 1 I BT H5 AR 4 9 i e
25 7B 44 5 1.0035 JG 5077845 JG 1Y [ 58
[ifE % 554 o

AF 02025 7] i T4 T 2028 ] i i S A%
R 755 08 43 By 5 B G 51) G S

2025 2028
Convertible Convertible
Notes Notes Total
2025 2028
R EE TRk ER At
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000
T %K T*£E T*x
At 1 January 2021 MR_FE_—H—H—H 53,373 - 53,373
Redemption of convertible notes I [m] mJ e S 2 (57,534) = (57,534)
Issue of convertible notes FEAT O] R R SR = 37,501 37,501
Effective interest expenses at ¥ 11. 40%/8 01%7T & 1
11.40%/8.01% B R S BH 2 4,161 964 5,125
Conversion to shares R B 4y - (2,872) (2,872)
At 31 December 2021 and WoE A =1+—H
1 January 2022 F_FE - _H—H—H = 35,593 35,593
Effective interest expenses at 8.01% 128.01% w1 & /) B B2 A1 BH 2 - 2,363 2,363
Conversion to shares i 2 5 17y = (24,272) (24,272)
At 31 December 2022 W_F__H#+—-"HA=+—H - 13,684 13,684
20224 EH A IR EIRA R A A 179
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

25 SHARE CAPITAL

25 A

Authorised: B :
| January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZFZ—F—H—H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 “EFZ A=t
“EIZHE-A-HEK
“ECCEFZAES—H
Issued and fully paid: B # f:f R :
At 1 January 2021 ——#—-A—H
Issue of new shares by conversion of Uﬁﬁ T@Tﬁ% e Z 4577
convertible notes (Note i) BATH A (B aEL)
Issue of new shares by placing (Note i) Uﬁﬂﬁﬁi@éﬁ H A (B
Exercise of share options (Note iii) A7 (0 B PR (B i)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 "R+ AZt—HER
:E::@— H—H
Issue of new shares by conversion of DL ] 4 PR A O
convertible notes (Note iv) BT (B iEiv)
Issue of new shares by placing (Note v) DA 7 B AT R IR AR (W 5EY)
Exercise of share options (Note vi) 0 B IR HE (R 3Evi)
At 31 December 2022 w=Z=—#+-HA=+—H

Number of
ordinary shares

of HK$0.2 each Nominal value Shown as
150,298 70 19

& % H [ 2k
HKS$’000 HK$°000
T T

25,000,000,000 5,000,000
271,925,271 55,585 7,117
108,571,428 21,714 2,791
58,342,055 11,668 1,500
34,536,100 6,908 887
479,374,860 95,875 12,295
891,714,258 178,343 22914
87,728,000 17,546 2,254
83,044,200 16,609 2,134
308,373 39,597

1,541,861,318
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

On 30 November 2021, 108,571,428 conversion shares have been
issued pursuant to the 2028 Convertible Notes (note 24).

On 24 May 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate 58,342,055
new ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$0.35 per
subscription share for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$20,420,000 (equivalent to approximately US$2,625,000). The
subscription was completed on 1 June 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 34,536,100 share options
have been exercised and total of 34,536,100 ordinary shares were
issued, giving gross proceeds of approximately HK$10,521,000
(equivalent to approximately US$1,352,000) (note 26).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 891,714,258 conversion
shares have been issued pursuant to the 2028 Convertible Notes (note
24).

On 27 July 2022, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with subscribers for the subscriptions of an aggregate 87,728,000
new ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$0.4 per
subscription share for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$35,091,000 (equivalent to approximately US$4,508,000). The
subscription was completed on 8 August 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 83,044,200 share options
have been exercised and total of 83,044,200 ordinary shares were
issued, giving gross proceeds of approximately HK$33,072,000
(equivalent to approximately US$4,240,000) (note 26).

All the new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all
respects.

25

e /\ 7& =+ T 2
AR E B 1% R 3R MY AT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

A (#)

i) RZFZ_—F+—H=1H1H#
20281 # Jik B 4% > B #517108,571,428
T4 B Ay (i 5E24) -

Gy MOF_—4HFHH_TWMH> AN
GIRC 878 ONGIAS #ﬁﬂﬁ
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) which was duly passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 18 December 2015. Details of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 2 December 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. All directors, executives, suppliers
of goods or services, customers, persons or entities that provide
research, development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or consultants
of the Group and any other group or classes of participants who
have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement and growth of the
Group are eligible to participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years after the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on
18 December 2015 (the “General Scheme Limit”). The Company
may renew the General Scheme Limit with shareholders’ approval
provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the
shares in the Company in issue as at the date of the shareholders’

approval.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted
by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in

issue from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-months period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer for grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HKS$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the directors to each grantee, which period may commence on a
day after the date upon which the grant of options is made but shall
not end later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option,
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before
it can be exercised.

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations for the five trading days immediately preceding the date

of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The Company granted 32,437,739 share options during the year
ended 31 December 2021 to certain consultants for the purpose
of fundraising activities; development of CMMB Business and
seeking for new investment opportunities in CMMB Business. The
fair value of the options at the date of grant was HK$2,970,000
(equivalent to approximately US$382,000). The Options were
valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent valuer
not related to the Group. The fair value was determined based on

Binomial Pricing Model.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Company granted 120,140,000 share options (“Options”)
during the year ended 31 December 2022 to certain consultants,
directors and employees. The fair value of the options at the
date of grant was HK$15,901,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$1,979,000). The Options were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited, an independent valuer not related to the Group. The fair
value was determined based on Binomial Pricing Model.

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
value using the Binomial Pricing Model:

- Exercise price HK$0.4;

- Expected volatility 77.24%;

- Expected life is 3 years;

- Expected dividend yield of 0.00%; and
- Risk free rate of 2.665%.

The Binomial Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair

value of the Options. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in the
variables may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of
an option.

The Group has recognised share-based payments expense in profit
or loss of US$1,979,000 (2021: US$382,000) related to equity-
settled share-based payment transactions for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26 JEMERERTE ()
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the U AR N AR R R R B R
Share Option Scheme during 2022 were as follows: W A AT Y I AR RE RS T
Number of share options
Ji 0 H
Granted Exercised Lapsed
Exercise Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant price Exercise period at 112022 the year the year the year at 31.12.2022
J#
1 e
It .- t+ZH
~A-H =t
BTHH il b WA ERCKY  ERCHE FRCER O WRTHE
Directors 3 20 January 2021 0275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 1,395,000 - - (1,395,000) -
e St S i Bty “RO-E-JTtHE
“Z-NE-RHAR
Employees AT 20 January 2021 0.275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 320,000 - (320,000) - -
“EC-F-ACtH B¢ S S iy
“ZmE-HHAR
Employee AT 14 September 2021 0.300 14 September 2021 to
13 September 2024 384,200 - (384,200) - -
“E--FRATEA “EC-FAATIAE
“ZCNEAATZR
Directors #2 28 July 2022 04 28 July 2022 to
27 July 2025 - 9,100,000 (800,000) - 8,300,000
“F-CEERCHAR “ROCEEACHARE
“Z-REEAZHEN
Consultants B 28 July 2022 04 28 July 2022 to
27 July 2025 - 73,740,000  (46,240,000) - 27,500,000
"R EEACHAR “EOCEEACHARE
“RTHELAZHEH
Employees AT 28 July 2022 04 28 July 2022 to
27 July 2025 - 37,300,000 (35,300,000) - 2,000,000
ZEZCEEACTAA “ECCEEACHARE
B S 15 oY By |
Total it 2,099,200 120,140,000 (83,044,200  (1,395,000) 37,800,000
Exercisable at the end RERTFA7{E
of the year 37,300,000
Weighted average exercise M P17 fi &
price (HK$) () 0.280 0400 0.397 0275 0.400
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26 M HERHE (4F)
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the U AR N AR R R R B
Share Option Scheme during 2021 were as follows: i R AT Y B A RERE AR AR

Number of share options

Ji B HE 0 H
Granted  Exercised Lapsed
Exercise Outstanding during during during Outstanding
Date of grant price Exercise period at 1.1 2021 the year the year the year at 31.12.2021
I REZ =4
—“H—H EN EW BR FZAE+—R
By HY fefifE  ArpE i A A7 B g BTt BRM i AAT BE

Consultants [ 4 September 2020 0.370 4 September 2020 to

3 September 2023 5,448,000 - (5,448,000) - -
i S 3 “ECREAANAE
JUA M H “Z-EZEAAZR
Consultants M 20January 2021 0275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 - §337,000 (8,337,000) - -
ot S 2 SRC—F—AZ+RE
—A=+H #;#EE At LR
Directors #HE 20 January 2021 0.275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 - 1,665,000 - (270,000) 1,395,000
—FIF “FF-AZTHEZE
—AZ+H “Z-NE-R+AA
Employees BT 20 January 2021 0.275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 - 1,808,439 (508,000) (980,439) 320,000
SRt R FE-AZTHE
—HZtH —“Z-MmE-A+AA
Consultants B 28 June 2021 0.300 28 June 2021 to
27 June 2024 - 4320,000  (4,320,000) - -
i St 3 “ETEAAZTARZE
AAZ+AHR “EZNEAAZT LR
Employees BT 28 June 2021 0.300 28 June 2021 to
27 June 2024 - 6,490,000 (6,490,000 - -
“F_—-f ZEC-FAAZTARE
AAZ1AH ZZTNERAZ LA
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme during 2021 were as follows: (Continued)

26
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TR T AR AR R R R B R R
I R AT B S B RE R AN T ¢ ()

Number of share options

i e e B

Granted  Exercised Lapsed

Exercise Outstanding at during during During  Outstanding at
Date of grant price Exercise period 112021  theyear  theyear the year 31.12.2021
REZZ—4 I
—H—H En En R +ZAZFH
adik! I S WAMHE  BRib B BAR i A AT B
Consultants il 14 September 2021 0300 14 September 2021 to
13 September 2024 - 2,849,100 (2,849,100) - -
Y S “EC-HEAATHAZR
AA+TIH “ERCNERAT=H
Employees BT 14 September 2021 0.300 14 September 2021 to
13 September 2024 - 6,968,200 (6,584,000) - 384,200
Y S5 “EC-EAATHAZR
AA+TIH “ERCNERAT=H
Total ik 5,448,000 32,437,739 (34,536,100) (1,250,439) 2,099,200
Exercisable at theend ~ FAFEAR T
of the year fifif 2,099,200
Weighted average ik S
exercise price friife
(HKS) (#7c)

0.370 0.291 0.305 0275 0.280

At 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme was 37,800,000 (2021: 2,099,200), representing
2.45% (2021: 0.44%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date.

MREoEZ AT A= —H o IR
JBeHE Tt 3 2 4% B A7 SR AT A8 1 e A E
BT 9 B 1) B A B E £537,800,0001 (—
E T —4F12,099,2001) > 4k A A\ R
ZHBE BT RABE M2.45% (=&
T4 044%) °
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, neither the Group nor the
Company has any significant capital expenditure contracted for but

not provided in the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

(a)

(b)

Mandatory Provident Fund

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years. Both the Group and the employee
contribute a fixed percentage of the relevant payroll,
subject to a maximum mandatory contribution of HK$1,500
(approximately US$194) effective from 1 June 2014 to the
MPF Scheme.

Social security and benefits for PRC employees

In accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to establish defined
contribution plans managed by the relevant local government
bureau in the PRC and to make contributions to the plan for
its eligible employees. The contribution borne by the Group
is calculated according to the level regulated by the municipal

government.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of US$17,000 (2021:
US$16,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by

the Group in respect of the current year.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 29 BN LBk

Related party transactions AN LR S

In addition to the channel replacement disclosed in note 15 and o 45 % 7 BT 5 15 1) A o 4 K 43 Bl
those related party balances and convertible notes at the end of the A B 5E22 K 24 i Bt % 1 7 i A 0 OR %
reporting period which are set out in notes 22 and 24 respectively, S5 BRI W ON A BR T mT R IR R AR AN 4R
the Group had the following significant transaction with a related N ALEA N ERBBALRS :

party during the year:

2022 2021
e St o S
US$’°000 US$°000
TX5u T2
Chi Capital Rental paid
B & 24 24
Chi Capital Recharge of share-based
payment expense
BT AT IR LA B A7 A R R ) AN R B S 154 -
During the current year, the Group reimbursed NYBB of US$0.3 A AR R > A 4R B SENYBBAL 3 4 4
million (2021: US$0.3 million) in relation to the expenses paid by AT T b AR 2E ) B S B B NYBB
NYBB on behalf of the Group for certain site premises. 03A&EEIL (ZFZ—4:030 &£
JT) e
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Related party transactions (Continued)

On 31 March 2022, Chi Capital entered into an agreement with
the sole shareholder of International IT Hub Limited (“IITH”)
to acquire 51% of the shares of IITH for a cash consideration of
approximately US$128,000 and share options with a fixed monetary
value equivalent to US$514,000,
conditions. The grant of the share options to the sole shareholder is

subject to certain vesting

subject to certain service conditions and certain performance target
of IITH over the next two years. Upon vesting of the share options,
Chi Capital plans to transfer its equity interest in the Group to the
sole shareholder. The directors of the Company are of the view that
IITH did not constitute a business and the consideration payable is
to induce the shareholder of IITH to join the Group for the business
development.

On 27 May 2022, the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement with Chi Capital to purchase the 51% interest in IITH
for a consideration of HK$1. Since the Group has no obligation
to settle the share-based payment transactions in relation to the
services of the sole shareholder, the Group account for the awards
as equity-settled share-based payments. During the year ended 31
December 2022, share-based payment expenses of US$154,000
are recognised in administrative expenses in profit or loss with
a corresponding increase in share option reserve under equity.
Chi Capital has recharged the Group for the share based payment
arrangement of US$154,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Such recharge is recorded as deduction of share option reserve
under equity.

On 29 March 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with
Chi Capital, pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire and
Chi Capital agreed to sell a geostationary satellite system operating
over Asia for the consideration of HK$1. The acquisition was
completed during the year.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 29

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the Company
during the year were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits < T H At A7 A

Share-based payment expenses DA 17 oy JEE B8 1 A5 K B 52

Contributions to retirement benefits AR PR A R 5T 3 AL 3K
scheme

B Wi N - o (AT
EREHA B M
R AR A EZA I B &)
LU
2022 2021
ot St T4
US$’000 US$°000
T %5 TEE
130 96
147 19
2 2
279 117

The emoluments of key management personnel are determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

FTHEEMANBNMEhHME R &K
% I8 A A SR B K T 5 AR E
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LITIGATION

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had potential
litigation in US against the Company. On 18 October 2019, Mr.
Hamza Farooqui (“Mr. Farooqui”) filed a claim against Silkwave,
the Company, Chi Capital, Mr. Wong Chau Chi (a director of the
Company), Mr. Liu Hui (a director of the Company) and three
other related parties of Silkwave for breach of implied contract,
quantum meruit, promissory estoppel, unjust enrichment, breach
of contract, fraud and fraud in the inducement, constructive trust,
and defamation (the “Claim”). In the Claim, it is alleged that,
among other matters, the defendants in the Claim are liable to
Mr. Farooqui for certain work he performed for the benefit of the
defendants in connection with business transactions involving

satellite assets in Asia and Africa and certain compensations.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Superior Court of the
District of Columbia, the case remains at discovery process, both
plaintiff and defendants had produced and exchanged evidences
related to the case, oral examination and deposition will continue
to carry out in throughout 2022. The litigation has no material
movement for this reporting period.

The Company is seeking legal advice in relation to the Claim. It
is not practical to estimate the potential effect of this claim but
the Directors believe that the Claim is without merit and it is not
probable that a material liability will arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T e B S R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_ZF_ S+ _H=+—HILEE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 31

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flow were, or future cashflows will be classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows from financing

activities.

E

il 6 B A Ak G £ AR IR

T%%t$%@%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

vl I RROR TR KU I Kt o < g
@M?i%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%m;%ﬁ 14
RARBEREMALBG B SR E
KT oM ARMERTELENB &R

At 1 January 2021
Redemption of convertible notes
Issue of convertible notes

Effective interest expenses at 11.40%/8.01%

Conversion to shares

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

Effective interest expenses at 8.01%

Conversion to shares

At 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021

Interest charged to profit or loss
Payments

Rent concession

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

Addition

Interest charged to profit or loss
Payments

Lease modification

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2022

WoE—4F—H—H

I [ T e g 2

BEAT A e S
F5:11.40%,/8.01 %+ 55 (1 B 55 R 2 B Sz
il 5 A7y

WoEC—Ft+H=+—HX

—F -4 —H—H
$528.01% w1 & 1y B B A S B S
A 5 57y

R-F_—_#+-_A=+—H

AEFZ—F—A—H
18 4 18 = A1LE

(BEN

FH 4 T

ME 5, 22 3

e =V ES D
—F--H—A—H

R

1200 8 1 L

i3

HEAEHT

e 3¢ 5% 4

R mE A=+

Convertible notes

T 0 Jbe 5 R
US$°000
FRu

53,373
(57,534)

37,501

5,125
(2,872)

35,593
2,363
(24,272)

13,684

Lease liabilities
A £ 1%
US$’000

T%T

342
8
(277)
(39)
)

33

801

38
(288)
(3D
(2)

551
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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32 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 32 A2XA#MELARKFEN

COMPANY
(a) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 (a) MRo-F__FER R —AFEF
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: AZ+t—H - ALX A EEHEL
GIEOEE IR U
Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/
Place of incorporation/  Class of paid up capital and voting power
Name of subsidiary Establishment/operations share held held by the Company Principal activities
REM AL/ B/ AR CETRA/
B 2 7 3 B i 45 1 A AR IR A 5 TR
Directly Indirectly
H f% I} %
2021
“Z_
Global Flex Trading Center Limited ~ Samoa/Taiwan Ordinary 100% 100% - - Trading business
Global Flex Trading Center Limited 13 /£ Rl UEL
Galactic Venture Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Galactic Venture Holdings Limited BEELEE T R
Grand Regal Capital Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Grand Regal Capital Limited Pl R AR il &R
Newell Top Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary - - 100% 100%  Trading business
Newell Top Limited BBELIER Rl UEL
CMMB International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - - 65% 65%  Holding of a licensing right
CMMSB International Limited Eit gl Lt il
International IT Hub Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 51% 51% - - Provision of hardware and
software solutions
International IT Hub Limited ik il AR AL 1 B AR R %
CMMB Vision USA Inc. US Ordinary 51% 51% - - Provision of transmission and
broadcasting of TV programs
CMMB Vision USA Inc. *H L Pk B EALE A
Chi Vision US Ordinary 9% 79% - - Provision of transmission and
broadcasting of TV programs
Chi Vision *K L Pt frs R R A
Professional Broadcasting Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100% - - Provision of transmission and
Communications Limited broadcasting of TV programs
Professional Broadcasting ik T SRl AR R LA
Communications Limited
CMMB Satellite Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100% - - Provision of satellite services
CMMB Satellite Services Limited i il R4t B R
CMMB Vision (Beijing) Co., Ltd.! China Registered - - 100% 100%  Provision of transmission and
capital broadcasting of TV programs
iEEE (LR R A i AMEA RAEE LER BRI
ARAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: (Continued)
! CMMB Vision (Beijing) Co., Ltd. is registered as a wholly-

foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company that has material non-
controlling interests

32

4R B

W

B 755 ¥ 3R Y =

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

A% 2 ) B R 2\ R (AT

BB R -Eo =

A=t —H kA7 EEREL

A RN ¢ (4

! kR (dbnt) B8 s
el T /NCIDER TS N T RV e
BLAL B A1 A 2 o

(a)

T A IR > IR SZ 5 I A Wl B
AT AR AT 5

O A B K 9 M B A G O & B R
J& 2% vl ¥ A

F 29 7 K 4 vl B 7 A IR
HE it 19 2 B I G 4 vl I

(b)

Proportion of ownership

Place of incorporation/

Name of subsidiary Establishment/operations

by non-controlling interests

interests and voting rights held (Loss)/profit allocated to non- Accumulated non-controlling

controlling interests interests

e T B 45 i £ 7 1) S0 B k4 T i i
i 2+ ] 4% AL RAE /B it 7 HE B 4 5 i B 1 (E#) /& ST b T i g
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
et 7 et % F el %
US$°000 US$7000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
%5 TEx T%5u TEx T¥5u T£x
CMMB Vision USA uUs 49% 49% (1,653) (2,124) 7,442 9,095
CMMB Vision USA FH
Chi Vision Us 21% 21% 99 (410) 6,342 6,243
Chi Vision FH
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
e I 1 A A ) £
NEERRHEA R - = (350) (350)
1,554 2,534 13,434 14,988

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has a material non-controlling interest is
set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.

A R A 2 1 A B R O 1 B 4R
H B 2 ) B B 5 AR 5
R e DUR BB B R S AR
SPARENE S EER TN %
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-EZ - HFET A=+ —HIEEE

32 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 32 AXA#MEBEARKEN (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b)  BEA = OK JE 5 A A Ik & E B
material non-controlling interests (Continued) J& 2wl sk ()
CMMB Vision USA CMMB Vision USA

2022 2021
Y- SR AR —hE
US$’000 US$’000
T %70 T%0

Current assets it ) & 2,726 2,799
Non-current assets IE i E) & E 15,101 18,765
Current liabilities it B & A (964) (1,328)

Equity attributable to owners of AN F AT N A R
the Company 9,421 11,141

Non-controlling interests I ¥ R B 5 7,442 9,095

2022 2021
RO —F
US$’°000 US$°000
T%5u Tt
Revenue e A 850 1,188
Expenses i (4,223) (5,522)
Loss for the year GRUN] R (3,373) (4,334)
Loss and total comprehensive PN RN R
loss attributable to 4 TH e 48 48 A
owners of the Company (1,720) (2,210)
Loss and total comprehensive I P B B i IR A s 18
loss attributable to 42 THI i 18 A8 AR
non-controlling interests (1,653) (2,124)
Loss and total comprehensive A A fi 48 T 4 T s 48 KR AR
loss for the year (3,373) (4,334)
There were no cash transactions during the years ended 31 BE X __HFER_F - 4
December 2022 and 2021. T A=+ — Bk
L5 e
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32 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Chi Vision

32

ire MBS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

A% 2 ) B R 2\ R (AT

(b) A B OK k5 BB AR % O 4 B B
J& 2y W FE A (AT)

Chi Vision

2022 2021
Y- TR e ek o
US$’°000 US$’000
F3Xn T£7T
Current assets B 12,609 12,498
Non-current assets JE I B & 28,941 28,941
Current liabilities i B A 1R (17,686) (11,705)
Equity attributable to owners of the 452\ & #4542
Company 23,864 23,491
Non-controlling interests IE 12 IR AE 25 6,342 6,243
2022 2021
US$’°000 US$’000
T %t TE7T
Revenue A 1,584 1,200
Expenses i (1,112) (3,150)
Profit/(loss) for the year FENEAL (EH) 472 (1,950)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive A28 Al #E A A JEAGw A, (518)
profit/(loss) attributable to owners PETR A E -
of the Company 373 (1,540)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive  JF # e HE 25 EAG H5 F17 (598) K&
profit/(loss) attributable to ST i A, (1R AR
non-controlling interests 99 (410)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive 4 Al ¥ Fl (518 ) K 2 1 %5 ]
profit/(loss) for the year (fis 15) AR %H 472 (1,950)

There were no cash transactions during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

BE_F__HR_F_—F
TZH=+—H ILFE RS
2Ly e
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AR BRI A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a)

Statement of financial position

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Rights-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Investment in an associate
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Current assets

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayment

Amount due from a related company

Amount due from an associate

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Amount due to a related company
Other payables

Amounts due to shareholders
Lease liabilities

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

33 A W] BA B OR DL R K ik A
(a) MBRUIE
2022 2021
SRR T 4E
US$°000 US$°000
T £t F¥EC
I B &
LB & 15 28
i A 509 -
B g A F & 36,515 36,361
JPEE AT i 2 ) K T = 752
AT N T ) R £ 60,337 80,604
DAS {8 58 B 5T A 48 55
& Tl E _ _
97,376 117,745
i B A
At R WSO IE  #E A K TRAS R
127 94
JFRE Az R g 2 ) K T 1,785 -
JVRE AT Bk 5 ) K T 1,241 844
RATE B LBl 4 1,525 970
4,678 1,908
i B A i
JREAST [ /A W] 3K IR = 1,309
R Ath, B A5 3K E 896 834
JREAST S R 3K = 246
GiEN==R 265 -
1,161 2,389
mEEE(AR)FH 3,517 (481)
& JELH R B A6 100,893 117,264
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEZ- T+ _A=+—HILFEE

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 33 AAGMBRKERLGEE (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Statement of financial position (Continued) (a) MBRUIE (F)
2022 2021
R4 R4
US$’°000 US$’000
T35t Tt
Non-current liabilities I B A 1]
Amounts due to subsidiaries JREAT BfF J8 2 T B IH 7,776 11,400
Convertible notes CIE: Yl X 13,684 35,593
Lease liabilities THE & E 282 =
21,742 46,993
Net assets 7 79,151 70,271
Capital and reserves A B Ak
Share capital J& A 25 39,597 12,295
Reserves il i 33(b) 39,554 57,976
Total equity BE 25 A8 79,151 70,271
The statement of financial position was approved by the MBERNEER -F _=ZF=H
Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and is signed on its =rHEEEeME BT
behalf by: NSRS
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
#zH #zH
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BWE-Z - FET A= —HILEE

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 33 AAXAGBMBRIKERGEE (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserves of the Company (b) A2 w] il i

Share Merger Distributable Share Option Capital ~ Convertible Accumulated
Premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  notes reserve losses Total
R
RbEE  GUEE THRRE WRERE  RARE O TEEE  AHEH &t
US$°000 US$000 USS000 USS$000 US$000 US$000 USS000 USS$000
T TER TEI TEx T TER TEI TEx

At 1 January 2021 REZZ—%—A—H 43730 31,987 129,757 86 2,105 47,001 (161212) 93,454

Loss for the year and total comprehensive 4 U8 R0 2 [ 58 4%

loss for the year - - - - - - (37,527) (37,527)
Issue of shares by placement DIRETRETRD 1,125 = - - - = - 1,125
Exercise of share options TR R 893 - - (433) = - - 460
Cancellation of share options ik ]etigd - - - (10) - - 10 -
Recognition of equity component of e ol 40 (2 9 A

convertible debts - - - - - 27,499 (27499) -
Conversion of convertible notes HTRR S 2,148 - - - - (2,066) - ()
Redemption of convertible notes T S - - - - - (47,001) 47,001 -
Recognition of equity-settled share-based  F &% LA RE & 45 8 DA (1 3

payment expense R AT = = = 382 - - - 382

At 31 December 2021 and | January 2022 E’L F-EF A=A
“FZZE-A-H 47.89% 31,987 129,757 JA] 2,105 25433 (179,027) 51976

Loss for the year and total comprehensive /g {8 J o /g & i 5 2 4 4

loss for the year - - - - - - (26,111) (26,111)
Issue of shares by placement DA 5 S BT R 2054 o = = = = = 2,054
Exercise of share options Ly 3,488 - - (1382) - - - 2,106
Cancellation of share options R - - - (17 - - 17 -
Conversion of convertible notes TR 18315 = = = = (16,965) = 1350
Recognition of equity settled TR DA B 5 U e o A
share-based payment expense Mt RR L = = - 1979 - - - 1979
At 31 December 2022 e St o = | 71953 31,987 12957 605 2,105 8468 (205320) 39,554
34 COMPARATIVE FIGURE 34 BT
Certain comparative figures have been represented to conform to T R BT B R B LUAT & AR 4
current year’s presentation. BE 19 51 e 7 =
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